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Lehman Brothers 15 Z team, starting with
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Letter from the Chairman

Dear Shareholders and Clients,

~ In the ten years that Lehman Brothers has been a public company, our performance
in 2004 was by far our best. We recorded our highest levels of revenues, net income and
earnings per share. We also realized record revenues in each of our global business segments.
We gained meaningful market share in key investment banking and capital markets products—
clear confirmation that our client-focused business model is working. By delivering expert
advice, seamless execution and differentiated products and services and by putting our
. clients at the center of everything we do, we have truly enhanced the value of our Firm.
In 2004, we also continued to position the Firm for future growth by investing in both
our people and infrastructure. Today,
our Firm is a highly diversified
organization, with the breadth of capa-
bilities necessary to help our global
clients reach their objectives and to
achieve best-in-class cross-cycle results

for the Firm.

Our Results

The markets presented many

challenges in 2004, including height-
ened geopolitical risk, significantly higher oil prices, rising inter- RicHarD 5. FULD, JR.
est rates in the U.S. and UK., and uncertainty surrounding the cuatRMAN AND CHIEF
U.S. elections. Each of these factors periodically impaired EXECUTIVE OFFICER
business confidence and activity in the capital markets. Despite
these challenges, Lehman Brothers posted record results.

Our financial performance in 2004 included the following highlights:

* We reported record revenues of $11.6 billion, a 34% increase over the previous
year’s record results; '

* We delivered net income of $2.4 billion, an all-time record for the Firm, that
represented a 39% increase over the prior year’s results;

* We increased our pre-tax margin to 30.4%; our return on common equity for the
year was 17.9%; and our return on tangible equity rose to 24.7%; and

» We reported earnings per share of $7.90, also a record for the Firm and a 24%
increase over the prior year.

These results confirm that the Firm’s strategy is working: to grow and diversify by

business and region,; to pursue a client-focused business model; to maintain discipline in

how we manage our expenses, risk and capital; and to reinforce our One Firm culture.




Letter from the Chairman

A Banner Year in OQur Businesses

Strong results and growth in each of our business units
created exceptional value for our shareholders in 2004,

This year, our progress in Investment Banking result-
ed in record revenues of $2.2 billion. a 27% increase
over the prior year. We improved our overall Investment
Banking fee share for the fifth consecutive year, as we
expanded our client base and deepened our partnerships
with existing and new clients, strengthened leadership
across products and regions, increased senior banker pro-
ductivity, and led more large transactions. We realized
record revenues iin fixed income origination for the third
consecutive year, as we lead-managed $358 billion of debt
offerings. a 6% increase over the prior vear’s volumes.

In mergers and acquisitions, our volume of completed
transactions rose by 107% to $241 billion, more than three
times the market’s growth rate. Our market share for the
full calendar year also rose dramatically: we ended 2004
with Worldwide Completed M&A market share of 15.8%
versus 9.0% in the prior year; our share of Worldwide
Announced M&A also improved to 15.8% versus 11.0%
in 2003. We achieved similar success in equity underwrit-
ing. During the year, we lead-managed 126 transactions
and raised over $20 billion, as our volume increased 51%
over the prior year. Qur progress was most evident in ini-
tial public offerings, where our volume increased by more
than 500% over last year.

In Capital Markets, the Firm’s Fixed Income business
produced record revenues of $5.7 billion, a 31% increase
over the previous record achieved in 2003. Notably, this
improvement was broad-based, as we achieved double-
digit revenue increases in the majority of our Fixed
[ncome business lines. Reflecting our dominance in fixed
income, we were again recognized as the industry leader
this vear by Institutional Investor, ranking #1 in both
Fixed Income Trading and Sales, as well as #1 in the
All-America Fixed Income Research poll. This is the fifth
year in a row that we have earned the top Fixed Income
Research ranking, and the 11th time in the past 15 years
—clear evidence of the value our clients continue to
place on the intellectual capital we deliver. In 2004, we

continued to strengthen our presence in the mortgage

business by acquiring a number of mortgage originatjon
platforms, which has helped to fuel our growing seculriti-
zation business.
Despite weak volumes and reduced volatility in the
global equity markets during the year, we continued to

make significant progress in the Firm’s Equities busingss.
g p q

This business delivered revenues of nearly $2 billion, a
20% improvement over the prior year and our secon
best vear. Contributing to these gains were: increased trad-
ing share in NYSE-listed and pan-European securities;
significantly higher prime broker balances; our growing
presence in derivatives; and our greater ability to provide
clients with superior ideas, execution, analytics and eleic-
tronic connectivity. Increasingly, the industry is recogniz-
ing our progress, as we ranked #1 in Institutional Investpr's
surveys of U.S. equity sales and overall execution quality
and sales/trading service for N'YSE-listed shares. We also
solidified our gains in Equity Research, ranking first
in the Institutional Investor poll for the second year in

a row. We have now ranked #1 in both Fixed Income

and Equity Research for two years running, a feat never

accomplished by any other firm during the same year,
let alone for two. We also continued to adapt our Equities
business model in 2004 to better align with our clients!
During the year, we restructured our Equities business |
into two primary units: Execution Services, which
includes our cash, program trading and electronic con-;
nectivity business; and Leveraged Businesses, which \
includes options, exchange-traded funds, convertibles, !
relative value and prime brokerage. We took an additional
step toward establishing better client alignment by ‘
combining equity prime brokerage with fixed income |
financing and futures to form our Capital Markets Prinie
Services group. We also continued to invest in automated
trading technologies and electronic connectivity platforms
to provide the best execution for our clients. ‘
In 2004, our Investment Management segment,
which was formerly called Client Services, also recorded
significantly improved results: our revenues in this business
were $1.7 billion, an 87% increase over the prior year.
This increase was primarily the result of the full-year

inclusion of Neuberger Berman, where our retention




of prople and clients has helped us reach the revenue and
cost| synergy targets we set for the integration. The new
narfe “Investment Management” better captures the com-
prehensive scope of the products and services we now
offer our clients to meet their investment needs. By year
endt our assets under management increased by 14% to

a toral of $137 billion from $120 billion in 2003. Within

Pri\Late Investment Management, formerly Private Client

§

Ser%fices, we added a number of well-regarded teams;
incjeased our presence in Europe; and expanded our
poritfolio, wealth and capital advisory capabilities. We also
launched six new private equity funds in the following
assgt classes: merchant banking, real estate, fixed income-
related and fund-of-funds. Given our extensive capabilities,
we%remain very well positioned to expand this business.

I It is clear from these results that we have made
sigﬁiﬁcant progress in all of our businesses. Now, more
than ever, the Firm’s platform is better diversified and
positioned to generate consistently strong revenues

across market cycles.

|
Extending Our Global Reach

{ Our businesses in Europe and Asia are essential to
oulr growth and diversification objectives and were an
im"portant component of our financial performance in
20}04. For the vear, our international revenues were up
22% to a record $3.4 billion, accounting for 29% of the
Fii'rm’s revenues.
In Europe, we realized our second highest revenue
year, as our revenues grew 13% from the prior vear.
Our Fixed Income Capital Markets business made
significant gains, with strong growth in structured finance
and foreign exchange. We also continued to be a major

presence in the European securitization markets, and we

expanded our vertical integration with the addition of
miortgage origination platforms in the U.K. and the
Netherlands. In Equities Capital Markets, we continued to
njake great strides in our derivatives and prime brokerage
bhisinesses. In Investment Banking, we realized market
share gains in debt and equity underwriting.

] " In Asia, we achieved record revenues for the second

C%)nsecutive year, posting an increase of 43% over 2003.

|

i

Net Revenues (in Millions)

RS $ 11,576
03 $8,647
02 = $56,155
01 ¢ 086,736
00 ¢ 3 §$7.707
Net Income (in Millions)

Rl $ ) 369
0B = $ 1,699
02 T $975
01 1 > $1,255
00 $1,775

We delivered net income of

4o ¥ billion, an all-time record for
39%
the Firm, that represented a 0

increase over the prior year’s results.

Return on Equity

00 | ) 26.6%

Return on Tangible Equity

01

) 16.3%
00 ] 27.2%
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Letter from the Chairman

We continued to strengthen our results in Fixed Income
Capital Markets, particularly in securitization, high yield,
interest rate products and foreign exchange. Our client
volumes in Equities Capital Markets also continued to
grow, as we broadened the scope of this platform. In
Investment Banking, we gained market share in both debt
and equity underwriting. We continued to capitalize on
cross—divisional opportunities, as our clients looked to
restructure balance sheets and monetize holdings across
asset classes. We also continued to expand our presence
in high-growth markets. Over the course of the year,
we became: a primary dealer for Japanese government
bonds; the first non-domestic firm to be approved as

a comprehensive QTC derivatives dealer in Korea;

and a Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor in China.
We remain committed to exploring the exciting
opportunities in Europe and Asia as we position

the Firm for additional growth in the years ahead.

Our Consistent Strategy

First and foremost, we are client-focused. Qur growth
is fueled by serving a broader set of clients with a wider set
of products. Qur approach to serving our clients is simple:
partner with them and put them at the center of every-
thing we do.We do this by providing the very best intellec-
tual capital, by maximizing the resources available to our
clients and by working together as One Firm to help them
achieve their objectives.

Equally imporitant to the success of our strategy is our
ability to maintain focus on a number of core disciplines.
Risk management, expense discipline and capital manage-
ment are strengths of the Firm. From a risk management
perspective, we have maintained a conservative risk appetite
that has remained consistent throughout the year. We have
also continued our focus on expense discipline. For the
year, we lowered our compensation and benefits to rev-
enues ratio to 49.5%—our lowest ratio ever, despite includ-
ing provisions for the expensing of stock options. Although
non-compensation expenses increased on an absolute basis,
they increased at a rate below our revenue growth rate,
reflecting the scalability of the organization. We continued

to identify additional expense-saving opportunities, as we

re-engineered the Firm’s business processes and pushed

for higher levels of productivity. We have also increased
our capital efficiency: as we continued to grow our balapce
sheet, we have reduced our net leverage even while buyting
back a total of 29 million shares to offset the dilutive effccts
of our employee equity compensation plans. All of these

disciplines created value for our shareholders in 2004 and
1

have allowed us to achieve a wonderful track record in
our first decade as a public company.
Over the past 10 years:

» Our revenues have increased by nearly 300%;

e e e i

I
1

* Our net income has grown by 34% per year on dn
annualized basis;

¢ Qur pretax margin and ROE have increased more
than 300%; .

* Qur stock has returned 25% per year on an annual-
ized basis—more than twice the pace of the broader mar-
ket; and

* Our capital base has grown from $15 billion to
$71 billion.

Lehman Brothers has accomplished a lot over this
period of time, but we continue to identify new and
better ways to serve our clients and, ultimately, drive

value for our shareholders.

Sustaining Our Momentum

As we have grown to an organization of about
20,000 people, we have significantly enhanced the eérnir‘}gs
capability of the Firm.While we have made tremendous\
progress, we have continued to raise the bar on our stan—j
dard of performance. Through the strength of our One |
Firm culture, client service, teamwork and creativity havel"

i

become the hallmarks of our success. We have fostered a

culture of ownership: our employees hold a 30% stake

in the Firm and, as a result, think and act like owners. l
Our success and our growth depend on the strength of |
our people. Our goal has been to differentiate Lehman l
Brothers as an employer of choice by attracting, retaining,

and developing the best people in the industry from every

background. Our commitment to individual excellence '

and teamwork has created a culture that develops our |

employees’ strengths and values their differences. ‘




The strength of our One Firm culture is reinforced
by the consistency and collective experience of our senior
management team: our twelve Executive Committee
members have over 200 years of combined service with
the Firm. During the year, we named Joe Gregory
President and Chief Operating Officer; we appointed
Dave Goldfarb to the role of Chief Administrative Officer;
and’we named Chris O’Meara our Chief Financial Officer.
These changes are all intended to drive our performance

to the next level and reinforce our capacity to grow.

; Qur results in 2004 again demonstrate the tremen-
dous progress we have made. None of this would have
bee;{n possible without the trust and partnership of our
clichts; the commitment, dedication and integrity of our
people; and the longstanding support of our shareholders.
I thank all of you for helping to make this year our best
so far. As we set our course for the future, we remain
excited about the opportunities and challenges ahead
and optimistic about our prospects for growth.

Sincerely,
Richard S. Fuld, Jr.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
February 18, 2005

Ending Stock Price

At November 30
04 e T | $ 83 78
03 C 1 $7221
02 ¢ 1 $61.40
0l | 1 $66.15

00 C 1 $49.56

Lehman Stock Price (EmR) vs. S&P 500 (1)
Indexed to November 30, 2000
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As we have grown to an organization

of about. 2@00

we have significantly enhanced the

earnings capability of the Firm.

Annual Dividend Per Share

$0.80

04 ) $0.64
03 —— 1 $0.48

02 0 $0.36

01 1 1 $0.28

Book Value Per Share

; m §49.32
03 ¢ 1 §44.17
02 1 $34.15

0t 1 1 $31.81

00 | ) §$28.78




This was our

:I()m§mmr

as a public

company.

Lehiman Brothers was
Sfounded over 150 years
ago. In 2004, we celebrated
our 10th anniversary as
a public company. The past
10 years reflect the evolu-
tion of a client-focused
organization. We have
established an unparalleled
track record over the past

10 years.

1994

The Firm hecame
independent through

a public stock offering.
Lehman Brothers
Holdings Inc. comman
stock commenced
trading on the New
York and Pacific

stock exchanges.

’ % ThedFirm instituted 2 Res‘i'ncted

Stock Unit plan to increase its’

employee ownership from 4%.

1995

Lehman Brothers was named
““Global Bond Housg.ef the Year”
by Internatigp

its employeels}
ownership tg288

96

The*Firm put
new lea
in place in

Investment
Banking; an .
in Equities an

Fixed Income.
Capital Markets.
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of the Year” hy IFR Asia
or the 2nd year in a row.
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2000

p eated s IE0yeay enRivereams - Lehman Brothers reported

i its sixth consecutive year
t\ | of record financial resuits,
N including our highest
b % " levels of net revenues,
e 25 name - pre-tax income, net
e B11s e v TR ' income and EPS to date.
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Al
The Firm hought 745 Seventh Avenue to Fervetas its
new global headquarters in midtown Manhattan.

Tket capitalization
exceeded $16 billion.

-

_==- e Firm served as lead advisor
jvetti acquisition




mmn‘mmnm-
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Ournew Asian
headquarters at
Roppongi Hills
in Tokyo was
completed.

2003

Our employees

in the U.K. moved
to the Firm’s new
European head-
quarters at Canary
Wharf in London.

2003

The Firm acquired
Neuherger Berman,
creating a power-
ful private wealth
advisor and asset
management unit.

2003-2004

Lehman Brothers became the

first firm ever ranked #1 in

the same year in Institutionf!
Investors poll for both U.S. equity
and U.S. fixed income research.

=EMIMMMHE-

Dk Fuld w
iaftied ofe Of the

oD 25 Manao
piteyear- gy |

Hml[—nliM

"IIW_ .- —The Banker
mlé '

The Firm was named
a Qualified Foreign
Institutional tnvestor
in China, the‘flrst

V rticalintegration : =
of its mortgage dealer in JGBs in Japan.
business.




l ~~ .
Lehman Brothers Wigganked #1 i
fixed income sales and trading and
#1 in overall execution quality and

hest sales/trading service for New
York Stock Exchange-listed shares
in“Institutional Investor's survey.

Lehman Brothers was ranked
#2 in U.S. Completed M&A.

We continue to raise

the bar every year.

was another year of

exceptional progress.

11
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Delivering Intellectual Capital

Our earnings grew39 % in 2004,

Pioneering ideas and a broad customer franchise

made it possible.

Intellectual capital underpins everything we
do: it is the fundamental currency we deploy and
use within our Firm to differentiate our franchise
and establish our competitive advantage. It is one
of our most valuable assets and a primary ingre-
dient behind our strong financial results. It has
enabled us to grow our business, as an increasing
number of clients turn to Lehman Brothers for
ideas, advice, opportunities and solutions to give
them a competitive edge in their own businesses.

The importance of intellectual capital to the
Firm’s overall capabilities is reflected by our strong
commitment to research. Our top research rank-
ing is unparalleled in our industry—none of our
peers can attest to earning the highest honor in
Institutional Investor's Fixed Income and Equity
Reesearch surveys two years in a row. While it is

not easy to quantify intellectual assets, we view this

recognition by our institutional investing clients as
a meaningful measure of the value we provide to
them. And it demonstrates our outstanding ability
as a Firm to harness and deliver the collective
knowledge of our people on behalf of our clients.
Intellectual capital informs all of our client
activities and, as a Firm, we pride ourselves on
repeatedly delivering exceptional solutions to our
clients based upon the fruits of our intellectual
horsepower. It extends to the advice we provide
our clients, the structures we devise for them, and
the resources we deploy from across the Firm to
optimize their outcomes. It is a model that we
apply globally, particularly as the capital markets
continue to evolve around the world. The quality
and strength of our ideas constitute the true
value-added components we deliver to our

clients each and every day.




e Research be
ehman Brothers last year otal “All America”
Recearchteamposiions |

We were rated
number 1 in both Equity and

Fixed Income Research for the an year

in a row in the Institutional Investor

polliof U.S. investors.
Ay

oted . :
in U.S. Fixed Income
Research for the fifth
consecutive year
(and 11 of the last 15)




Delivering Intellectual Capital
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Investment Banking:

Global Finance Lehman
Brothers’ expertise in Global
Finance provided the optimal

financing solution by com-

bining the $750 million PIES™

offering and the $1.5 billion

secondary offering. This two-

part monetization strategy
was a “home run” for both
Diageo and General Mills.

Investment Banking:
Convertibles The pricing
of the convertible issue was
well executed, resulting ina
favorable coupon and conver-
sion premium. The book was
considerably oversubscribed,
and strong investor demand
contributed to outstanding
after-market performance.

-~

Group was at the center
of this transaction. In addi-
tion to bringing together
many parts of the Firmxfoy —__
opfimal-exevdtion, this group
devised a unique structural
solution that strengthened
General Mills’ capital
structure.




Investment Banking:
Consumer The Consumer
Group helped identify capi-
tal raising and tax issues at
General Mills and worked
with Diageo to develop mon-
etization strategies. The
Firm’s essential understand-
ing of our clients’ objectives
was critical to developing
~_ appropriate solutions in

7 this instance.

Investinent Banking:
Equity Capital Markets
The $1.5 billion secondary
offering was superhly exe-
cuted, pricing at less than a
1% discount to the close despite
the considerable offering size.
The offering increased the
public float by nearly 10%,
eliminating much of the over-
hang from Diageo’s ownership
of General Mills stock.

the Firm, we effected a

With seamless teamwork across various parts of

o 5 billion monetization

of General Mills shares by Diageo.

GENERAL MILLS AND DIAGEO

As a result of General Mills’ acquisition of The
Pillsbury Company from Diageo in October 2601,
Diageo acquired 79 million shares of General Mills
stock. In a highly innovative transaction, Lehman
Brothers acted as joint global coordinator on a

$2.3 billion monetization of General Mills stock
through two concurrent transactions. In one transac-
tion, Lehman Brothers was the sole bookrunner on a
$750 million offering of Lehman Brothers Mandatory
Exchangeable PIES™ into General Mills stock.
Lehman Brothers used its own balance sheet to
facilitate the exchangeable offering, and the proceeds
allowed General Mills to repurchase $750 muillion of its
shares from Diageo. In the other transaction, Lehman
acted as joint-lead manager on a $1.5 billion secondary
sale of General Mills common stock. In addition to
the successful monetization of Diageo’s position with

: virtually no price disruption to
General Mills stock, the transac-
tion achieved a number of spe-~
cific balance sheet and capital

structure objectives for General

“m:houghwe had Mills. This transaction exemplifies

discussed our objec-  how [ ehman Brothers brings
tives with many other

Wall Street firms, many parts of the Firm together
Lehman Brothers, a . .
very new relationship 45 One team to create innovative
to General Mills, was . . .
able to develop the solutions for our clients, and it
best overall structure,
simultaneously com-
bining creativity Review’s “U.S. Equity Issue
and simplicity.”’

received International Financing

of the Year” award.
David Van Benschoten
Vice President and
Treasurer,
General Mills
15
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In a period that was bearish for bonds, we completed a $ 79 billion

placement for the State of California, the largest tax-exempt offering ever.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Lehman Brothers acted as

book-running senior manag-
er for the State of California’s
$7.9 billion inauguralisale of

Delivering Intellectual Capital

Bonds, the largest single
offering of long-term, tax-
exempt bonds ever sold, with
proceeds used to finance a
portion of the deficit. The
bonds, secured by a new

statewide sales and use tax,

constituted the first issuance
of bonds of this type in
California. Lehman Brothers
played an instrumental role
in helping the rating agen-

cies, bond insurers and banks

Economic Recovery

understand the quality of this

i

|
I
i
;

i
|

|
|

!
|
new borrowing entity. The

Firm’s comprehensive inves-

tor outreach strategy and

Q.

“virtual roadshow” resulte

in an extremely successful
bond sale after only a
21/-day marketing period.

S
4

Nllunicipals

Lehman Brothers’ unwaver-
ing commitment to the State
enabled them to minimize
their borrowing costs, while
providing for sufficient bond
retirement flexibility as well
as the capacity to engage

in additional issuance. A
comprehensive marketing
campaign produced an

impressive investor response.

Public Finance

Lehman Brothers worked
closely with the State and its
financial advisors to struc-
ture the bonds and provide
the analysis to convince the
rating agencies, bond insur-
ers and liquidity providers

to view the bonds as a new
credit—separate and distinct
from the State’s other general
obligation bonds.

“Lehman Brothers |
helped us tc execute,|
the largest sale in |
the tax-exempt |
market only 64 days t
after we received
voter approval.”

Barbara A. Lloyd
Former Deputy
Treasurer,

State of California

=




Delivering Intellectual Capital

For over 1 5 years, we've been helping Moore Capital Management, 11L.C

~ achieve their global investment objectives.

MOORE CAPITAL

~

he client relationship between

ehman Brothers and Moore

=

Qapital Management, LLC has been

ah enduring one: it has extended
er 15 years; it spans markets in
the U.S., Europe and Asia; and 1t
eixists at all levels of the two firms
——across sales, trading, research
aind strategy, to the senior-most
axecutives. This extremely high
lgvel of commitment has forged a
partnership of trust. As a sophisti-
dated global investment manage-
mnent firm, Moore Capital relies
¢n Lehman Brothers for the full
grray of capital markets products,
gesearch and analytics, and elec-
gronic connectivity. As Moore
Capital expands in size and global
teach, Lehman Brothers intends to

pe with them every step of the way.

‘fWe value our long-standing relationship
with Lehman—a reliable counterparty
with a strong trading and operational _ 0 L, 3 .,
platform.” Lehman Brothers ranks Lehman Brothers’ significant

as one of the top providers presence in interest rate

I(mre.r) M.B of equity cash, derivatives products, fixed income
P and futures products to derivatives, foreign exchange

Chairman and CEO P

Moore Capital. and futures has also enabled
(lef) :
Tony Kearney the Firm to become a top
Head of Execution, London : provider of these products
(righs) to Moore Capital.
Ellen van der Gulik

Director of Research, London

|




Spurred by growing demand in Europe and Asia, we led global struc

STRUCTURED

FINANCE

Lehman Brothers innovates
and dominates in global
securitization—across fmar-
kets, currencies and asset
classes. Issuers look to Lehman
Brothers as the leader in
structural innovation, advisory
services and distribution.
Investors rely upon Lehman
Brothers’ award-winning
research team and its trading
desk for primary issuance and
secondary market-marking.
As a result of Lehman
Brothers’ capabilities in struc-
tured finance, the Firm has
gained a competitive advan-
tage in the market—oprevail-
ing as the dominant force in
U.S. securitization, making
significant market share gains
in Europe and Asia, and struc-
turing and lead-managing
some of the most ground-
breaking securitization deals
of the year. The Firm' struc-
tured finance business contin-
ually seeks innovation and
efficiencies in established asset
classes, as well as the advance-
ment of new asset classes and

new markets.

18

Delivering Inteliectual Capital

Banca per il Leasing
=Italease S.p.A./
Italease Finance
S.p.A. Lehman Brothers
acted as sole arranger and
lead manager in the €909 mil-
lon securitization of equip-
ment, real estate and auto lease
contracts originated by Banca
per il Leasing - Italease S.p.A.
Lehman Brothers’ role was
pivotal for the structuring and
the execution of the transac-
tion, which offered a high level
of protection to noteholders.

Northern Rock plc/
Granite 04-3 plc Lehman
Brothers joint-lead-managed
the £4.0 billion equivalent
securitization of U.K. prime
residential mortgages for
Northern Rock, denominated
in three different currencies.
This was the largest deal to
date by Northern Rock and
was distributed broadly to
investors following a success-
ful global roadshow.

HSH Nordbank=~
OCEAN STAR 2004 plc
Lehman Brothers acted as
joint-lead manager for a
$1.055 billion synthetic secu-
ritization of a portfolio of
OCEAN STER 2004 shipping
loans for HSH Nordbank. This
transaction was HSH Nord-
bank’s first securitization of
shipping loans and the first
securitization program of
shipping loans in the global
asset-backed market,

Banco Espirito Santo,
S$.A./Lusitano Mort-
gages No.3 plc Lehman
Brothers acted as a joint
arranger, joint-lead manager
and bookrunner for the

€1.2 billion securitization of
Portuguese first lien residen-
tial mortgage loans, originated
by Banco Espirito Santo, S.B.
This transaction structure
incorporated unique features
that were introduced to

the Portuguese residential
mortgage-backed market.

fure




finance transactions worth $j 63 bi]lion.

Chinatrust Lehman
Brothers acted as sole arranger
and co-lead managing under-
writer for NT$5.0 billion of
residential mortgage-backed
securities for Chinatrust.

This transaction represented
Taiwan’s first publicly offered
residential mortgage-backed
securitization. The Firm nego-
tiated rulings and regulatory
enhancements to permit this
pioneering structure in Taiwan.

Japanese Multi-
Borrower CMBS (L-JAC
Funding Limited)
Lehman Brothers acted as
arranger for a total of ¥58 bil-
lion in commercial mortgage-
backed securities. The trans-
action was Japan's largest ever
multi-borrower CMBS deal.
Lehman successfully sold two
issues, including shorter-term
notes, to appeal to a broader
array of investors.

Daito Trust Construc-
tion Co., Ltd. (DTC
Funding Limited)
Lehman Brothers acted as
arranger for the issuance of
this pioneering non-recourse
apartment loan program to
help Japan’s laxgest merchant
apartment builder, Daito
Trust Construction Co., Ltd.,
diversify its funding sources.
In 2004, Daito issued approxi-
mately ¥38.5 billion of
non-recourse loans for apart-
ment construction.

The Resolution and
Collection Corpora-
tion (RCC) )ointly with
The Resolution and Collection
Corporation, Lehman Brothers
securitized loans through

the issuance of senior trust
certificates worth ¥14.8 billion.
The portfolio was backed by
non-performing and sub-per-
forming loans, The issuance
was the fifth and largest of
The RCC's securitizations,
helping to enhance the liquid-
ity of the non-performing

loan market in Japan.
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Delivering Superior Solutions
Through Integration

We’ve built

“The whole is greater than the sum of the
parts.” At Lehman Brothers, we wholeheartedly
support this sentiment. Our three major business
segments — Investment Banking, Capital Markets,
and Investment Management —provide a wealth
of diversified/products and services that reflect the
breadth and depth of our capabilities as a Firm.

Each of our three pillars is well positioned |
to deliver superior results
to our clients. Working in

tandem, our integrated,

powerful business segments.

ing level of business activity and our corresponding
increase in revenues is our One Firm approach to
everything we do. In all cases, Lehman Brothers
places the client at the center and strives to be the
best at delivering the full platform of the Firm.
We consistently look to improve our level
of cross-divisional and cross-regional cooperation.
In 2004, we launched a number of initiatives
to institutionalize these
endeavors through a

series of recognition

4 g g ]
cross-divisional business = g = . - - and reward programs for
model offers our clients ﬁi% ::E those employees who

=
the most comprehensive “ i g ]7 best embody our One
level of service by deliver- } 5 %5 1 g <2 Firm principles.
ing the capabilities of the | ﬂ ‘? i E ;:;;F Ultimately, our
entire Firm and by provid- ‘ | ;l’ E f ii {i I commitment to enhance
ing a full range of busi- i ‘» }[ {: E' r | the Firm’ cross-divisional
ness solutions in a seamless ’ ’ i E | ’ U integration is critical
fashion. UJD obli 02 03 0¢ 00 %1 EJZ 0 04 00 01 02 03 04 to achieving our future
One of the driving Baaking ekt Management growth and diversifica-
(in Millions) (in Millions) (in Millions)

factors behind our increas-

tion objectives.

Net Revenues







0 .
We helped Cox Enterprises connect with the remaining 3 8 /0 publ

Delivering Superior Solutions Through Integration

stake of Cox Communications in the largest ever cash minority buy-in

Leveraged Finance
In addition to acting as

joint-lead arranger on
$10 billion of credit fac
for Cox to finance the b
Lehman Brothers act

joint bookrunner on

lion multi-tranche bon

offering that allowed 0%

repay a portion of the bri

loan facility.

“Lehman Brothers
brought us several
creative ideas, and
then made those
ideas work. We view
Lehman Brothers
as a trusted advisor,
which adds to our
confidence as we
make important
decisions involving
the future of Cox
Enterprises.”

Robert C. O’Leary
Executive Vice
President and CFO,

Cox Enterprises, Inc.

22
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COX COMMUNICATIONS

In 2004, Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor

to Cox Enterprises, Inc. in its $8.4 billion acquisition

of the outstanding publicly held minority shares of Cox
Communications, Inc., the third largest cable television
provider in the U.S. The transaction was the largest ever
cash minority buy-in and the largest cash cable M&A
deal ever. This transaction is a classic example of how
Lehman Brothers delivered the full resources of the
Firm to our client by combining M&A services and
one-stop financing. Lehman Brothers acted as joint-lead
arranger on $10 billion of credit facilities to fund the
buy-in transaction and served as joint bookrunner on

a $3 billion multi-tranche offering for Cox Communi-

cations to refinance part of these facilities.

Debt Capital’ %
The $10 billion of senior h
credit facilities issued
by Cox were well-received,
Bndlthe notes offering gener-
latedimpressive demand,

T Supernior execution
[drovelaggressive pricing.

estment Banking:
dia This series of trans:
actions has increased Cox’s
flexibility in running its bu:
ess and has allowed Cox
SEncrease its investment
e cable industry and
strengthen Cox as a whole.

Investment Banking:
Mergers & Acquisitions

Lehman Brothers acted as
financial advisor to Cox
Enterprises in connection
with the buy-in of the out-
standing publicly held shares
of Cox Communications. The
transaction was completed
by launching a dual cash
tender offer followed by a
merger—whereby Cox
Communications became

a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Cox Enterprises.
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APLIERICAN EXPRESS

L(*Thman Brothers has established a
camprehensive relationship with
merican Express that extends across
it investing and banking needs. In
CFpital Markets, the Firm ranks as a
provider of brokerage services to
American Express of listed, NASDAQ
‘d equity derivative securities. In
Fff,xed Income, Lehman Brothers is a
top counterparty of the company in
hlfzgh grade and high yield bonds and
mortgage securities. In Investment
Manking in 2004, among other assign-
12ents, the Firm acted as exclusive
advisor when the company sold its
equipment leasing subsidiary and
served as sole bookrunner on a
$1.4 billion credit card securitization
af previously retained

nbordinated

w

ihterests.

“American Express
is a large, complex,
global enterprise.
Lehman Brothers is
a strong pariner, one
that takes the time
and makes the extzra
effort to understand
us and our issues.
They consistently
provide us with inno-
vative ideas and
on-point solutions.”

Kenneth I. Chenault
Chairman and CEO,
American Express

“Lehman Brothers

offers us a global,
partnership-oriented
banking relationship
which suits our busi-
ness model, our cox-
porate culture, and
helps us achieve
higher returns for
our clients. I am
impressed with
Lehman’s continued
ability to be a leader
around product inno-
vation and delivery
of sophisticated
analytical tools.”

Robert Kyprianou
Head of Securities
Investment

Delivering Superior Solutions Thoowugh Integration

By servmg their capital markets and banking needs,

we are helpmg 2 financial giants to prosper around the globe.

AXA

AXA remains a consistenty strong
and committed client of Lehman
Brothers. AXA relies on the Firm for
the full array of capital markets prod-
ucts, as well as for its award-winning
research. AXA is a sophisticated

user of risk management tools, and
Lehman Brothers provides them with
a range of derivative solutions. In
structured finance, Lehman Brothers
has partnered with AXA to develop
bespoke and synthetic collateralized
debt obligation structures. Lehman
Brothers’ global reach, coupled with
its local expertise, is well-aligned with

this dynamic organization.

INVESTMENT
MANAGERS




CARLSBERG A/S

In 2004, Lehman Brothers
received its first assignment
from Carlsberg A/S, acting as
their sole financial adviser in
the acquisition of Orkla ASA’s
40% shareholding in Carlsberg
Breweries A/S for approximately
DKK14.8 billion (€2.6 billion,
including debt). This was the
largest transaction ever under-
taken by Carlsberg A/S and

the largest transaction in the
European brewing sector since
2000. Lehman Brothers also
assisted in the financing of the
transaction, by serving as joint
global coordinator for Carlsberg’s
$550 million rights offering—

the largest Scandinavian rights

offering since 2002.

“Carlsberg is dedicated to growing
shareholder value through its unigue
business strengths. Lehman Brothers
understands cur business well, and
both provides and delivers innova-
tive solutions to address the Group’s
needs.”

(right)

Nils S. Andersen

President and CEO,

(ief)

Jorn P. Jensen

Executive Vice President and CFO,

Carlsberg A/S
24

Investment Banking:
Comnsumer Reducing the
complexity of the Carlsberg
Group structure and provid-
ing its owners with full con-
trol over the operational cash
flows was well-received by
shareholders and positions
the Carlsberg Group to take
advantage of strategic oppor-
tunities in the future.

Delivering Superior Solutions Through Integration

Investment Banking:
Mergers & Acquisitions
This transaction was the
largest single investment
undertaken by Carlsberg.

As a result, the company

now has complete ownership
over its largest operational
asset—Carlsberg Breweries—
leaving it better positioned for
volume and earnings growth.

the remaining DKK 1 4 8 billion stake in Carlsberg Breweries.

(S f
Equity Capital Markets
Lehman Brothers served as
joint global coordinator and
joint bookrunner for Carls-
berg’s $550 million rights
offering as part of the acqui-
sition financing. This well-
received transaction was the
largest Scandinavian rights
offering since 2002.

|

Carlsberg A/S became the toast of the town after we helped them acqulre
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Delivering Superior Sciutions Through Integration

Our Investment Management clients benefit from full access to our

capital markets and investment banking expertise. That’s why we completed

1

5 5 nvestment banking transactions referred by these clients in 2004.

,

Pmte investment
Mlama;gement Advisory
services remain a core com-
po}nent of the total advice and
sojutions the Firm brings to
its| Private Investment
Management clients. These
sepvices include everything
from personal wealth plan-
nifg to portfolio advice

hership Solutions
Jp Started in May 2004,
ktnership Solutions
focuses on proactively
developing business opportu-
nities with minority- and
women-owned financial serv-
ices firms. The group serves as

and manager selection.

te Private Investment
TMh‘anagement business also
has a Capital Advisory group
that develops corporate
finance solutions for exe-
cutives, small-to-mid-
siged companies, private
equity firms and sports
frinchise owners. In 2004,
thie Firm successfully
completed 35 separate
Investment Banking trans-
ac¢tions for its high net
wiorth clients, including the
IPO for Ness Technologies.

a centralized touch point and
relationship manager for these
clients, helping to leverage the
Firm's capabilities across its
divisions. In 2004, the Firm
participated in three bond
offerings with a number of
these partners, including a
$750 million note offering for
General Electric Capital Corp.
with lead managers Williams
Capital and Blaylock Partners.

UNPARALLED FIRMWIDE ACCESS

As part of the comprehensive services that Lehman

Brothers provides to high net worth individuals and busi-

nesses within its Investment Management division, the

Brothers was extremely Firm eflectively brings together all of its Capital Markets “The success of non-traditional
pportive from our early stage . . . . Weall Strect firmns, such as
investment in Ness Technologies and Investment Banking resources in meeting their needs. Williams Capital, is depend-

ugh the initial public offering : Sy : : ent on our ability to gain
September of 2004, where they A high degree of firmwide integration and cooperation access to the types of oppor-
erved as joint-lead managez. provides our Investment Management clients with ready tunities that are identified
i i _ and prom?ted by the
(renier) access to the full array of fixed income and equity Partnership Solutions Group.
Morris Wolfson . ) By collaborating with this
Private Investor securities, structured finance solutions, research, and group, we have been able to
{efi) . . increase cur profits and take
kha{,on Fogel Investment Banking services. In 2004, Lehman Brothers part in rutually beneficial
g:m‘::l?;e?::’ completed a record number of Investment Banking x:spre?ef;::femg busi-
{right) transactions referred to the Firm by its Investment
Raviv Zoller i i ) Christopher J. Williams
President and CEO, Management clients, and an increasing number of Chairman and CEO,
Ness Technologies Inc. ‘ The Williams Capital Group

i Capital Markets and Investment Banking clients sought

i
\

out the Firm’s wealth management services.
25
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Delivering Results Through Client Focus

We’ve continued to gain significant market share:

particular gains stand out.

At Lehman Brothers, our clients are at the
center of everything we do. Our mission is to build
unrivaled partnerships with our clients by putting
them at the center of the relationship and delivering
all of the resouices of the Firm in a superior way.

As a preeminent investment bank, we have
built our business one client at a time, where the
excellence of our advice, our ideas, our execution,
our products and our service levels encourage
clients to transact more business with the Firm.

We measure our success with our clients
in a number of ways: we
look at the repeat business
we engage in for clients;
we look at the longevity
of the client relationship;
we Jook at the number of
new clients we add in a
given year; we look at our
growing market or fee

share with clients; we look

at the growth in the assets we manage; and we
look at our participation levels within the primary
and secondary markets, among other measures.
Our steadfast commitment to our clients
has resulted in a strong financial performance for
the Firm, as we have significantly increased our
market share and scale in many businesses. We aim
to be the dominant provider of Capital Markets,
Investment Banking and Investment Management
products and services to each of our clients.
Lehman Brothers today is a growing com-
pany within a growing
industry. Our objective is
to gain a bigger piece of this
growing pie, by increasing
our number of clients and
the amount of business we
transact with them, and by
tully participating in the
evolution and growth of

the global capital markets.

e el e
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We helped bring together 49 million wireless subscribers when
we advised Cingular, SBC Communications and BellSouth

on the $47 1 billion purc‘hase of AT&T Wireless.

CINGULAR

Cingular Wireless, which is
60% owned by SBC Commun-
ications and 40% by BellSouth
Corporation, acquired AT&T
Wireless for $47.1 billion, the
largest all cash transaction in
history. Lehman Brothers
advised both SBC and Bell-
South and acted as exclusive
financial advisor to Cingular.
This transaction illustrates
how Lehman Brothers focuses
on “delivering the Firm” to
clients, as the Firm advised

on the acquisition, provided
an important bridge loan

commitment and led a portion

of the permanent financing.

“Lehman Brothers has advised us on
our most transformational transac-
tions. We place great value on their
strategic and financial judgment.
From the Chairman’s office to the

trading floor, our long-term partner-
ship spans our organizations.”

{left)

Edward E.Whitacre Jr.
Chairman and CEO,

SBC Communications Inc.

(right)

James S. Kahan

Senior Executive Vice President
Corporate Development,

SBC Communications Inc.
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Delivering Results Through Client Focus

Debt Capital Markets
In addition to advising Cingular
and its parent companies,
Lehman Brothers provided a
bridge loan commitment to
BellSouth and was joint book-
runner on BellSouth’s $5 billion
of bond-related financings.

Investment Banking;
Communications
Global Communications is
an industry where Lehman
Brothers is a recognized
leader. Lehman advised \
on the creation of Cingular \
in 2000, when SBC and
BellSouth merged their ‘
wireless businesses. The '
Firm has been involved in
virtually all of Cingular’s
major M&A and financing
transactions since. Lehman
Brothers treasures its long-
standing relationships with
Cingular and its parents,
SBC and BellSouth.

Investment Banking:
Mergers & Acquisitions
Lehman Brothers advised

SBC and BellSouth and acted
as exclusive financial advisor
to Cingular in this revolution-
izing acquisition—which
proved to be one of the most
competitive auctions, in any
industry, in recent times.




Investment Banking:
Europe This transaction

required a tremendous cross-
border effort and the ability
to coordinate coverage and
product groups in different
’ regions, since the Firm's

! clients were located in four
i different countries.

Equity Capital
Markets The Belgacom
initial public offering was the
first significant telecom IPO
in several years and is credit-
ed with re-opening the equity
capital markets to telecom-
munications companies in
Europe. Lehman Brothers
was instrumental in helping
structure the offering so as

to strengthen its investment
appeal to global investors and
maximize returns to ADSB.

Investment Banking:
Mergers & Acquisitions
' Lehman Brothers acted as
financial advisor to selling
shareholder ADSB (a consor-
tium comprised of SBC Com-
munications, Singapore
Telecommunications and
TDC). The Firm advised
on two share repurchases,
totaling €1.3 billion, and
a €5 billion transfer of
Belgacom's pension
fund to the Belgian
State, which paved
the way for the IPO. /

Investment Banking:
Communications
Lehman Brothers worked
extensively over a multi-year
period with all members of
the ADSB consortium and
Belgacom in pursuing vari-
ous value-creating oppor-
tunities. Those experiences
provided the Firm with both
intimate knowledge of ADSB’s
goals and a platform from
which to recommend the
monetization path chosen.

BELGACOM

Lehman Brothers played an
integral role in structuring and
executing the initial public
offering of Belgacom, the
leading telecommunications
company in Belgium. This
€3.6 billion transaction was
the largest global IPO since
July 2002, the largest telecom
IPO in three years and the
largest ever Belgian IPO. In
addition to acting as joint
global coordinator and joint
bookrunner on this record-
setting equity offering, the
Firm advised on several neces-
sary and complex pre-IPO
transactions between the
selling shareholder ADSB,
Belgacom and the Belgian
State. This offering provided
for a full monetization of
ADSB’s ownership stake.

- And we completed the largest [PO of the year in a €3 o 6 billion

offering for Belgacoms selling shareholders.




Delivering Results Through Client Focus

We were on the same page as Madison Dearborn in their $3 . 7bi]]ioh
‘4

acquisition of the Boise Cascade Forest Products paper businesses.

Investment Banking: \

MADISON DEARBORN

Lehman Brothers acted as finan-
cial advisor to Madison: Dearborn
Partners in its $3.7 billion lever-
aged buyout of the Boise Cascade
forest products businesses from
OfficeMax. This transaction was
the largest Paper and Forest
Products sector M&A transaction
in the last two years, the second
largest leveraged buyout in 2004,
and the second largest Paper and
Forest Products sector leveraged

buyout ever. In addition, Lehman

arranger and joint bookrunner
on a fully committed ... -
$5.2 billion financing
package in con-

nection with

the buyout.

“Lehman Brothers has
been an extremely
valuable partner for
Madison Dearborn
over an extended
period of time. We
consistently rely on
their in-depth knowl-
edge and advice
across a wide range
of industry sectors.”

Samuel M. Mencoff
Co-President,
Madison Dearborn
Partners, LLC

30

Brothers served as joint-lead ¥

Investment Banking:
Financial Sponsors
The Financial Sponsor Group
provided strategic advisory
services to Madison Dearborn
in connection with its lever-
aged buyout of the Boise
Cascade forest products busi-
nesses. Since 2000, Lehman
Brothers has advised Madison
Dearborn on transactions in a
total of seven industry sectors.

Industrials Lehman
Brothers’ extensive experi-

ence in the Paper, Packaging ’

and Forest Products sector
helped Madison Dearborn

Partners in its acquisition of

the Boise Cascade forest
products businesses. This
transaction facilitated
OfficeMax’s transformation

into a pure-play office prod-

ucts distributor.

e e e s A

Debt Capital Market
In connection with the acqu
sition, Lehman Brothers ‘
acted as joint-lead arranger,

B

[}

and joint bookrunner for
$3.0 billion of senior secured
credit facilities and joint book-
runner on $650 million of high
yield notes. Lehman also
issued collateral notes to
support a $1.65 billion inst
ment note that was issued a
part of the transaction.




Delivering Results Through Client Focus

We customize investment solutions for individuals, families and institutions

within the 3 businesses in our Investment M

Private Investment
S'ii@magement Private
vestment Management
ffers comprehensive invest-
ment, wealth advisory and
capital markets execution
gervices for high net worth
dividuals and businesses,
everaging all the resources
f the Firm. It encompasses

(Fliem group, the Lehman

y‘a'ell as Portfolio ,Bc!ﬁso}’y,

Wealth Advisory and Capital
hdvisory services,

an

Vi
“he

¥

e Firm’s Investment Repre-

e 7
sentatives, the Institutional - — 3
. T —

Brothers ‘Jrust Compgny,‘/iéf/

o ',"
R ’

agement Division.

Asset Management
The Asset Management busi-
ness represents the Firm’s
proprietary asset manage-
ment products across tradi-
tional and alternative asset
classes, offered through a
variety of distribution chan-
nels. This business includes
Neuberger Berman, which
encompasses the Private
Asset Management business
as well as a family of mutual
funds and wrap accounts,
and Lehrian Brothers Asset
Manage:ﬁén_t, which special-
izes in investment strategies
for institutional and qualified
individual investors. -

Private Equity . Private
Equity provides investment
opportunities in privately
negot{ated transactions for
institutional and qualified
individual investors across
a variety of asset classes,
including Merchant Banking,
Venture Capital, Real Estate,
Fixed Income-related and
Fund of Funds Investments,
along with capital-raising
capabilities for private
equity sponsors.

|

|

i
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

Lehman Brothers pro-
vides individual, family
nd institutional clients

1)
S—1

with more than the right
advice, investments and
services; the Firm also
provides a commitment
to our clients’ long-term
success. The Firm’s com-

prehensive capabilities in

Investment Management
are incorporated into
three highly integrated
global businesses: Private
[nvestment Management,
Asset Management and
Private Equity. The Firm’s
commitment to its clients’
success is underscored by

the fact that the Firm and

its employees often invest
alongside clients, demon-
strating that our mutual
interests are aligned. This
steadfast commitment,
with proven results,
provides our clients with
the trust and confidence
they need to invest with
Lehman Brothers.

“I feel fortunate to
have established
such a long-standing
relationship with
a Private Asset
Management tearm
that demonstrates
brilliance, integrity,
dedication and fecus
in managing my .,
Joel 5. Ehrenkranz
Private Investor
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Preserving Our Primary Asset: Our Culture

There are 1 9) 5 8 0 good reasons
for our exceptional momentum during this past year:

our 1 9) 5 79 employees committed to

only 1 standard —Lehman.

,

At Lehman Brothers, success depends on
the quality of our people and the strength of our
culture. Our unique One Firm culture, with its
emphasis on client service, integration, cooper-
ation and credtivity, has reinforced the momentum
of our franchise by making the Firm the nimble
and entrepreneurial organization it is today.
Teamwork, initiative and innovation are not
merely encouraged but required in all aspects of
our work. Our focus is simple but compelling: to
creatively, passionately and effectively serve our
clients by partnering with them to deliver all
of the Firm’ resources.

Ultimately, our culture is built upon a solid
foundation off trust, commitment and common
values. It relies on the integrity of our people,
based on our core principles of honesty and
accountability. As our Firm grows, our success
continues to be driven by the exceptional caliber

of our emplovees who, as shareholders of neatly

one-third of the Firm, think and act like the
responsible owners they are. The collective resolve
and dedication of our 19,579 employees comprise
the single most valuable asset of our Firm.

We are mindful of preserving the unique
culture we have created. At Lehman Brothers,
we operate as a meritocracy. Fostering an inclusive
and diverse work environment is critical to our
success. We ensure that individuals succeed based
on their own talent, ambition and initiative, and
are not inhibited by any barriers in the workplace.

To meet our global clients’ needs and to
generate the best ideas, we strive to hire, develop
and retain the very best people from the widest
pools of talent. We assist them in realizing their
potential through a variety of mentoring and
leadership programs, as well as our philanthropic
efforts. These initiatives will position Lehman
Brothers for continued success in seizing the

opportunities ahead.







More than 12,000

of our employees have
participated in diversity
and leadership programs.

DIVERSITY AND LEADERSHIP

The strength of our cujture and our
people have propelled our franchise
forward and raised the bar on our per-
formance. By attracting, retaining and
developing the best people from a
broad talent pool, Lehman Brothers
has created an inclusive culture that
fosters employee development and
contributes to our commercial success.
Diversity is an integral part of our
vision: we not only value differing
ideas and perspectives, but reward the
innovation necessary to deliver the
very best solutions to our clients. Qur
Diversity Councils, diversity awareness
training and Employee Networks and
Forums, continue to strengthen our
dedication to workforce diversity.

We are also focused on building
the capabilities and culture of our Firm
by enhancing our core management
skills and by developing successful
leaders. Our investment in the profes-
sional development of our employees
exemplifies our commitment to con-
tinually strengthen our franchise.

These joint efforts are driven
through executive support and
accountability and are commercial
prerequisites as we continue to expand

our global capabilities.

Employee Networks
Lehman Brothers is an active
supporter of employee net-
works in the workplace. Our
networks are committed to
promoting our One Firm
culture, while creating an
inclusive environment for all
employees. They support the
Firm’s businesses by partner-
ing with recruiting, providing
mentorship opportunities,
exchanging ideas and infor-
mation and educating man-~
agers on issues of interest to
their members, Qur five
dynamic networks, comprised
of the Lehman Brothers Asian
Network (LBAN), the Lehman
Brothers Gay and Lesbian
Network (LBGLN), Lehman

Preserving Our Primary Asset: Our Culture

Employees of African Descent
(LEAD), The Latin American
Council (TLAC) and Women's
Initiatives Leading Lehman
(WILL and €WILL), create
career, educational, and social
opportunities and form an
integral part of the Firm’s
diversity initiatives by
enhancing professional
development and maximizing
the contributions of every
Lehman Brothers employee.
We are very proud of onr
employee networks, which
continue to expand and are
becoming increasingly active
and visible both within the
Firm and externally.

Leadership Training
Lehman Brothers has devel-
oped a series of programs to
build the capabilities and cul-
ture of the Firm by improving
managers’ relationship and
decision-making skills. Using
senior leaders as faculty part-
nered with consultants, our
programs encourage man-
agers to develop themselves
as effective leaders. Through
this worlk, our goal is to be
one of the best led firms in
the world.




iids London employees
raised money for SPARKS
through multiple fund drives.

‘middle)

Dallzxads School

Lehman Brothers continued

ts long-standing partnership
ith Oaklands School in the

ndon borough of Tower

amlets, providing tutoring

upport in foreign languages,

reading and science.

NFQ Palette Tokyo
employees provided two
eight-week intensive English
language courses to the
clients of NPO Palette, an
organization dedicated to
helping mentally and physi-
cally challenged individuals
live independently.

Preserving Our Primary Asset: Cur Culturxe

(bottorn)
Harzlem Children’s

Zomne Lehman Brothers

is the principal corporate
sponsor of the Harlem
Children’s Zone. HCZ is an
organization committed to
improving the lives of all chil-
dren within a 60-square block
section of New York’s Harlem
neighborhood through a com-
prehensive range of services
provided from birth to adult-
hood. Lehman Brothers
employees volunteer their
time and talents to HCZ in
numerous ways. Investment
professionals have designed
and staffed an “Investment

Camp” to introduce students
to investing. The Firm’s
Information Technology and
Security staffs have played
pivotal advisory roles in the
construction of HCZ's new
headquarters and charter
school building, including
recruiting technolegy com-
panies to join with us in
providing in-kind donations.
Employees have participated
in numerous extracurricular
activities designed to enrich
children’s lives. Lehman
Brothers is committed to sup-
porting HCZ in its planned

expansion to 90 square blocks.

We partner with

community organizations

In our 3 major regions.

PHILANTHROPY

We seek to promote healthy and
vibrant communities and build a plat-
form for the future through investment
in children and youth. We leverage all
the Firm’s resources, including foun-
dation and corporate grants, in-kind
donations, employee gift matching,
volunteerism and nonprofit board serv-
ice. Qur global philanthropy focuses
on three common themes: Advancing
Quality Healthcare, Promoting Cultural
Vibrancy, and Building Children’s Futures.
Some recent highlights of our

support include:

* Groundbreaking for The Lehman
Brothers Emergency Center at NYU
Downtown Hospital

» Completion of a state-of-the-art

headquarters building by Alvin Ailey

American Dance Theater, including

The Lehman Brothers Studio

Sponsorship of DonorsChoose,

which operates a Web-based philan-
thropic marketplace, where donors
fund teachers’ requests for needed

classroom resources

Major grants and employee gift
matching to organizations responding
to disasters and human crises around
the globe, including the earthquakes
in Japan in October and the Decem-
ber tsunami in southern Asia; we are
also the largest corporate supporter
of Doctors Without Borders USA’s

Current Emergencies initiative.
N 35
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Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”) and subsidiaries (collec-

e I3 »

ively, the “Company,”“Lehman Brothers,”“we,”“us” or “our”) is one of
he leading global investment banks, serving institutional, corporate,
povernment and high-net-worth individual clients and customers. Our
vorldwide headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in
London and Tokyo are complemented by offices in additional locations
in North America, Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and the Asia
Pacific region. Through our subsidiaries, we are a global market-maker

in all major equity and fixed income products. To facilitate our market-

making activities, we are a member of all principal securities and com-
imodities exchanges in the US., and we hold memberships or associate
jmemberships on several principal international securities and com-
'modities exchanges including the London, Tokyo, Hong Kong,
Frankfurt, Milan, Australian and Paris stock exchanges.

Our principal businesses are investment banking, capital markets
‘and investment management which, by their nature, are subject to
volatility primarily due to changes in interest and foreign exchange
rates, valuation of financial instruments and real estate, global economic
and political trends and industry competition. Through our investment
banking, trading, research, structuring and distribution capabilities in
equity and fixed income products we continue to build on our cus-
tomer flow business model, which focuses on customer flow activities.
The customer flow model is based on our principal focus of facilitating
client transactions in all major global capital markets products and serv-
ices. We generate customer flow revenues from institutional, corporate,
government and high-net-worth customers by (i) advising on and
structuring transactions specifically suited to meet client needs; (ii) serv-
ing as a market-maker and/or intermediary in the global marketplace,
including having securities and other financial instrument products
| available to allow clients to rebalance their portfolios and diversify risks
across different market cycles; (i) providing investment management
and advisory services; and (iv) acting as an underwriter to clients. As part
of our customer flow activities, we maintain inventory positions of vary-
ing amounts across a broad range of financial instruments that are
marked to market daily and, along with proprietary trading positions,

give rise to.Principal transactions and net interest revenue. The financial

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

services industry is significantly influenced by worldwide economic
conditions as well as other factors inherent in the global financial mar-
kets. As a result, revenues and earnings may vary from quarter to quar-
ter and from year to year.

All references to the years 2004, 2003 and 2002 in this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MD&A”) refer to our fiscal years ended
November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, or the last day of such fiscal years,

as the context requires, unless specifically stated otherwise.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this MD&A, including those
relating to our strategy and other statements that are predictive in
nature, that depend on or refer to future events or conditions or that

D6

include words such as “expects,

RIS

anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,”

1 4¢

“believes,” “estimates” and similar expressions, are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securides
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements are not historical
facts but instead represent only management’s expectations, estimates
and projections regarding future events. Similarly, these statenients are
not guarantees of future performance and involve uncertainties that are
difficult to predict, which may include, but are not limited to, the fac-
tors discussed under “Certain Factors Affecting Results of Operations”
below. As a global investment bank, our results of operations have var-
ied significantly in response to global economic and market trends and
geopolitical events. The nature of our business makes predicting the
future trends of revenues or financial condition difficult. Caution
should be used when extrapolating historical results or conditions to
future periods.

Our actual results and financial condition may differ, perhaps
materially, from the anticipated results and financial condition in any
such forward-looking statements and, accordingly, readers are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on such statements. We undertake no obli-
gation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of

new information, future events or otherwise.
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CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our financial condition and results of operations may be affected by
uncertain or unfavorable economic, market, legal and other conditions.
These conditions include but are not limited to:
Market Risk
Changes in interest and foreign exchange rates, financial instruments and
real estate valuations and increases in volatility can increase credit and
market risks and may also affect customer-flow-related revenues and pro-
prietary trading revenues as well as affect the volume of debt and equity
underwritings and merger and acquisition transactions. We use deriva-
tives and other financial contracts to hedge many of these market risks.
Competitive Environment
All aspects of our business are highly competitive. OQur competitive ability
depends on many factors, including our reputation, the quality of our serv-
ices and advice, intellectual capital, product innovation, execution ability,
pricing, and sales efforts and the wlent of our personnel. See Part I, Item
1—Business—Competition in our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K
(the “Form 10-K”) for more information about competitive matters.
Investor Sentiment
Accounting and corporate governance scandals in recent years have
had a significant effect on investor confidence. In addition, concerns
about geopolitical developments and oil prices, among other things,
can affect the global financial markets. See Executive Overview—
Business Environment and —Economic Outlook in this MD&A for
additional information.
Liquidity
Liquidity and liquidity management are of critical importance in our
industry. Liquidity could be affected by the inability to access the long-
term or short-term debt, repurchase or securities-lending markets or to
draw under credit facilities, whether due to factors specific to us or to
general market conditions. In addition, the amount and timing of uncer-
tain events, such as unfunded commimments and contingencies, could
adversely affect cash requirements and liquidity. To mitigate these risks, our
liquidity and funding policies have been conservatively designed to main-
tain sufficient liquid financial resources to continually fund our balance
sheet and to meet all expected cash outflows, for one year in a stressed lig-
uidity environment. See Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—
Liquidity Risk Management in this MD&A for more information.
Credit Ratings
Our access to the unsecured funding markets is dependent on our
credit ratings. A reduction in our credit ratings could adversely affect
our access to liquidity alternatives and our competitive position, and
could increase the cost of funding or trigger additional collateral
requirements. See Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—Credit

Ratings in this MD&A for more information.
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Credit Exposure |
Credit exposure represents the possibility a counterparty will ble
unable to honor its contractual obligations. Although we activel
manage credit exposure daily as part of our risk management frame“-
work, counterparty default risk may arise from unforeseen events qr
circumstances. ;
Operational Risk ]
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or faileé‘ii
internal or outsourced processes, people, infrastructure and technolog{z",
or from external events. We minimize these risks through our strong
internal control environment. ';
Legal and Regulatory ‘
The securities and financial services industries are subject to extensivql
regulation under both federal and state laws in the U.S. and under thé
laws of the many other jurisdictions in which we do business. We alsoé
are regulated by a number of self-regulatory organizations such as thé
National Association of Securities Dealers, the Municipal Securitics?
Rulemaking Board and the National Futures Association, and by
national securities and commodities exchanges, including the New!
York Stock Exchange. Violation of applicable regulations could result
in legal and/or administrative proceedings, which may impose cen-
sures, fines, cease-and-desist orders or suspension of a firm, its officers
or employees. The scrutiny of the financial services industry has
increased, which has led to increased regulatory investigations and liti-
gation against financial services firms.

Legislation and rules adopted both in the U.S. and around the

world have imposed substantial new or more stringent regulations,

|
internal practices, procedures and controls and disclosure requirements |

in such areas as financial reporting, corporate governance, auditor |

independence, equity compensation plans, restrictions on the interac- ‘
tion between equity research analysts and investment banking person- l[
nel and money laundering. The trend and scope of increased
compliance requirements may require us to invest in additional
resources to ensure compliance.

We are involved in a number of judicial, regulatory and arbitration
proceedings concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct
of our business, including actions brought against us and others with
respect to transactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial
advisor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in secu-
rities and actions brought on behalf of various classes of claimants
against many securities firms and lending institutions, including us. See
Part I, Item 1-—Business—Regulation and Part I, [tem 3—Legal
Proceedings in the Form 10-K for more information about legal and

regulatory matters.
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

f Summary of Results
I\?et income totaled $2.4 billion, $1.7 billion and $975 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, up 39% and 74% from the corresponding
2003 and 2002 periods. The 2004 results represent the highest net rev-
enues, net income and earnings per share ever reported, with improved
revenues in each of our three business segments and in each geographic
region. Diluted earnings per share were §7.90, $6.35 and $3.47 in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, up 24% and 83% from the corresponding
2003 and 2002 periods.

I During 2004, we continued to strengthen our franchise. In
I;Flvestment Banking we gained significant market share in key activi-
ties such as mergers and acquisitions {“M&A”} and equity origination,
hile maintaining our considerable share in fixed income origination.
n Capital Markets we continued to broaden our client base, offer best-
m-class research services to our clients and invest in technology to
E?ring superior execution to our clients. We also expanded our Capital
Markets mortgage origination platform through several business acqui-
sitions. In Investment Management we continued to grow our various
platforms by broadening our product offerings, enhancing performance
and service levels and increasing our scale. In addition, we have suc-
;cessfu]ly integrated our 2003 acquisitions of Neuberger, The
Crosstoads Group (“Crossroads”) and Lincoln Capital Management
{“Lincoln”). As a firm, we continue to invest in our infrastructure and
ifacilities while maintaining our strict discipline around expenses, risk,

‘and capital and liquidity management.

Business Environment

'As a global investment bank, our results of operations have varied sig-
! nificantly in response to global economic and market trends and geopo-
‘litical events. A favorable business environment is characterized by many
factors, including a stable geopolitical climate, transparent financial mar-
 kets, low inflation, low interest rates, low unemployment, strong business
, profitability, and high business and investor confidence. These factors
_influence levels of debt and equity security issuance and merger and
‘ acquisition activity, which affect our Investment Banking business; trad-
ing volumes and valuations in secondary financial markets, which affect
! our Capital Markets businesses; and workforce wealth creation, which
, affects both our Capital Markets and Investment Management businesses.
The global business environment in 2004 was mixed but generally

favorable compared with recent years due to a combination of factors

including positive economic growth, improved corporate profitability,

stronger equity markets and low interest rates. The European and
Japanese economies cooled as the year progressed, while activity in the
U.S. remained vibrant. The market environment in the second half of
2004 became challenging, extending beyond the seasonal summer slow-
down to incorporate a series of headline and event-risk items that ele-
vated the level of market uncertainty and held equity trading volumes

and volatility down. The Federal Reserve (“Fed”) raised interest rates 25

basis points in each of June, August, September and November (and
again in December), matching the markets’ expectations of a “measured”
approach to monetary policy. The Bank of England also raised rates dur-
ing the year, while the European Central Bank held rates unchanged.
While these developments were consistent with expectations, a host of
uncertainties weighed on the market for much of the year. Continued
turmoil in the Middle East elevated geopolitical risk, and the possibility
of terrorism hung over the Athens Olympic games and the political con-
ventions and elections in the U.S. Increased oil demand and constrained
supply elevated the price of oil to all-time highs, fueled in part by sup-
ply disruptions in the Middle East, events in Russia, the Venezuelan ref-
erendum and speculative activity. Election year politics in the U.S. further
raised market uncertainty, particularly with respect to future U.S. foreign,
tax and fiscal policy. However, the quick resolution of the U.S. presiden-
tial election, coupled with stronger payroll data and declining oil prices
touched off rallies in both the equity and fixed income markets.

The S&P 500, Dow Jones Industrial and NASDAQ indices rose
11%, 7% and 7%, respectively, in the year ended November 30, 2004,
with much of this growth occurring in the first and fourth quarters. The
European recovery, evident in 2003, continued modestly through 2004.
In the European equity markets, the FTSE 100 and the DAX composite
rose 8% and 10%, respectively, from November 30, 2003.The economies
in Asia (excluding Japan) performed strongly in 2004, underpinned by
the synchronized global economic recovery and accommodative domes-
tic macroeconomic policies. Japan’s economy continues to recover,
although deflation remains a persistent threat, which could result in yen
depreciation. Against this backdrop, the Nikkei and Hang Seng indices
rose 8% and 14%, respectively, compared with November 30, 2003.

Equity markets The U.S. equity markets in 2004 reflected lower
volumes and volatility compared with 2003. Monthly average trading
volumes on the NASDAQ declined 21% while volumes on the New
York Stock Exchange rose 3% compared with 2003. In Europe volumes
were broadly comparable to 2003, while in Asia volumes increased sig-
nificantly. Equity offerings improved significantly compared with 2003,
reflecting improved market dynamics and higher valuations. The overall
volume of initial public offerings (“IPOs”) nearly tripled compared with
2003 as the global economy continued to grow and companies required
more capital for expansion. The improvement in IPO and secondary
activity helped to offset a significant decline in convertible offerings.

Fixed income markets Despite the Fed’s shift in February from
maintaining a low interest rate environment for a “considerable period”
to a “measured” approach of raising rates beginning in June, interest rates
remained low in both absolute and relative terms, and the fixed income
markets overall remained strong. Certain credit asset classes experienced
lower volatility and trading volumes during the year. Total global debt
origination rose 6% in fiscal 2004 compared with 2003 as growth in

investment grade and high vield origination totaling 10% and 12%,
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respectively, was partially offset by declines in mortgage-backed and
agency origination of 13% and 10%, respectively.

Mergers and acquisitions The improvement in equity valuations
during 2004 coupled with strengthening cash flows enabled companies
to consider strategic acquisitions. Completed and announced M&A vol-
umes improved significantly compared with 2003, reflecting strong lig-
uvidity, continued interest from financial sponsors and the cautious
return of the strategic buyer. During 2004, global M&A announcements
rose 27% compared with 2003 and completed M&A transactions rose
34% compared with 2003.

Economic Outlook

The financial services industry is significantly influenced by worldwide
economic conditions in both banking and capital markets. In calendar
2005, we expect the U.S. and Asian (excluding Japan) economies to
grow at 3.5% and 6.7% rates, respectively, while we expect more mod-
erate growth rates of 1.5% and 0.6% in Europe and Japan, respectively.
We believe the Fed will raise rates an additional 125 basis points, to
3.50% by mid-year—enough to slow growth and quell inflation pres-
sures without creating the risk of a hard landing. Inflation remains a top
concern of the Fed, even though price and wage pressures remain fairly
muted. Measured Fed tightening amid solid gross domestic product
growth and low inflation should help to create 2 benign interest rate
environment in calendar 2005, as the capital markets have largely fac-
tored in expected rate increases. We also anticipate the European
Central Bank and Bank of Japan will remain on hold. Corporate prof-
itability remains resilient, even though expectations have moderated
compared with 2004. Although we remain somewhat wary about
geopolitical risk, the growing deficits in the U.S., and China’ efforts to
rein in growth, we see resiliency in the global economy as a whole.

Equity markets The equity markets became more constructive in
late 2004 after many of the uncertainties of the 2004 third and early
fourth quarters played themselves out. After a round of postponements
and cancellations during the summer of 2004, offering pipelines stabi-
lized, and companies continue to seek to fund growth. We expect the
equity offering calendar to remain robust into 2005. Furthermore, rea-
sonably strong corporate profitability and a benign inflation outlook
would increase confidence in the marketplace.

Fixed income markets We see continued signs of resiliency in the
fixed income markets attributable to the expected measured pace of
interest rate increases, stable credit spreads, the amount of debt matur-
ing in 2005, and the expected increase in M&A-related financings.
Fixed income activity is driven in part by absolute interest rates but also
is highly correlated with the degree of volatility, the shape of the yield
curve and the general improvement in credit quality which, in the
aggregate, is contributing to a relatively healthy business environment.
The investor base has changed dramatically from the long-only
investors of a few years ago to a rapidly-growing hedge fund, and an
expanding international investor base. Investors now employ far more

developed risk mitigation tools to manage their portfolios. Unlike in
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1994, the Fed has been far more transparent in communicating fts
intentions, and the market successfully absorbed five rate hikes in cal-
endar 2004 and rallied in the process. In addition, the size and diversity
of the global fixed income marketplace is significandy larger arjj;d
broader than ever before and we expect approximately $8.6 trillion of
global fixed income origination in calendar 2005, a slight decrease frot}'n
$8.8 trillion in calendar 2004. :

Mergers and acquisitions Companies remain interested 1n
growth, and many have reduced their cost structures as far as possible.
During 2004, we saw increased activity from strategic buyers, and we
expect the M&A fee pool in 2005 to grow compared with 2004, At thE
same time, as companies seek to streamline operations or reduce debf},
many are divesting non-core businesses, which is helping to drive
M&A opportunities. !

Asset management and high net worth Our outlook for asset
management and services to high-net-worth individuals is also positive;
given favorable demographics and the trends toward pension reform‘f,
higher savings rates globally and intergenerational wealth transfer. Th%
high-net-worth client increasingly seeks multiple providers and ‘greatet
asset diversification along with a high service component. We believe
the significant expansion of our asset management business, and the
generally strong investment-return performance of our asset managers

in 2004 positions us well for growth in 2005. ‘

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS |
OF OPERATIONS® |

Overview ‘
Net revenues were $11.6 billion, $8.6 billion and $6.2 billion in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively, up 34% and 40% from the corresponding:
2003 and 2002 periods. Net income totaled $2.4 billion, $1.7 billion and“
$975 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, up 39% and 74% from ;
the corresponding 2003 and 2002 periods. Diluted earnings per share }>
were §7.90,$6.35 and $3.47 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, up 24%
and 83% from the corresponding 2003 and 2002 periods. The 2004
results represent the highest revenue, net income and earnings per share
we have ever reported. The results reflect the enhanced scale we have -
built—in part by acquisitions—and the diversification we have achieved, .

coupled with continuing strict discipline in our core competencies

around managing expenses, risk and capital. The results also reflect the

benefits of the increased scale of our asset management business and the

growth of our mortgage origination platform through several business |
acquisitions. See Consolidated Results of Operations—Business
Acquisitions and Dispositions in this MD&A for more information.
Compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of net rev-
enues was 49.5%, 49.9% and 51.0% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respec-

tively. Non-personnel expenses as a percentage of net revenues were

" Market share, voelume and ranking statistics in this MD&A were obtained from Thomson Financial.
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2&‘).1%, 20.7% and 26.3% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
donsequently, pre-tax margin was 30.4%, 29.3% and 22.7% in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Return on average common stockholders’ equity was 17.9%,
118.2% and 11.2% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. R eturn on aver-
age tangible common stockholders’ equity®” was 24.7%, 19.2% and
11.5% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Return on average com-

IN MILLIONS

W Reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Net revenues totaled $11.6 billion, $8.6 billion and $6.2 billion in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Net revenues in 2004 and 2003 each rep-
resented records. Net revenues grew 34% in 2004 compared with 2003,
reflecting increases in each of our three business segments and in each
geographic region. Investment Banking business segment revenues rose
27% in 2004 compared with 2003 propelled by improvements in
Merger and Acquisition Advisory and Equity Underwriting. Capital
Markets business segment net revenues rose 28% in 2004 compared
with 2003, reflecting record Fixed Income revenues and stronger
Equities revenues, leading to record results for the segment. Investment

Management business segment net revenues rose 87% in 2004 com-

NET REVENUES

mon stockholders’ equity and return on average tangible common
stockholders’ equity are computed by dividing net income applicable to
common stock for the period by average common stockholders’ equity
and average tangible common stockholders’ equity, respectively.
Management believes average tangible common stockholders’ equity is
a meaningful measure because it reflects the common stockholders’

equity deployed in our businesses.

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 200472003 200372002
Principal transactions $ 5,699 § 42721 $ 1,951 33% 119%
Investment banking 2,188 - 1,722m 1,731® '27 €8]
Commissions 1,537 1,210 1,286 Y (6)
Interest and dividends 11,032 9,042 11,728 1 15)
Asset management and other T 794 141w 85u - 463 66
Total revenues .._2_1:—2';0— N 17,287 16,781 . » 23 3
Interest expense : 9_,674 8,640 7 10,626 o 12 (19)
Net revenues u$71>1,5-';; - $ 8,647 $ 6,155 34% 40%

pared with 2003, primarily due to increased Asset Management rev-
enues associated with business acquisitions, complemented by improved
results in the Private Investment Management (formertly Private Client)
component of this business segment. Net revenues grew 40% in 2003
compared with 2002, primarily attributable to improved Capital
Markets results, which rose 66% compared with 2002, driven by then-
record Fixed Income net revenues. Investment Management net rev-
enues rose 13% in 2003 compared with 2002, while Investment
Banking net revenues were essentially unchanged in 2003 compared
with 2002. See Business Segments in this MD&A for a detailed discus-

sion of net revenues by business segment.

@ Average tangible common stockholders' equity equals average common stockholders’ equity less average identifiable intangible assets and goodwill and is computed as follows:

In miffions
Year ended November ‘30

Average common stockho\ders"eqiuiityh o
Average identifiable intangible assets and goodwill

Average tangible common stockholders' equity

e 2004 2003 2002
$12,843 $ 9,061 58073
(3,547) (471 (191)

$ 9,206 $ 8,590 $ 7,882
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Principal Transactions, Commissions
and Net Interest Revenues

In both the Capital Markets and Investment Management business seg-
ments we evaluate revenue performance based on the aggregate of
Principal transactions, Commissions and Interest and dividends revenue
net of Interest expense (“INet interest revenue”), which includes realized
and unrealized gains and losses, commissions associated with transactions
and the interest and dividend revenue or expense associated with
financing or hedging positions. Caution should be used when analyzing
these revenue categories individually because they may not be indica-
tive of the overall performance of the Capital Markets and Investment
Management business segments. Principal transactions, Commissions
and Net interest revenues rose 27% in 2004 compared with 2003 and
56% in 2003 compared with 2002, totaling $8.6 billion, $6.8 billion and
$4.3 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Principal transactions revenue improved 33% in 2004 compared
with 2003, Record fixed income revenues in 2004, with notable
improvements in mortgage and interest rate products, contributed to the
increase together with stronger equity net revenues, particularly in equity
derivatives and prime broker activities. Principal transactions revenue
rose 119% in 2003 compared with 2002, primarily reflecting then cur-
rent record revenues from fixed income products. Revenues from equity
products also improved in 2003 compared with 2002 as a result of rising
global equity indices and improved performance in private equity.

Comumission revenue increased 27% in 2004 compared with 2003,
reflecting commission revenue attributable to the acquisition of
Neuberger complemented by growth in our trading volumes, despite
lower market volumes generally, attributable to both our institutional
and high-net-worth clients. Commission revenue declined 6% in 2003
compared with 2002, primarily reflecting lower trading volumes.

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense are a function
of the level and mix of total assets and liabilides (primarily financial
instruments owned and secured financing activities), the prevailing level
of interest rates, and the term structure of our financings. Net interest

revenue in 2004 rose 4% compared with 2003 principally due to an
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increase in interest earning assets. Interest and dividends revenue and
Interest expense rose 11% and 12%, respectively, in 2004 compared with
2003 attributable to higher levels of interest- and diVidend—eami%g
assets and interest-bearing liabilities coupled with a modest upward shift
in interest rates. Net interest revenue rose 18% in 2003 compared wit

2002, primarily due to an increase in interest earning assets, including
higher levels of secured financing activities, and a steeper yield curve ih
2003 that reduced interest expense on secured short-term funding.

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense declined 15% andl

19%, respectively, in 2003 compared with 2002, primarily due to subt

stantial declines in interest rates.
Investment Banking
Investment banking revenues totaled $2.2 billion in 2004 and $1.7 bl
lion in both 2003 and 2002. Investment banking revenues result primar-
ily from fees and related revenues earned for underwriting public and
private offerings of fixed income and equity securities, advising clienty
on M&A activities and corporate financing activities. Investment bank-
ing revenues increased 27% in 2004 compared with 2003, reflecting
substantial improvements in M&A advisory and equity underwriting
and continued strength in debt underwriting. Investment banking rev-
enues in 2003 were essentially unchanged compared with 2002, as lower
equity underwriting and M&A revenues were mostly offset by
improved fixed income underwriting revenues. See Business
Segments—Investment Banking in this MD&A for a discussion of our

Investment Banking business segment.
Asset Management and Other
Asset management and other revenues primarily result from asset man-
agement fees. Asset management and other revenues totaled $794 mil-
lion, $141 million and $85 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The significant increase in 2004 compared with 2003 is attributable pri-

marily to the October 31, 2003 acquisition of Neuberger, comple-

mented by higher private equity management and incentive fees. The

|
growth in Asset management and other revenues in 2003 compared \‘
with 2002 is attributable primarily to the acquisition of Neuberger in ‘

October 2003 and the acquisition of Lincoln in January 2003.




NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

IN MILLIONS

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004/2003 200372002
Compensation and benefits $5,730 $4,318 $3,139 33% 38%

. Non-personnel expenses - 7

! (excluding the Special Items described below) _—5:369 1,716 1,517 35 13

f Other real estate reconfiguration charge o 1:94_7' 77 128 (73) (40)

¢ September 11th related recoveries, net - - (108) - -
Regularory settlement - - 80 - -
Total non-interest expenses A 58,058 $6,111 84,756 32% 28%
Compensation and benefits/Net revenues 49.5% 49.9% 51.0%

INon-interest expenses were $8.1 billion, $6.1 billion and $4.8 billion

in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and include a number of Special

Ttems discussed below. We continue to maintain a strict discipline in

bour core competency of managing expenses. Compensation and ben-

efits expense as a percentage of net revenues was 49.5%, 49.9% and
51.0% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Non-personnel expenses
as a percentage of net revenues were 20.1%, 20.7% and 26.3% in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. A significant portion of our expense base
is variable, including compensation and benefits, brokerage and clear~
ance, and business development. We expect our variable expenses as a
percentage of net revenues to remain in approximately the same pro-
portions in future periods.

Compensation and benefits expense was $5.7 billion, $4.3 billion

and $3.1 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Headcount totaled
approximately 19,600, 16,200 and 12,300 at November 30, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively, reflecting a combination of business acquisitions
and organic growth. Compensation and benefits expense includes both

fixed and variable components. Fixed compensation, consisting primar-

ily of salaries, benefits and amortization of previous years” deferred

equity awards, totaled $2.6 billion, $2.0 billion and $1.9 billion in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The growth of fixed compensation expense
in 2004 compared with 2003 was due primarily to the increase in head-
count attributable to business acquisitions (see Consolidated Results of
Operations—DBusiness Acquisitions and Dispositions in this MD&A)
coupled with organic growth related to certain business activity. The
growth in fixed compensation expense in 2003 compared with 2002
primarily resulted from the acquisitions as well as an increase in pension
expense. Variable compensation, consisting primarily of incentive com-
pen;ation, commissions and severance, totaled $3.1 billion, $2.3 billion
and $1.2 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, as higher revenues
resulted in higher incentive compensation. Amortization of deferred
stock compensation awards was $800 million, $625 million and $570
million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Non-personnel expenses totaled $2.3 billion, $1.8 billion and
$1.6 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in non-

personnel expenses in 2004 compared with 2003 is attributable to
business acquisitions coupled with increased technology initiatives,
higher occupancy costs and higher levels of business activity. The
increase in non-personnel expenses in 2003 compared with 2002 is
attributable primarily to increases in occupancy, technology and com-
munications, and brokerage and clearance expenses, as well as the effect
of business acquisitions.

Technology and communications expenses rose 28% in 2004
compared with 2003 reflecting the business acquisitions, the deprecia-
tion of technology assets at new facilities, and increased costs associated
with the continued build-out of Capital Markets platforms and infra-
structure. Brokerage and clearance expenses rose 23% in 2004 compared
with 2003, due primarily to higher volumes in Capital Markets prod-
ucts and expansion in equities-related businesses. Occupancy expenses
increased 32% in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily attributable to
the business acquisitions and the increased cost of our new facilities in
London and Tokyo. Professional fees increased 59% in 2004 compared
with 2003 due to the business acquisitions and higher recruiting and
legal fees. Business development expenses increased 42% in 2004 com-
pared with 2003 due to the higher level of business activity and the
business acquisitions. Other expenses increased 66% in 2004 compared
with 2003 attributable primarily to the business acquisitions, including
mutual fund distribution costs and the amortization of intangible assets.

Technology and communications expenses rose 8% in 2003 com-
pared with 2002 reflecting depreciation of technology assets at new
facilities and higher spending associated with the enhancement of
Capital Markets trading platforms and technology infrastructure.
Brokerage and clearance expenses rose 12% in 2003 compared with
2002 primarily attributable to increased volumes in fixed income prod-
ucts and our expansion in equities-related businesses in 2003.
Occupancy expenses increased 11% in 2003 compared with 2002 pri-
marily attributable to the increased cost of our new headquarters in
New York and additional space needed to accommodate the growth in
headcount. Professional fees increased 22% in 2003 compared with

2002, primarily due to higher legal, accounting and audit fees.
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During 2004, we entered into a settlement with our insurance car-
riers relating to certain legal proceedings noticed to the carriers and ini-
tially occurring prior to January 2003. Under the terms of the insurance
settlement, the insurance carriers will pay us $280 million. The proceeds
of the insurance settlement will be used in resolving these legal pro-
ceedings as and if they occur. During 2004, we entered into a
Memorandum of Understanding to settle the In re Enron Corporation
Securities Litigation class action lawsuit. This $223 million settlement is
subject to final court approval. The settlement with our insurance car-
riers and the settlement under the Memorandum of Understanding did
not result in a net gain or loss in our Consolidated Statement of Income.
See Part I, Item 3—Legal Proceedings in the Form 10-K for additional
information about the Enron securities class action and related matters.

Special Items Non-interest expenses in 2004 and 2003 include pre-
tax real estate charges of $19 million and $77 million, respectively (811
million and $45 million after-tax, respectively), associated with our 2002
decision to dispose of certain excess real estate. In March 2004, we
reached an agreement to exit virtually all of our remaining leased space at
our downtown New Yotk City location, which clarified the loss on this
location and resulted in the $19 million charge. Non-interest expenses in
2002 include a pre-tax net gain of $108 million (860 million after-tax)
associated with September 11th related costs and insurance settlement
proceeds, a $128 million pre-tax charge ($82 million after-tax) associated
with decisions to reconfigure certain global real estate facilities and an $80
million pre-tax charge ($56 million after-tax) related to the settlement of
allegations of research analyst conflicts of interest. The 2004, 2003 and
2002 real estate reconfiguration charges were recognized in accordance
with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” These
charges represent estimated sublease losses expected to be incurred upon
exiting certain of our facilities, primarily in London and New York.
Substantially all of such facilities were subleased at November 30, 2004.
The net pre-tax effect of the 2002 Special Items is a charge of $100 mil-
lion. Additional information about the Special Items can be found in
Notes 19 and 20 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents.

Income Taxes
The provisions for income taxes totaled $1.1 billion, §765 million and
$368 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These provisions
resulted in effective tax rates of 32.0%, 30.2% and 26.3% for 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. The increases in the effective tax rates in 2004
and 2003 compared with the respective prior years were primarily due
to higher levels of pre-tax income, which reduced the effect of perma-
nent differences. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for additional information about income taxes.
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Business Acquisitions and Dispositions

Capital Markets During 2004, we acquired three mortgage banking
platforms for an aggregate cost of approximately $184 million. In
addition, we sold our reverse mortgage originator for approximately
$42 million. The gain on the sale was not significant. We believe the
acquisitions add long-term value to our mortgage franchise by allow-
ing further vertical integradon of the business platform. Mortgage
loans originated by the acquired companies are intended to provide 3
more cost efficient source of loan product for our securitizatioﬁl
pipeline. During 2003, we acquired controlling interests in two mort
gage loan originators for an aggregate cost of approximately §35 mil-\l
lion. Headcount associated with these acquisitions were approximatelyﬁi
1,300 and 2,000 for 2004 and 2003, respectively. ;

Investment Management In October 2003, we purchasedi
Neuberger as part of our strategic plan to build out our InvestmentE
Management business segment. The Neuberger acquisition increased|

our revenues from fee-based activities, allowing for reduced cross-

cycle earnings volatility. The acquisition is providing revenue syner- |

gies by making Neuberger products available to our network of |

4
h

institutional and high-net-worth individual clients in all three geo- |
graphic regions and offering Neuberger clients an expanded range of |
investment and risk management products, including structured cap-

ital markets products, private equity, and other alternative asset man-

|

agement products. K
We purchased Neuberger for a net purchase price of approxi-

mately $2.5 billion, including cash consideration and incidental costs of \

$682 million, equity consideration of approximately $2.1 billion
(including 32.3 million shares of common stock, 0.3 million shares of |
restricted common stock and 3.5 million vested stock options) and ‘

excluding cash and short-term investments acquired of $276 million. We
also issued approximately 0.5 million shares of restricted common stock
valued at $42 million, which is subject to future service requiremnents
and is being amortized over the applicable service periods. The integra-
tion continues to proceed well and revenue and cost synergy targets
have been substantially achieved.

In October 2003, we also acquired substantially all of the opera-
ting assets of Crossroads, a diversified private equity fund manager,
which expanded our global private equity franchise. In January 2003, we
acquired the fixed income asset management business of Lincoln. The
cost of these acquisitions aggregated $137 million.

These acquisitions were made as part of our strategic plan to
build out our Investment Management business segment. On the
dates of acquisition, headcounts associated with these entities aggre-
gated approximately 1,400. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information about these acquisitions.




[[ BUSINESS SEGMENTS
|

We operate in three business segments (each of which is described
Lelow): Investment Banking, Capital Markets and Investment
Management.These business segments generate revenues froni institu-
tional, corporate, government and high-net-worth individual clients
and customers, which are recognized in all revenue categories in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Net revenues also contain certain
finternal allocations, including funding costs, which are centrally man-

aged. In both the Capital Markets and Investment Management busi-

ness segments we evaluate revenue performance based on the aggregate

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

[N MILLIONS

of Principal transactions, Commissions and Net interest revenues,
which includes realized and unrealized gains and losses, commissions
associated with transactions and the interest and dividend revenue or
expense associated with financing or hedging positions. Caution
should be used when analyzing these revenue categories individually
because they may not be indicative of the overall performance of the
Capital Markets and Investment Management business segments.

The following table summarizes the net revenues of our business

segments:

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004/2003 200372002
Net revenues: -
Investment Banking $ 2,188 ’ $ 1,722 $ 1,731 27% ("%
Capital Markets 7,694 6,018 3,620 28 66
Investment Management 1,694 907 804 87 13
Tortal net revenues 11,576 8,647 6,155 34 40
Compensation and benefits 5,730 4,318 3,139 33 38
Non-personnel expenses® 2,328 1,793 » 1,617 30 1
Income before taxes $ 3,518 $ 2,536 $ 1,399 39% 81%

™ Non-personnel expenses include the Special [tems. Additional information about these Special ltems can be found in Results of Operations—Non-Interest Expenses in this MD&A and in
Notes 19 and 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The follawing business segment discussions exclude the Special Items.

INVESTMENT BANKING

IN MILLIONS

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004/2003 2003/2002
Investment banking revenues —S 2,188 $ 1,722 § 1,731 27% 1%
Non-interest expenses 1,601 1,321 1,321 2] -
Income before taxes® $ 587 $ 401 $ 410 46% )%

M Excludes the Special ltems.

The Investment Banking business segment is made up of Advisory
Services and Global Finance activities that serve our corporate and gov-
ernment clients. The segment is organized into global industry groups—
Communications, Consumer/Retailing, Financial Institutions, Financial
Sponsors, Healthcare, Industrial, Media, Natural Resources, Power, Real

Estate and Technology—that include bankers who deliver industry

INVESTMENT BANKING REVENUES

IN MILLIONS

knowledge and expertise to meet clients’ objectives. Specialized product
groups within Advisory Services, including M&A and restructuring, and
within Global Finance, including Equity Capital Markets, Debt Capital
Markets, Leveraged Finance, Private Placements, Derivatives and Product
Development, are partnered with relationship managers in the global

industry groups to provide comprehensive financial solutions for clients.

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 200472003 2003/2002
Debt Underwriting s 1,002 5 980 s 886 2% 1%
Equity Underwriting 560 363 420 54 (14)
Merger and Acquisition Advisory T e28 379 425 65 (11)

$ 2,188 $ 1,722 § 1,731 2% ()%
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Revenues totaled $2.2 billion in 2004 and $1.7 billion in both 2003 and
2002. Revenues increased 27% in 2004 compared with 2003, reflecting
significant improvements in M&A advisory and global equity under-
writing activities. Qur increased market share in these areas, together
with industry-wide market volume increases, provided the basis for the
revenue increases. Industry-wide debt origination volumes remained
robust in 2004, up 6% from 2003. Investment banking revenues in 2003
were essentially unchanged compared with 2002, as lower equity under-
writing and M&A advisory revenues were largely offset by higher debt
underwriting revenues.

Debt underwriting revenues were a record in 2004 for the third
consecutive year, rising 2% compared with 2003, despite challenging
market conditions including rising interest rates, corporate pre-funding
in late 2003 and the rally of the global equity markets. Qur global debt
origination volumes in 2004 rose 6% compared with 2003, while indus-
try-wide global debt origination volumes rose 6% in the same period,
as clients continued to take advantage of low interest rates and tight
credit spreads. Improved leveraged finance revenues in 2004 essentially
offset a decline in high grade revenues. Qur global debt origination
ranking improved to number four for calendar 2004, up from number
five for calendar 2003, while our market share declined slightly to 6.7%
in calendar 2004 compared with 7.0% in calendar 2003. Our debt orig-
ination fee backlog at November 30, 2004 of approximately $148 mil-
lion rose 68% compared with November 30, 2003. However, debt
origination fee backlog is generally less indicative of the level of future
business due to the increased use of the shelf registration process. Debt
underwriting revenues increased 11% in 2003 compared with 2002, as
the tightening of credit spreads and a full year of historically low inter-
est rates resulted in near record debt underwriting volumes. Industry-
wide fixed income origination volume rose 25% in 2003 compared
with 2002, while our fixed income origination volume was up 26%.
Investment grade and high yield market underwriting volumes were
particularly strong as credit spreads tightened in 2003 compared with
2002. The market volume growth in 2003 was largely in high grade
debt, which generally has lower fee spreads. Our market share of global
debt underwriting volumes in calendar 2003 of 7.0% was up slightly
from 6.9% in calendar 2002.

Equity underwriting revenues grew 54% in 2004 compared with
2003 as improved investor confidence and corporate profitability drove
improved equity origination volumes. Industry-wide equity origination
volumes rose 48% in 2004 compared with 2003, while our equity orig-
ination volumes rose 51% in the same period. The 2004 results reflect
strong growth in our volumes of IPOs and secondary issuances while
convertible underwritings were essentially unchanged compared with

2003. We substantially increased our global equity origination market
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share to 4.3% in calendar 2004 compared with 3.3% in calendar 20031!_
Our equity-related fee backlog (for both filed and unfiled transactions})
at November 30, 2004 of approximately $279 million rose 64% com-l‘_
pared with November 30, 2003. Equity underwriting revenues declined\\
14% in 2003 compared with 2002 primarily due to change in the rmx‘
of equity underwriting, with IPOs, which generally are more lucrative,
contributing only 14% of market volume in 2003, down from 23% in
2002. Industry-wide global equity market volumes declined 2% in 2003
compared with 2002. Our global equity-related market share increased
slightly to 3.3% in calendar 2003 from 3.2% in calendar 2002.

M&A advisory fees rose 65% in 2004 compared with 2003, as we
substantially improved our M&A market position for completed trans-
actions in calendar 2004 with a 15.8% market share, up from a 9.0%
market share for calendar 2003. M&A completed market transaction
volumes increased 34% in fiscal 2004 to their highest levels since 2000,
driven by an improving economy and higher stock market valuations.
Activity from strategic buyers improved and sponsor activity, which
accounts for a growing percentage of volumes, remained strong. While
our M&A fee backlog at November 30, 2004 of approximately $135\'
million declined 11% compared with November 30, 2003, we believe
this decrease to be driven by timing issues and expect a further
strengthening of M&A market activities in 2005. M&A advisory fees
declined 11% in 2003 compared with 2002, as M&A activity was
extremely weak with the market volume for completed transactions in
2003 reaching its lowest level since 1996. M&A activities were nega-
tively affected by lackluster global growth rates in the first half of 2003,
weak investor confidence amid geopolitical concerns and uncertainty
regarding the global economic recovery. M&A global market volume
for completed transactions was down 17% in 2003 compared with 2002 ;
while our completed transaction volume was down only 5%. Our mar-
ket share for completed transactions in calendar 2003 was 9.0%, down
from 10.3% in calendar 2002.

Non-interest expenses rose 21% in 2004 compared with 2003,
attributable to an increase in compensation and benefits expense related
to improved performance coupled with higher non-personnel
expenses—principally business development expenses. Non-interest
expenses were unchanged in 2003 compared with 2002 reflecting an
increase in compensation and benefits expense related to the improved
environment at the end of 2003, offset by lower business development
expense as spending was curtailed in early 2003 when the market envi-
ronment was subdued.

Income before taxes rose 46% to $587 million in 2004, up from
$401 million in 2003. Income before taxes declined 2% in 2003 com-
pared with 2002. Pre-tax margin was 27%, 23% and 24% in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.




CAPITAL MARKETS

IN MILLIONS

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 200472003 2003/2002
Principal transactions $ 5,255 $ 3,792uw 81,474 39% 157%
Commissions 1,033 - 911 1,059 13 (14)
Interest and dividends o 1(;979k9 B 9,903 11,691 11 (15)
Other ;_E - 220 1 123 -
Total revenues 17?336 14,628 14,225 19 3
Interest expense - 9,642 8,610 10,605 12 (19)
Net revenues 7,694 6,018 3,620 28 66
Non-interest expenses? - 5;1:68 4,011 2,722 29 47
Income before taxes? $ —2v,5_26 $ 2.007 $ 898 26% 123%

@ Reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.
“ Excludes the Special Items.

The Capital Markets business segment includes institutional customer
flow activites, prime brokerage, research, and secondary-trading and
financing activities in fixed income and equity products. These products
includé a wide range of cash, derivative, secured financing and scructured
instruments and investments. We are a leading global market-maker in
numerous equity and fixed income products including U.S., European
and Asian equities, government and agency securities, money market
products, corporafe high grade, high vield and emerging market securi-
ties, mortgage- and asset-backed securities, preferred stock, municipal
securities, bank loans, foreign exchange, financing and derivative prod-
ucts. We are one of the largest investment banks in terms of U.S. and pan-

European listed equities trading volume, and we maintain a major

presence in over-the-counter ("OTC”) U.S. stocks, major Asian large
capitalization stocks, warrants, convertible debentures and preferred
issues. In addition, the secured financing business manages our equity and
fixed income matched book activities, supplies secured financing to insti-
tutional clients and customers, and provides secured funding for our
inventory of equity and fixed income products. The Capital Markets seg-
ment also includes proprietary activities including investments in real
estate and private equity.

See Consolidated Reesults of Operations—DBusiness Acquisitions
and Dispositions in this MD&A and Note 6 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for information about Capital Markets-related

business acquisitions and dispositions completed during 2004 and 2003.

CAPITAL MARKETS NET REVENUES

IN MILLIONS

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 200472003 200372002
Fixed Income $ 5,739 $ 4,391 $ 2,619 31% 68%
Equides 71:9;5‘ - 1,627 1,001 20 63

$ 7,604 6018 $ 3,620 28% 66%

Net revenues totaled $7.7 billion, $6.0 billion and $3.6 billion in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Net revenues rose 28% in 2004
compared with 2003 on higher customer flow levels and reflect
strong contributions from both Fixed Income and Equities. Fixed
Income revenues improved in 2004 compared with 2003 as a favor~
able interest rate environment helped drive strength in mortgage
originations and securitizations as well as interest rate products, and

the declining dollar drove higher foreign exchange activity. Equities

delivered improved revenues in 2004 compared with 2003 on higher
customer flow levels, particularly in equity derivatives products and
our prime broker business, as equity market valuations improved
compared with 2003. Capital Markets net revenues in 2004 represent
the fifth consecutive year of record performance in Fixed Income and
the second highest revenue level in Equities. Net revenues rose 66%
in 2003 compared with 2002, reflecting strong growth in both Fixed

Income and Equities.
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Fixed Income net revenues were a record $5.7 billion, increasing
31% in 2004 compared with 2003. Market conditions were generally
favorable in 2004 as evidenced by continued low interest rates, tighten-
ing credit spreads and volatile currency markets. Our diverse set of fixed
income asset classes experienced improved results across a broad range of
asset classes reflecting the increased scale and regional diversity of our
business. The mortgage securitization business was notably strong, with
revenues in mortgage products benefiting from the low rate environ-
ment as well as the continued vertical integration of our mortgage orig-
ination platforms. Interest rate products benefited from robust customer

flow activity as investors sought derivative hedging solutions amid an

- environment of increased interest rate volatility in the first half of 2004.

Foreign exchange revenues also rose as the U.S. dollar weakened in the
latter half of 2004. Partially offsetting these increases were reduced con-
tributions from credit products in 2004 compared with 2003. High
grade credit products saw reduced customer flow activity as investors
sought additional yield amid the further tightening of credit spreads.
High yield credit products benefited from the continued tightening of
credit spreads in 2004, although at a reduced level compared with 2003
record results. Fixed Income net revenues increased 68% in 2003 com-
pared with 2002 as historically low interest rates, significant credit spread
tightening, and volatile currency markets all contributed to a highly
favorable environment for fixed income products and strong customer
flow activities. Results improved across a broad range of asset classes in
2003 compared with 2002 including high vield, mortgage, interest rate,
and municipal products. High yield products had record results, driven by
strong customer trading activities and improved proprietary position rev-
enues. Mortgage-related products were bolstered by robust refinancings
driven by the historically low interest rate environment, slightly offset by
a softening of certain sectors within the commercial real estate market.
Equities net revenues grew 20% in 2004 compared with 2003 on
higher customer flow levels, particularly in equity derivative products
and our prime broker activities, as equity market valuations improved
compared with 2003. Derivative revenues were particularly strong, as
customers increasingly used customized derivative products to hedge
risk and reduce concentrations. Prime broker activity continued to
benefit from growth in customer financing balances and an expanding
client base, as total balances increased 72% compared with November
30, 2003.The 2004 results also reflect higher private equity gains com-
pared with 2003. These improvements were partially offset by lower
revenues from our convertibles business due to a sharp drop in market
volatility globally resulting in lower valuations on convertible debt
coupled with a lower level of origination activity, which also affected

secondary activity. Equities net revenues rose 63% in 2003 compared
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with 2002 as improvements in the global economy and stronger cor
porate earnings fueled a steady improvement in global equity indice
that began in March 2003 and continued through year end. The rise i
global equity indices contributed to improved performance in a num
ber of asset classes including derivatives, convertibles, and private equi
investments. While U.S. equity trading volumes declined slightly,
European and Asian markets experienced a rise in trading volumes
contributing to improved performance in these regions. Derivatives
benefited from improved customer flow activity, as customers increas-
ingly used customized derivative products to hedge risk and reduce
concentrations. Convertibles revenues were bolstered by improved
credit markets and strong customer activity on the heels of increased
new issuance activity.

Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense are a function
of the level and mix of total assets and liabilities (primarily financial
instruments owned and secured financing activities), the prevailing
level of interest rates, and the term structure of our financings. Net
interest revenue in 2004 rose 5% compared with 2003 primarily due to
an increase in interest earning assets. [nterest and dividends revenue and’
Interest expense rose 11% and 12%, respectively, in 2004 compared
with 2003 attributable to higher levels of interest- and dividend-earn-
ing assets and interest-bearing liabilities coupled with a modest upward
shift in interest rates. Net interest revenue rose 19% in 2003 compared
with 2002, primarily due to an increase in total assets, including higher
levels of secured financing activities, and a steeper yield curve in 2003
that reduced interest expense on secured short-term funding. Interest
and dividends revenue and Interest expense declined 15% and 19%,
respectively, in 2003 compared with 2002, primarily due to substantial
declines in interest rates.

Non-interest expenses increased to $5.2 billion in 2004 from §4.0
billion in 2003 and $2.7 billion in 2002. The growth in non-interest
expenses in both comparisons reflects higher Compensation and bene-
fits expense related to improved revenue performance coupled with
higher non-personnel expenses. Non-personnel expenses grew primar~
ily due to increased technology and communications expenses associ-
ated with the business acquisitions and the continued investments in our
trading platforms, higher brokerage and clearance costs associated with
higher trading volumes, as well as higher professional fees incurred in
the current industry environment. Occupancy expenses also increased
attributable to our new facilities in London and Tokyo.

Income before taxes rose 26% to $2.5 billion in 2004 compared
with $2.0 billion in 2003. Income before taxes increased 123% in 2003
compared with 2002. Pre-tax margin was 33%, 33% and 25% in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.



INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

IN MILLIONS Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004/2003 2003/2002
Principal transactions . AS 77444 § 480 § 477 (8)% 1%
Commissions 504 259 ‘ 227 69 32
Interest and dividends . o 33 39 37 (15) 5

Asset management and other T 745 B 119 84w 526 42

Total revenues ~~~i,;2;5~— 937 825 84 14
Interest expense . 32 30 21 7 43

Net revenues Mﬁijﬁ—ﬂ.;“ 907 804 87 13
Non—interesﬁ expenses® 1,273—- 702 613 81 15
Income before taxes® s 420 s 205 $ 191 107% 7%

@ Reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.
@ Excludes the Special items.

The Investment Management business segment (formerly Client
Services) consists of the Private Investment Management and Asset
Management business lines. Private Investment Management generates
customer-flow transactional revenues from high-net-worth clients and
Asset Management generates primarily fee-based revenues from cus-

tomized investment management services for high-net-worth clients as

investors. Asset Management also generates management and incentive
fees from our role as general partner for private equity and other alter-
native investment partnerships.

See Consolidated Results of Operations—DBusiness Acquisitions
and Dispositions in this MD&A and Note 6 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for information about Investment Management-

well as asset management fees from mutual fund and other institutional related business acquisitions completed during 2003.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT NET REVENUES

Percent Change

IN MILLIONS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004/2003 200372002
Private Investment Management N $ ”85747 $ 766 $ 714 11% 7%
Asset Management 8;0— - 141 90 496 57

" s1,69 $ 907 $ 804 87% 13%

$1,694

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

IN BILLIONS

NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003
Opening balance 7 3120.71: $ 86
Net additions ‘—N_F:—G‘—— . 109.82
Net market appreciation 11.0 1.7
Total increase - 16.6 - 111.5
Assets Under Management, November 30 . 51367‘- $ 1201

 Assets under management at November 30, 2003 have been restated to include $3.9 billion of discretionary brokerage cash management assets.
@ Includes approximately $101.3 billion attributable to the Lincaln and Neuberger acquisitions and $3.9 billion of discretionary brokerage cash management assets.
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COMPOSITION OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

IN BILLIONS

NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2004/2003
Money markets® $ 19.0 $ 184 3%
Fixed income o 5177 B 492 5
Equity 543 41 2
Alternative investm-ents o 11.7_% 9.4 24
$136.7 $120.1 14%

% Maoney market assets under management at November 30, 2003 have been restated to include $3.9 billicn of discretionary brokerage cash management, assets.

Net revenues totaled $1.7 billion, $907 million and $804 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Net revenues increased 87% in 2004
compared with 2003, primarily due to business acquisitions completed
during 2003, most notably the Neuberger acquisition completed in
October 2003. Net revenues increased 13% in 2003 compared with
2002, primarily due to business acquisitions as well as increased distrib-
ution of products to high-net-worth clients.

Private Investment Management net revenues rose 11% to a record
$834 million in 2004 compared with 2003, driven by sales of equity
products, which benefited from improved market conditions, partially
offset by modestly lower sales of fixed income products attributable to
rising interest rates. Sales of equity cash and derivative products were
particularly strong in 2004. Private Investment Management net rev-
enues increased 7% in 2003 compared with 2002 reflecting strong fixed
income product distribution activities partially offset by lower equity
sales, as investors were cautious in the first half of 2003 before gradually
beginning to shift asset allocations in the latter half of the year.

Asset Management net revenues increased to $840 million in 2004
compared with $141 million in 2003, primarily as a result of business
acquisitions as well as increased private equity fees. Total fees from private
equity were $117 million and $28 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Private equity fees increased in 2004 as a result of new fund offerings as
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Percent Change

well higher incentive fees, which totaled $63 million and $2 million in
2004 and 2003, respectively. Asset management net revenues increased
57% in 2003 compared with 2002 as a result of business acquisitions, par-
tially offset by a decline in private equity management fees attributable
to the expiration of commitment periods on two of our funds.

Assets under management increased $16.6 billion to $136.7 billion
at November 30, 2004 compared with November 30, 2003 reflecting
net client inflows of $5.6 billion and net market appreciation of $11.0
billion. Assets under management increased $111.5 billion to $120.1 bil-
lion at November 30, 2003 compared with $8.6 billion at November
30, 2002, primarily attributable to business acquisitions.

Non-interest expenses totaled $1.3 billion, $702 million and $613
million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in non-inter-
est expenses in 2004 compared with 2003 is primarily due to business
acquisitions, including higher compensation and benefits, mutual fund
distribution costs and the amortization of intangible assets. Non-inter-
est expenses in 2003 rose 15% compared with 2002 primarily due to
business acquisitions, coupled with higher compensation and benefits
expense related to organic revenue growth.

Income before taxes rose to $424 million in 2004 compared with
$205 million in 2003 and $191 million in 2002. Pre-tax margin was
25%, 23% and 24% in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.



GEOGRAPHIC DIVERSIFICATION

NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION

IN MILLIONS

Percent Change

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 200472003 2003/2002
' Europe $ 2,104 $ 1,864 § 1,674 13% 11%
‘ Asia Pacific and other 1,247 N 875 612 43 43
i Total International :__:}i\;l—-—— 2,739 2,286 22 20
] Us. 8,225 5,908 3,869 39 53
) >5711','5'7é4 N $ 8,647 $ 6,155 34% 40%

nternational net revenues were $3.4 billion, $2.7 billion and $2.3 bil-
ion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, representing approximately
29%, 32%, and 37% of total net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. International net revenues grew 22% to a record $3.4 bil-
" fion in 2004 compared with 2003 and 20% in 2003 compared with
POOZ. Revenues in 2004 compared with 2003 reflect improvements in
both Capital Markets and Investment Banking and represent the high-
est revenues ever in Asia and the second highest revenues in Europe.
Revenues in 2003 compared with 2002 also reflect improvements in
both Capital Markets and Investment Banking.

Net revenues in Europe increased 13% in 2004 ‘compared with
2003, attributable to improvements in both Capital Markets and
Investment Banking. The Capital Markets improvement reflects strong
mortgage securitization and foreign exchange results as well as equity
cash and derivatives results. These improvements were partially offset by
lower results in real estate attributable to the further softening of certain
sectors within the commercial real estate market and lower results in
convertibles as the rising interest rate environment in the second half of
2004 negatively affected the convertible market. [nvestment Banking
revenues were up significantly as we continued to gain market share in
both equity and debt origination, although M&A market share

declined. Net revenues increased 11% in 2003 compared with 2002,

attributable to improvements in the capital markets environment, pri-
marily equities, driven by increased customer flow activity in derivative
and convertible products. Investment Banking revenue grew, driven by
increased activity in debt and equity origination. These improvements
were partially offset by declines in Fixed Income Capital Markets rev-
enues due to a softening of certain sectors within the commercial real
estate markets and in M&A.

Net revenues in Asia Pacific and other were a record, increasing
43% in 2004 compared with 2003 with strong revenue growth in both
Capital Markets and Investment Banking. Fixed Income Capital
Markets customer activity increased in high yield, mortgage products
and foreign exchange. Equities Capital Markets results improved in 2004
compared with 2003 reflecting rallies and higher volumes in the Asian
equity markets. Net revenues in 2003 increased 43% compared with
2002, attributable to improved performance in Capital Markets and
Investment Banking. Fixed Income Capital Markets revenue increased
primarily due to a higher level of activity in interest rate products.
Equities Capital Markets revenue growth was driven by strength in
derivatives corresponding with the increase in the Nikkei. Investment
Banking revenue also grew, driven by our improved position in advisory
activity, where our completed M&A market share improved to 11.5% in
calendar 2003 compared with 4.6% in calendar 2002.
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LIQUIDITY,

Management’s Finance 'Committee is responsible for developing, imple~
menting and enforcing our liquidity, funding and capital policies. These
policies include recommendations for capital and balance sheet size as
well as the allocation of capital and balance sheet to the business units.
Through the establishment and enforcement of capital and funding lim-
its, management’s Finance Committee oversees compliance with poli-
cies and limits with the goal of ensuring we are not exposed to undue
funding or liquidity risk.
Liquidity Risk Management

We view liquidity and liquidity management as critically important in
our industry. Our funding strategy seeks to ensure we maintain suffi-
cient liquid financial resources to continually fund our balance sheet and
meet all of our funding obligations across all market environments.

Our liquidity strategy is based on the following principles:

D Liquidity providers are credit and market sensitive and quick to
react to any perceived market or firm-specific risks.
Consequently, we remain in a state of constant liquidity readiness.

O During a liquidity event, certain secured lenders will require
higher quality collateral, resulting in a lower availability of
secured funding for “hard-to-fund” asset classes. Consequently,
we rely on secured funding only to the extent we believe it
would be available in all market environments.

O A firm’s legal entity structure may constrain liquidity. Some reg-
ulators or rating agency considerations may prevent the free
flow of funds between the subsidiaries they supervise
(“Restricted Subsidiaries”) and Holdings and its other sub-
sidiaries (“Unrestricted Subsidiaries”). Consequently, we seek to
ensure the Restricted Subsidiaries on the one hand, and
Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries collectively on the
other, have sufficient “stand-alone” liquidity and that there is no
“cross subsidization” of liquidity from these Restricted
Subsidiaries to Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

O For planning purposes, we do not assume that, in a liquidity cri-
sis, assets can be sold to generate cash, unsecured debt can be
issued or any cash and unencumbered liquid collateral outside
of the liquidity pool can be used to support the liquidity of
Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

When managing liquidity, we pay particularly close attention to
the size of our liquidity pool, our long-term funding sources and
requirements and our reliable secured funding capacity. Each of these
measures is explained in more detail below.

Liguidity Pool Qur policy is to maintain a liquidity pool for
Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries that would cover, in a stressed
liquidity environment, all expected cash outflows for one year. This lig-

uidity pool is invested in cash and unencumbered liquid collateral that
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FUNDING AND CAPITAL RESOQURCES

can be monetized at short notice in all market environments to providé
liquidity to Holdings, which issues most of the unsecured debt. At
November 30, 2004, the estimated pledge value of this portfolio, along
with the undrawn portion of Holdings” committed credit facility (seé
Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—Credit Facilities in thi"fs
MD&A), totaled approximately $18.7 billion. Cash and unencumberei
liquid assets that are presumed to be “trapped” in a Restricteﬁl
Subsidiary or required for operational purposes are not counted as avail%—

able liquidity to Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries. |
|

Our liquidity pool is expected to be available to cover expected
cash outflows in a stressed liquidity environment including: i

0O The repayment of all unsecured debt of Holdings and its
Unrestricted Subsidiaries maturing within twelve months
($10.0 billion at November 30, 2004). We assume that, in 4
stressed liquidity environment, we will have no access to thg
unsecured debt market for a full year.

0 The drawdown of commitments to extend credit made by
Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries based on an analysis
of the probability of such drawdown (see Summary off
Contractual Obligations and Commitments—Lending-Related
Commitments in this MD&A).

7 Additional collateralization of derivative contracts and other|
secured funding arrangements by Holdings and its Unrestricted
Subsidiaries to counterparties that would be required in the
event of a lowering of debt ratings (see Liquidity, Funding and
Capital Resources—Credit Ratings in this MD&A).

00 The funding of anticipated equity repurchases as we manage
our equity base (including offsetting the dilutive effect of our
employee incentive plans—see Liquidity, Funding and Capital
Resources—Stock Repurchase Program in this MD&A). ]

These projected outflows are re-assessed weekly and as they]

change we adjust the size requirement for the liquidity pool.

The liquidity of the Restricted Subsidiaries is separately managed

to comply with their applicable liquidity and capital requirements and
to minimize dependence on Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

In addition to our liquidity pool described above, we have a sig-

nificant amount of additional unencumbered assets as a result of our
business activities. At November 30, 2004, the estimated pledge value of
these unencumbered assets totaled approximately $40.3 billion—$38.5
billion of which was held by Restricted Subsidiaries.

Long-Term Funding Sowrces and Requirements Cash capital

(i.e., stockholders’ equity and liabilities with remaining terms of over
one year) Is a measure we use to assess our long-term funding sources
and requirements. Our policy is to operate with an excess of long-term

funding sources over our long-term funding requirements.




I In 2004, we added materially to our cash capital sources (i.e., total
stg}ockholders’ equity and long-term debt excluding current portion, other
lj%abilities with remaining terms greater than one year and deposit liabili-
ti;es at our banking institutions, Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB (“LBB”) and
qehman Brothers Bankhaus AG (“LBBAG”)). These regulated bank enti-
ties operate in a deposit-protected environment and are able to source
low-cost unsecured funds that are generally insulated from a Company-
Si:eciﬁc or market liquidity event, thereby providing a reliable funding

source for the mortgage products and selected loan assets they fund.

|

We also consider the undrawn portion of our committed facili-
ties at Holdings and LBBAG as a source of cash capital because, in
contrast to regular backstop facilities, which remain undrawn, these
facilities are drawn as part of our regular funding—typically 25% to
30% of the time (see Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—
Credit Facilides in this MD&A).

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, we had cash capital sources of
$79 billion and $64 billion, respectively, across all legal entities—the

majority of it being long-term debt.

i

CASH CAPITAL SOURCES

IN BILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Total stockholders equity

Preferrcd securmes subject to mandatorv redempuon

Long—term debt excludmg current portxon

Core deposn habﬂmes at LBB and LBBAG

Other long-term secured obhganons

Undrawn pomon of unsecured comlmtted facxlmes

Total cash capital sources

Cash capital is used to fund the following long-term funding requirements:
O Less liquid assets, such as fixed assets and goodwill.
O Less liquid inventory, such as high yield loans, private equity invest-

ments, commercial mortgages and certain real estate positions.

O Unencumbered inventory, irrespective of collateral quality.
Unencumbered inventory outside of Restricted Subsidiaries,
unless intentionally held as part of the liquidity pool, is conserv-
atively assumed to be unfundable on a secured basis due to oper-
ation inefficiencies (for example, because it is in transit between
depots). We do not assume we can improve operational effec-
tiveness during a liquidity event and therefore intentionally fund
all unencumbered positions that are not boxed with cash capital.

O Secured funding “haircuts” (i.e., the difference between the
market value of the available inventory and the value of cash
advanced to us by counterparties against that inventory).

) Operational cash deposited at banks.

C Liquid investments held to fund certain projec'ted cash outflows
as described in Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—
Liquidity Pool in this MD&A. These investments are managed
as part of the liquidity pool.

2004 2003
$15 $13
o : SR
I e 36
10 g
3——— » 4
) 2 2
st s

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, we had $10 billion and $11 bil-
lion, respectively, of cash capital surpluses across all legal entities. Of the
$10 billion in cash capital surplus at November 30, 2004, $7 billion is
available to Holdings and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries. We target main-
taining a cash capital surplus available to Holdings and its Unrestricted
Subsidiaries of not less than $2 billion.

Reliable Secured Funding Capacity We have adopted what man-
agement believes to be a conservative approach to secured funding by
depending on it only to the extent it is deemed reliable in all market
environments. We regularly perform a detailed assessment of our
secured funding capacity by asset class and by counterparty to deter-
mine how much is reliable in a stressed liquidity environment. Reliable
secured funding capacity usually is set at a significant discount to nor-
mal funding capacity. In particular, less liquid inventory such as high
yield loans and commercial mortgages are funded entirely with cash
capital—any short-term secured funding that might exist for these asset

classes in a normal market environment is not considered to be reliable.
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Contingency Funding Plan We have developed and regularly
update a Contingencvaunding Plan, which represents a detailed action
plan to manage a stress liquidity event, including a communication plan
for creditors, investors and clients. The contingency plan considers two
types of liquidity stress events—a Company-specific event, where there
are no issues with the overall market liquidity, but stress on our
Company liquidity; and a broader market-wide event, which affects not
just our Company but the entire market.

In a Company-specific event, we assume we would lose access to
the unsecured funding market for a full year and have to rely on the
large liquidity pool available to Holdings and its Unrestricted
Subsidiaries to continue to fund our balance sheet. Minimizing refi-
nancing risk in our debt portfolio by limiting maturity and investor
concentration and using conservative assumptions regarding cash capi-
tal required to meet funding requirements are our principal liquidity

risk mitigants in these circumstances.

[N MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Long-term debt:
Senior notes
Subordinateci indeb;eciness“’ 7
Subtotal
Preferred securities sut;;ject
to m:;;ldat-ory redeﬁption"'
Stockholn‘iers’ equity: -
Preferr;ad séockhold;ars’ eéuiry —
Common stéckho]ders’ equity
Subtotal

Total Capital

@ Includes $1.0 billion of junior subordinated debentures at November 30, 2004,

@ We adopted FIN 46R effective February 29, 2004, which required us to deconsclidate trusts that issue preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption. Accordingly, at February

TOTAL CAPITAL

|
In a marker lLiquidity event, in addition to the pressure of ‘l a
Company-specific event, we also assume that, because the event is ma}r—
ket wide, counterparties to whom we have extended liquidity facilities
draw on these facilities. To mitigate the effect of a market liquidity ever!lt
we have developed access to additional liquidity sources beyond the li(i-
uidity pool at Holdings. These sources include unutilized fundix{g
capacity in our banks, LBB and LBBAG; special funding vehicles prq!—
funded with short-term liquid instruments; and unutilized capacity 1p
bilateral bank facilities described under “Credit Facilities” below. I
We perform regular assessments of our funding requirements i1
stress liquidity scenarios to ensure we can meet all our funding obligat»

tions in all market environments.

Funding and Capital Resources l
We believe Total Capital (defined as long-term debt plus total stock

holders’ equity) is useful to investors as a measure of our ﬁnancia%

strength because it aggregates our long-term funding sources.

2004 2003
$53,561 $41,303 |
2,925 222% |
56,486 43,529 ]
' - 1,310 \
|
1,345 1,045 |
13,575 12,129 ‘
14,920 13,174 |
$71,406 $58,013

29, 2004 and subsequent period ends, Subordinated indebtedness includes junior subordinated debentures that at November 30, 2003 and prior period ends were classified as “
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption. See Accounting and Regulatory Developments in this MD&A and Note 9 to the Consclidated Financia! Statements.

Our Total Capital increased 23% to $71.4 billion at November 30, 2004
compared with $58.0 billion at November 30, 2003. The increase in
Total Capital primarily resulted from a net increase in long-term debt
and increased equity from the retention of earnings.

Total stockholders’ equity plus junior subordinated debentures
totaled $15.9 billion and $14.5 billion at November 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively. We believe total stockholders” equity plus junior
subordinated debentures to be a more meaningful measure of our
equity because the junior subordinated debentures are subordinated
and have a maturity at issuance of 49 years and we can defer interest
payments for up to 20 consecutive quarters if the junior subordinated

debentures are not in default. In addition, a leading rating agency
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views these securities as equity capital for purposes of calculating net -
leverage. See Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—Balance -
Sheet and Financial Leverage in this MD&A and Note 9 to the -

Consolidated Financial Statements.

We actively manage long-term debt to minimize refinancing risk

and investor concentration. We set limits for the amount maturing over

any three, six and twelve month horizon at 10%, 15% and 25% of out-
standing long-term debt, respectively—that is, $5.6 billion, $8.5 billion
and $14.1 billion, respectively, at November 30, 2004. If we were to

operate with debt above these levels, we would not include the addi-
tional amount as a source of cash capital. We seek to diversify our cred-

itor base when issuing unsecured debt.

i
i
i
i




The quarterly long-term debt maturity schedule over the next five years at November 30, 2004 is as follows:

LONG-TERM DEBT MATURITY PROFILE

IN MILLIONS

(S

RS

2005 Q1 [T
Qz

2005 Q4

2006 Q4 g7

5
2005 Q3
2006 Q3
2007 Q1
2007 Q2
2007 Q3

During 2004, we issued $20.5 billion of long-term debt—$20.1 billion
of Senior notes and $0.4 billion of Subordinated indebtedness. These
issuances were approximately $9.7 billion in excess of maturing long-
term debt—$10.2 billion in excess of Senior notes, partally offset by
$0.6 billion net repayments of Subordinated indebtedness. On February
29, 2004, we reclassified to Subordinated indebtedness $1.3 billion of
junior subordinated debentures that at November 30, 2003 was classi-
fied as Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption. See
Accounting and Regulatory Developments in this MD&A and Note 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Long-term debt increased to
$56.5 billion at November 30, 2004 from $43.5 billion at November 30,
2003 and had weighted-average maturities of 5.2 years and 3.9 years at
November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In addition, we issued $0.3 billion of Floating Rate Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series G, in 2004. Holdings may redeem such preferred
stock on or after February 13, 2009. See Note 12 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information about our preferred stock.
We also formed one trust in 2004 to which we issued $0.4 billion of 6.00%
junior subordinated debentures, maturing in 2053, which is redeemable
beginning in 2009. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information abour junior subordinated debentures.
Credit Facilities

We maintain a revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”)
with a syndicate of banks under which the banks have committed to
provide up to $1.5 billion through April 2007. The Credit Agreement

o - $6,500
l Extendibles® 6.000
&1 Non-extendibles 5.500
o 5,000
B — 4,500
o o 4,000
oL 3,500
o S ) 3,000
I ] 2,500
*Z 12,000
£
o o ;“% 15500
& 1,000
B | &
3 o %
-+ — In o xr — o™ o~ < —
& o o o © o T T o ¢
r~ =] w0 ™wL * > > o 2 =
< < =3 = = = < = f=3 —_—
(=1 (=} = =3 I= (=3 = = = f=3
(] ~™ (28] [ [aN] o~ ~ o o o~

W Extendibles are debt instruments with an extendible maturity date; i.e., unless debt holders instruct us to redeem their debt, the earliest maturity date of these instruments is
automatically extended. Extendibles are included in long-term debt if the earliest maturity date is at least one year away. Based on past experience, we expect the majority of
these extendibles to remain outstanding beyond their earliest maturity date and “roll” through the long-term debt maturity profile,

contains covenants that require, among other things, that we maintain a
specified level of tangible net worth. We also maintain a $1.0 billion
multi-currency unsecured committed revolving credit facility with a
syndicate of banks for LBBAG (the “Facility”). The Facility has a term
of three and a half years expiring on April 26, 2008. There were no bor-
rowings outstanding under either the Credit Agreement or the Facility
at November 30, 2004, although drawings have been made under both
and repaid from time to time during the year.
Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents declined $2.5 billion at November 30, 2004
compared with November 30, 2003, as net cash used in operating activi-
ties of $10.9 billion—attributable primarily to growth in secured finan-
cing activities—coupled with net cash used in investing activities of $531
million exceeded net cash provided by financing activities of $8.9 billion.
Cash and cash equivalents increased by $4.2 billion at November 30,2003
compared with November 30, 2002, as net cash provided by operating
activities of $2.4 billion and net cash provided by financing activities of
$2.9 billion exceeded net cash used in investing activities of $1.1 billion.
Balance Sheet and Financial Leverage

Assets Our balance sheet consists primarily of Cash and cash equiva-
lents, Securities and other inventory positions owned, and collateralized
financing agreements. The liquid nature of these assets provides us with
flexibility in financing and managing our business. The majority of
these assets are funded on a secured basis through collateralized financ-

ing agreements.
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Our total assets at November 30, 2004 increased $45.1 billion to
$357.2 billion at November 30, 2004 compared with $312.1 billion at
November 30, 2003, primarily due to an increase in secured financing
transactions and net assets. Our net assets at November 30, 2004 increased
$12.0 billion compared with November 30, 2003, primarily due to
increases in corporate debt and mortgages and mortgage-backed inventory
positions. We believe net assets is a more useful measure than total assets to

investors when comparing companies in the securities industry because it

~

~.

\

excludes certain assets considered to have a low risk profile (including Cash
and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purpos¢ss
Securities received as collateral, Securities purchased under agreements {©
resell and Securities borrowed) and Identifiable intangible assets and good-
will. This definidon of net assets is used by many of our creditors and|{?
leading rating agency to evaluate companies in the securities indus
Under this definition, net assets were $175.2 billion and $163.2 billion #t

November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, respectively, as follows:

NET ASSETS®

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Total assets

Cash and securities S(‘»)g‘l_'e.g»ii[;d:él}ldror-l d—e}'aé-gi-g f:);‘reg'ﬁl;;g(%rry érildjort‘ber phr;?

Securities received as collateral

Securities purchased under agreements to resell

Securities borrowed

[dentifisble intangible assets and goodwill

Net assets

@ [n 2004, a leading rating agency changed its definition of net leverage to exclude cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes from the calculation of net assets.
Accordingly, net assets at November 30, 2003, has been restated to conform with this new definition,

Our net assets consist primarily of inventory necessary to facilitate cus-
tomer flow activities and, to a lesser degree, proprietary activities. As such,
our mix of net assets is subject to change depending primarily on cus-
tomer demand. In addition, due to the nature of our customer flow
activities and based on our business outlook, the overall size of our bal-
ance sheet will fluctuate from time to time and, at specific points in time,
may be higher than the year-end or quarter-end amounts. Our gross
assets at quarter end were, on average, approximately 5% lower than
amounts based on a monthly average over both the four and eight quar-
ters ended November 30, 2004. Our net assets at quarter end were, on
average, approximately 6% lower than amounts based on a monthly aver-
age over both the four and eight quarters ended November 30, 2004.
Leverage Ratios Balance sheet leverage ratios are one measure
used to evaluate the capital adequacy of a company. The gross leverage
ratio is calculated as total assets divided by total stockholders’ equity.

Our gross leverage ratios were 23.9x and 23.7x at November 30, 2004

TANGIBLE EQUITY CAPI

IN MILLIONS

2004 2003
T $357,168  $312,061
oses 7 777(a,085) (3,100
(4,748) ©(3,406)
T © 7 (95,5388)  (87,416)
(14,294)  (51,396)
i N ST T T (3288 (3.560)
- Ts175221  s163,182

I and 2003, respectively. However, we believe net leverage based on net]
assets as defined above (which excludes certain assets considered to
have a low risk profile and Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill)
divided by tangible equity capital (Total stockholders’ equity plus jun-
ior subordinated debentures less Identifiable intangible assets and good-
will), to be a more meaningful measure of leverage in evaluating
companies in the securides industry. Our net leverage ratio of 13.9x
declined from 15.3x at November 30, 2003 because we increased our
tangible equity capital proportionately more than we increased our net
assets. We believe tangible equity capital to be a more representative
measure of our equity for purposes of calculating net leverage because
we do not view the amount of equity used to support Identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill as available to support our remaining net
assets. This definition of net leverage is used by many of our creditors
and a leading rating agency. Tangible equity capital and net leverage are
computed as follows at November 30, 2004 and 2003:

TAL AND NET LEVERAGE

NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003
Total stockholders’ equity o ) $14,920 $13,174
Junior subordinated debentures (subject to limitation)® o 1,000 -
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption (subject to limitation)® L = 1,068
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,284) (3.561)
Tangible equity capital $12,636 $10,681
Net leverage® _ 13.9x 15.3x

™ Under the definition of tangible equity capital used by a leading rating agency, the maximum equity credit given to junior subordinated debentures and Preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption is 10% of tangible equity capital (junior subordinated debentures and Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption are included in the calculation to determine the limit),

@ |n 2004, a leading rating agency changed its definition of net leverage to exclude Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regufatory and other purposes from the calculation of net assets.
Accordingly, net leverage at November 30, 2003, has been restated to conform with this new definition.
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Net assets, tangible equity capital and net leverage as presented above are
not necessarily comparable to similarly-titled measures provided by
other companies in the securities industry because of different methods
of calculation.
' Stock Repurchase Program
{he management of equity is a critical aspect of our capital manage-
ent. The determination of the appropriate amount of equity is
affected by a number of factors, including the amount of “risk equity”
the businesses require, rating agency considerations, balance sheet
leverage and the dilutive effect of our equity-based employee incentive
programs. Equiry requirements constantly are changing, and we actively
monitor our risk requirements.
The principal purposes of our stock repurchase program are to
manage our equity capital relative to the growth of our business and
bur risk requirements, and to offset the dilutive effect of equity-based
employee incentive programs. The repurchase program is effected

through regular open-market purchases as well as through the acqui-

ition of mature shares from employees upon stock option exercises
and the withholding of shares for required tax withholding upon
option exercises and conversion of restricted stock units to freely-
tradeable common stock. During 2004, we repurchased approximately
29.0 million shares of our common stock at an aggregate cost of
approximately $2.3 billion, or $78.12 per share, as authorized by our
Board of Directors.

In 2004 and 2003, we repurchased stock primarily to offset the
dilutive earnings per share effect of equity-based employee incentive
programs. When evaluating the net funding requirements of stock
repurchases, we consider the cash outflows net of the proceeds received
from employees upon the exercise of stock options, the incremental tax
benefits from the issuance of stock-based awards and the value of
employee services received—as represented by the amortization of
deferred stock compensation—that will be settled by delivering shares
of common stock instead of by paying cash.

For 2005, our Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase
of up to approximately 65 million shares of Holdings common stock.
Of this amount, up to approximately 35 million shares were authorized
for repurchase to offset dilution due to employee stock plans in 2005,
and up to an additional 30 million shares were authorized for repur-

chase in fiscal 2005, subject to market conditions.

Credit Ratings

Like other companies in the securites industry, we rely on external
sources to finance a significant portion of our day-to-day operations. The
cost and availability of unsecured financing generally are dependent on
our short-term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that may be signifi-
cant to the determination of our credit ratings or otherwise affect our
ability to raise short-term and long-term financing include our profit
margin, our earnings trend and voladlity, our cash liquidity and liquidity
management, our capital structure, our risk level and risk management,
our geographic and business diversification, and our relative positions in
the markets in which we operate. A deterioration in any of the previously-
mentoned factors or combination of these factors may lead rating agen-
cies to downgrade our credit ratings, thereby increasing the cost of, or
possibly limiting our access to, certain types of unsecured financings and
triggering additional collateral requirements in derivative contracts and
other secured funding arrangements. In addition, our debt ratings can
affect certain capital markets revenues, particularly in those businesses
where longer-term counterparty performance is critical, such as OTC
derivative transactions, including credit derivatives and interest rate swaps.

At November 30, 2004, we would have been required to post
additional collateral pursuant to derivative contracts and other secured
funding arrangements of approximately $197 million in the event we
wete to experience a downgrade of our senior debt rating of one notch
and $729 million in the event we were to experience a downgrade of
our senior debt rating of two notches.

At November 30, 2004, the short- and long-term debt ratings of
Holdings and Lehman Brothers Inc. (“LBI”) were as follows:

CREDIT RATINGS |

Holdings LBI
Short-term Long-term  Short-term Long-term®
Fitch Ratings F-1 A+ F-1 A+/A
Moody’s Investors
Service P-1 Al P-1 Aad®/Al
Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services A-1 A A-1 A+/A

W Senior/subordinated.
@ Provisional ratings on shelf registration.

In September 2004, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services revised its out-
look on Holdings and its subsidiaries to positive from stable. The A/A-1
counterparty credit ratings were affirmed. The outlook change indicates
that over the medium term, if current trends continue, Holdings’ issuer
credit ratings could be raised. The positive outlook is based on the
improvements over the long term in business line diversification, market
position, and earnings. Standard and Poor’s also recognized Holdings’

strong risk management culture and very strong liquidity.
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SUMMARY OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, we enter into various commitments
and guarantees, including lending commitments to high grade and high
yield borrowers, private equity investment commitments, liquidity com-
mitments and other guarantees. In all instances, we mark to market these
commitments and guarantees, with changes in fair value recognized in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Lending-Related Commitments

Through our high grade and high vyield sales, trading and underwriting
activities, we make commitments to extend credit in loan syndication
transactions. We use various hedging and funding strategies to actively
manage our market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commit-
ments. We do not believe total commitments necessarily are indicative
of actual risk or funding requirements because the commitments may
not be drawn or fully used and such amounts are reported before con-
sideration of hedges. These commitments and any related drawdowns of

these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates and are contingent on

certain representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable
to the borrower. We define high yield (non-investment grade) exposures
as securities of or loans to companies rated BB+ or lower or equivalent
ratings by recognized credit rating agencies, as well as non-rated securi-
ties or loans that, in management’s opinion, are non-investment grade. In
addition, our mortgage origination platforms in our Capital Markeés
mortgage business make commitments to extend mortgage loans. From
time to time, we provide contingent cormmitments to investment andl
non-investment grade counterparties related to acquisition financing},
Our expectation is, and our past practice has been, to distribute through
loan syndications to investors substantially all the credit risk associated
with these loans, if closed, consistent with our credit facilitation frame-
work. We do not believe these commitments are necessarily indicative off
our actual risk because the borrower may not complete a contemplated

acquisition or, if the borrower completes the acquisition, often will raise

funds in the capital markets instead of drawing on our commitment. J

Total Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

IN MILLIONS Contractual 2007- 2009- 2011
NOVEMBER 30, 2004 Amount 2005 2006 2008 2010 and Later
High grade® TS 10677 § 4189 § 928 s 2417 S 3,143 § -
High yield® . 4,438 933 361 1,103 746 1,295
Morigage commitments N 12,835 12,593 32 202 3 5
Investment grade cont1ngenrtﬁar>c‘]:1;;1itloﬁVfac:lrr;esﬁ o 1,475 1,475 - - - - ’
Non investment grade contmgent acqunsxtlon facﬂm-es 7 4,244 4,244 - - - -
Secured lendmg transactlons mcludmg

forwarc—i ;taimrrg‘ resale and repurchase agreements ‘ 105,879 102,187 1,554 832 220 1 086

U We view our net credit exposure for high grade commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $4.1 billion.
2 We view our net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $3.5 billion,

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional

information about our lending-related commitments.

Other commitments and guarantees at November 30, 2004 were

as follows:

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Notional/ Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

IN MILLIONS Maximum 2007- 2009- 2011
NOVEMBER 30, 2004 Payout 2005 2006 2008 2010 and Later
Denvame contracts™ $470,641 $ 71,629 $ 65,219 A$—8‘5271 7‘;5763“0_87‘ 7 ‘S—IABASAEG;—
Mumcrpal ;eéurlrle; rel;téd cgr;l‘m—ltments ) 7,179 4,679 3 24 47 2,426
Other commitments with spec1al purpose entmes i 5,261 2,404 278 738 701 1,140
Standby letters of credic 1,703 1,703 - - - -
Prlvate ec;;n‘t\;;nd—o't}; Aprrmcxpal )

investment commitments »— - 695 206 190 256 43 -

™ Fair vaiue of these derivative contracts is @ more relevant measure of these obligations because we believe the notional amount overstates the expected payout. At November 30, 2004,

the fair value of these derivative contracts approximated $9.0 billion.

See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional

information about our other commitments and guarantees.
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Contractual obligations at November 30, 2004 were as follows:

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30, 2004

Long-term debt maturities
Operating lease obligations
Capital lease obligations

Purchase obligations

ee Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
infornration about long-term debt maturities. See Note 11 to the
[Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about
operating and capital lease obligations. Purchase obligations include
agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and
\legally binding and that specify all significant terms, including: fixed or
minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price
provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction. Purchase

obligations with variable pricing provisions are included in the table

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Amount of Obligation Expiration per Period

2007—- 2009 and
Total 2005 2006 2008 Thereafter

| $56,486  § 7,121  $12,619  $13,620  $23,126
1,740 178 175 323 1,064
2,900 54 60 125 2,661
604 201 211 105 87

based on the minimum contractual amounts. Certain purchase obliga-
tions contain termination or renewal provisions. The table reflects the
minimum contractual amounts likely to be paid under these agree-
ments assuming the contracts are not terminated. Excluded from the
table are a number of obligations recorded in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Conditon that generally are short-term in
nature, including securities financing transactions, trading liabilities,
deposits, commercial paper and other short-term borrowings and other

payables and accrued liabilities.

In the normal course of business we engage in a variety of off-balance-
sheet arrangements, including derivative contracts.

Derivatives
Derivatives often are referred to as off-balance-sheet instruments

because neither their notional amounts nor the underlying instruments

are reflected as assets or liabilities in our Consolidated Statement of

Financial Condition. Instead, the market or fair values related to the
derivative transactions are reported in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition as assets or liabilities in Derivatives and other con-
tractual agreements, as applicable.

In the normal course of business we enter into derivative trans-
actions both in a trading capacity and as an end-user. We use deriva-
tive products in a trading capacity as a dealer to satisfy the financial
needs of clients and to manage our own exposure to market and
credit risks resulting from our trading activities (collectively,
“Trading-Related Derivative Activities”). In this capacity we transact
extensively in derivatives including interest rate, credit (both single
name and portfolio), foreign exchange and equity derivatives. The use
of derivative products in our trading businesses is combined with
transactions in cash instruments to allow for the execution of various
trading strategies. Derivatives are recorded at market or fair value in
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition on a net-by-
counterparty basis when a legal right of set-off exists and are netted

across products when such provisions are stated in the master netting

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

agreement. As an end-user, we use derivative products to adjust the
interest rate nature of our funding sources from fixed to floating
interest rates and to change the index on which floating interest rates
are based (e.g., Prime to LIBOR).

We conduct our derivative activities through a number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Our fixed income derivative products business is
conducted through our subsidiary Lehman Brothers Special Financing
Inc, and separately capitalized “AAA” rated subsidiaries, Lehman
Brothers Financial Products Inc. and Lehman Brothers Derivative
Products Inc. Our equity derivative products business is conducted
through Lehman Brothers Finance S.A. and Lehman Brothers OTC
Derivatives Inc. In addition, as a global investment bank, we also are a
market maker in a number of foreign currencies. Counterparties to our
derivative product transactions primarily are U.S. and foreign banks,
securities firms, corporations, governments and their agencies, finance
companies, insurance companies, investment companies and pension
funds. We manage the risks associated with derivatives on an aggregate
basis, along with the risks associated with our non-derivative trading
and market-making activities in cash instruments, as part of our
firmwide risk management policies. We use industry standard derivative
contracts whenever appropriate.

See Notes 1 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information about our accounting policies and our Trading-

Related Derivative Activities.
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Special Purpose Entities

In the normal course of business, we establish special purpose entities
(“SPEs™), sell assets to SPEs, transact derivatives with SPEs, own secu-
rities or residual interests in SPEs, and provide liquidity or other guar-
antees for SPEs. SPEs are corporations, trusts or partnerships that are
established for a Bmited purpose. There are two types of SPEs—quali-
fying special purpose entities (“QSPEs”) and variable interest entities
(“VIEs”). SPEs, by their nature, generally are not controlled by their
equity owners, because the establishing documents govern all material
decisions. Qur primary involvement with SPEs relates to securitization
transactions through QSPEs, in which transferred assets are sold to an
SPE that issues securities supported by the cash flows generated by the
assets (1., securitized). A QSPE can generally be described as an entity
with significantly limited powers that are intended to limit it to pas-
sively holding financial assets and distributing cash flows to investors on
pre-set terms. Under SFAS 140, we are not required to, and do not,
consolidate QSPEs. Rather, we account for our involvement with
QSPEs under a financial components approach in which we recognize
any interest we retain after securitization at fair value, with changes in
fair value reported in Principal transactions in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.

We are a market leader in mortgage (both residential and com-
mercial), municipal and other asset-backed securitizations that are prin-
cipally transacted through QSPEs. During 2004 and 2003, we
securitized approximately $139.4 billion and $146.1 billion of financial

assets, respectively, including $120.5 billion and $125.7 billion of res‘i—
dential loans, $8.3 billion and $9.7 billion of commercial mortgages, an‘?d
$10.6 billion and $10.7 billion of municipal and other asset backeP
financial instruments, respectively. At November 30, 2004 and 2003 w\e
had approximately $0.9 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, of non-
investment grade retained interests from our securitization activitie“F
(primarily junior security interests in securitizations). \
In addition, we deal extensively with SPEs, which do not meet th%
QSPE criteria due to their permitted activities not being sufficiently
limited, or because the assets are not deemed qualifying financial instru
ments (e.g., real estate). Under FIN 46R, we consolidate such SPEs if
we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of such entity. The pri-,}\
mary beneficiary is the party that has either a majority of the expected
losses or a majority of the expected residual returns of such entity, as"%
defined. Examples of our involvement with SPEs include collateraljzed[(
debt obligations, synthetic credit transactions, real estate investments
through SPEs, and other structured financing transactions. For addi-
tional information about our involvement with SPEs see Note 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. ’
Other Off-Balance-Sheet Activities
In the ordinary course of business we enter into various other types of
off-balance-sheet arrangements. For additional information about our
lending-related commitments and guarantees and our contractual obli-
gations see Summary of Contractual Obligations and Commitments in

this MD&A.

RISK MANAGEMENT

As a leading global investment bank, risk is an inherent part of our
business. Global markets, by their nature, are prone to uncertainty and
subject participants to a variety of risks. The principal risks we face are
credit, market, liquidity, legal, reputation and operational risks. Risk
management is considered to be of paramount importance in our day-
to-day operations. Consequently, we devote significant resources
(including investments in personnel and technology) to the measure-
ment, analysis and management of risk.

While risk cannot be eliminated it can be mitigated to the
greatest extent possible through a strong internal control environ-
ment. Essential in our approach to risk management is a strong inter-
nal control environment with multiple overlapping and reinforcing
elements. We have developed policies and procedures to identify,
measure, and monitor the risks involved in our global trading, bro-
kerage and investment banking activities. Qur approach applies ana-
lytical rigor overlaid with sound practical judgment working
proactively with the business areas before transactions occur to ensure

appropriate risk mitigants are in place.
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We also seek to reduce risk through the diversification of our busi-
nesses, counterparties and activities in geographic regions. We accom-
plish this objective by allocating the usage of capital to each of our
businesses, establishing trading limits and setting credit limits for indi-
vidual counterparties. Our focus is balancing risk versus return. We seek

to achieve adequate returns from each of our businesses commensurate

with the risks they assume. Nonetheless, the effectiveness of our
approach to managing risks can never be completely assured. For exam-
ple, unexpected large or rapid movements or disruptions in one or more
markets or other unforeseen developments could have an adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition. The consequences
of these developments can include losses due to adverse changes in
inventory values, decreases in the liquidity of trading positions, increases
in our credit exposure to customers and counterparties and increases in
general systemic risk.

Our overall risk limits and risk management policies are estab~
lished by the Executive Committee. On a weekly basis, our Risk

Committee, which consists of the Executive Committee, the Chief



+

—

J'A
A.isk Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, reviews all risk exposures,
osition concentrations and risk taking activities. The Global Risk
Tanagement Division (the “Division”) is independent of the trading
areas and reports directly to the Firm’s Chief Administrative Officer.
The Division includes credit risk management, market risk manage-
Iment, quantitative risk management and operational risk management.
Combining these disciplines facilitates a fully integrated approach to
tisk management. The Division maintains staff in each of our regional
rading centers as well as in key sales offices. Risk management per-
sonnel have multiple levels of daily contact with trading staff and sen-
or management at all levels within the Company. These discussions
nclude reviews of trading positions and risk exposures.
Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the possibility a counterparty or an issuer of
securities or other financial instruments we hold will be unable to
honor its contractual obligations to us. Credit risk management is
therefore an integral component of our overall risk management
framework. The Credit Risk Management Department (“CRM
Department”) has global responsibility for implementing our overall
credit risk management framework.
The CRM Department manages the credit exposure related to
trading activities by giving credit approval for counterparties, assigning
internal risk ratings, establishing credit limits by counterparty, country
and industry group, and by requiring master netting agreements and
collateral in appropriate circumstances. The CRM Department consid-
ers the transaction size, the duration of a transaction, along with the
potential credit exposure for complex derivative transactions in mak-
ing our credit decisions. The CRM Department is responsible for the
continuous monitoring and review of counterparty risk ratings, current
credit exposures and potential credit exposures across all products and
recommending valuation adjustments, where appropriate. Credit limits
are reviewed periodically to ensure they remain appropriate in light of
market events or the counterparty’s financial condition.
Credit also has responsibility for portfolio management of coun-
terparty credit risks. This includes monitoring and reporting large
exposures (current credit exposure and maximum potential exposure),
managing concentrations -across countries, industries and products,
ensuring risk ratings are current and performing asset quality portfolio
_trend analyses.
Our Chief Risk Officer is a member of the Investment Banking
Commitment, Investment and Bridge Loan Approval Committees.
Members of Credit and Market Risk Management participate in com-
mittee meetings, vetting and reviewing transactions. Decisions on
approving transactions not only take into account the creditworthiness
of the transaction on a stand-alone basis, but also they take into con-
sideration our aggregate obligor risk, portfolio concentrations, reputa-

tion risk and importantly the impact that any particular transaction

under consideration has on our overall risk appetite. Exceptional trans-
actions and/or situations are addressed and discussed with senior man-
agement, including where appropriate, the Executive Committee.

See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—
Derivatives and other contractual agreements” in this MD&A and Note
3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
about net credit exposure on OTC derivative contracts.

Market Risk

Market risk represents the potential change in value of a portfolio of
financial instruments due to changes in market rates, prices and
volatilities. Market risk management also is an essential component of
our overall risk management framework. The Market Risk
Management Department (the “MRM Department”) has global
responsibility for developing and implementing our overall market
risk management framework. To that end, it is responsible for the
development of the policies and procedures of the market risk man-
agement process; determination of market risk measurement method-
ology in conjunction with the Quantitative Risk Management
Department (the “QRM Department”); monitoring, reporting and
analysis of the aggregate market risk of trading exposures; administra-
tion of market risk limits and the escalation process; and the commu-
nication of large or unusual risks as appropriate. Market risks inherent
in positions includes, but is not limited to, interest rate, equity and for-
eign exchange exposures.

The MRM Department uses qualitative as well as quantitative
information in managing trading risk, believing a combination of the
two approaches results in a more robust and complete approach to the
management of trading risk. Quantitative information is developed
from a variety of risk methodologies based on established statistical
principles. To ensure high standards of analysis, the MRM Department
has retained seasoned risk managers with the requisite experience and
academic and professional credentials.

Market risk is present in cash products, derivatives and contingent
claim structures that exhibit linear as well as non-linear price behavior.
Our exposure to market risk varies in accordance with the volume of
client-driven market-making transactions, the size of our proprietary
positions, and the volatility of financial instruments traded. We seek to
mitigate, whenever possible, excess market risk exposures through
appropriate hedging strategies.

We participate globally in interest rate, equity and foreign
exchange markets. Our Fixed Income Division has a broadly diversified
market presence in U.S. and foreign government bond trading, emerg-
ing market securities, corporate debt (investment and non-investment
grade), money market instruments, mortgages and mortgage- and asset-
backed securides, real estate, municipal bonds and interest rate deriva-

tives. Our Equities Division facilitates domestic and foreign trading in
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equity instruments, indices and related derivatives. Our foreign
exchange businesses are involved in trading currencies on a spot and
forward basis as well as through derivative products and contracts.

We incur short-term interest rate risk in the course of facilitating
the orderly flow of customer transactions through the maintenance of
government and other bond inventories. Market-making in high grade
corporate bonds and high yield instruments exposes us to additional risk
due to potential variations in credit spreads. Trading in international
markets exposes us to spread risk between the term structure of interest
rates in different countries. Mortgages and mortgage-related securities
are subject to prepayment risk and changes in the level of interest rates.
Trading in derivatives and structured products exposes us to changes in
the level and volatility of interest rates. We actively manage interest rate
risk through the use of interest rate futures, options, swaps, forwards and
offsetting cash-market instruments. Inventory holdings, concentrations
and agings are monitored closely and used by management to selectively
hedge or liquidate undesirable exposures.

We are a significant intermediary in the global equity markets
through our market making in U.S. and non-U.S. equity securities,
including common stock, convertible debt, exchange-traded and OTC
equity options, equity swaps and warrants. These activities expose us to
market risk as a result of price and volatility changes in our equity
inventory. Inventory holdings also are subject to market risk resulting
from concentrations and changes in liquidity conditions that may
adversely affect market valuation. Equity market risk is actively managed
through the use of index futures, exchange-traded and OTC options,
swaps and cash instruments.

We enter into foreign exchange transactions to facilitate the pur-
chase and sale of non-dollar instruments, including equity and interest
rate securities. We are exposed to foreign exchange risk on our holdings
of non-dollar assets and liabilities. We are active in many foreign
exchange markets and have exposure to the Euro, Japanese yen, British
pound, Swiss franc and Canadian dollar, as well as a variety of developed
and emerging market currencies. We hedge our risk exposures primar-

ily through the use of currency forwards, swaps, futures and options.
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If any of the strategies used to hedge or otherwise mitigate expa-
sures to the various types of risks described above are not effective, we coul‘
incur losses. See Notes 1 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information about our use of derivative financial instru
ments to hedge interest rate, currency, equity and other market risks. ‘

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failegﬂ
internal processes, people and systems, or from external events}
Operational Risk Management (the “ORM Department”) is responsi«‘L
ble for implementing and maintaining our overall global operational ris
management framework, which seeks to minimize these risks throug]
assessing, reporting, monitoring and mitigating operational risks. 3

Reputational Risk |
We recognize that maintaining our reputation among clients, investorsf
regulators and the general public is an important aspect of minimizing]
legal and operational risks. Maintaining our reputation depends on 2
large number of factors, including the selection of our clients and the
conduct of our business activities. We seek to maintain our reputation
by screening potential clients and by conducting our business activities{
in accordance with high ethical standards.

Potential clients are screened through a multi-step process that
begins with the individual business units and product groups. In screen-
ing clients, these groups undertake a comprehensive review of the client
and its background and the potential transaction to determine, among
other things, whether they pose any risks to our reputation. Potential
transactions are screened by independent committees in the firm, which
are composed of senior members from various corporate divisions of
the Company including members of the Global Risk Management
Division. These conunittees review the nature of the client and its busi-
ness, the due diligence conducted by the business units and product
groups, and the proposed terms of the transaction, in order to determine
overall acceptability of the proposed transaction. In doing so, the com-
mittees evaluate the appropriateness of the transaction, including a con-
sideration of ethical and social responsibility issues and the potential

effect of the transaction on our reputation.




Value At Risk
alue-at-risk (VaR) measures the potential mark-to-market loss over a
specified time horizon and is expressed at a given confidence level. We
r%port an “empirical” VaR calculated based upon the distribution of actual
c“rading revenue. We consider VaR based on net revenue volatility to be a

| - - o .
?onlprehenslve risk measurement tool as it incorporates virtually all of our

i

| At November 30

i IN MILLIONS _»v2004 2003
‘ Interest rate risk N 7$é2.07 . $18.2
Equity prﬂ;e risk 11.0 7.0

f Foreign WexcrhangAeAriAsk 2.8 3.7 »
Diversification benefit (7.9) (7.2)
Cs219 w217

trading activities and types of risk including market, credit and event risks.
The table below presents VaR in 2004 and 2003 for each component of
risk using historical daily net trading revenues. Under this method, we esti-
mate a reporting daily VaR_ using actual daily net trading revenues over the
previous 250 trading days. Such VaR is measured as the loss, relative to the

median daily trading net revenue, at a 95% confidence level.

VALUE AT RISK—-REVENUE VOLATILITY

Year ended November 30

2004 2003
Average High Low Average High Low
732717.; 7 7$.24.27 $18.2 7 $17.6 $19.9 $15.5
9.6 11.0 6.7 72 8.7 6.4
34 3.8 2.7 29 37 22
(1.1 (5.8)
5268 $300  s217 $219  $254  $205

The increase in interest rate risk at November 30, 2004 from November 30,

2003 reflects the increased scale of our fixed income businesses. The increase

in equity risk is primarily related to higher levels of equity positions held.
Beginning with this 2004 Annual Report, we are disclosing an
estimated VaR,, which uses a historical simulation approach. This VaR.
measures market risk associated with substantially all of our financial
instruments. Our estimated VaR measures both linear and non linear
risk at a very granular level to ensure we capture second order risks in
addition to first order risk. We believe both measures of VaR being dis-
closed provide relevant information to financial statement users.
Historical simulation VaR utilizes end-of-day positions to deter-
mine the expected revenue loss at a 95% confidence level over a one-
day tme horizon. Specifically, the historical simulation approach
involves constructing a distribution of hypothetical daily changes in the
value of the trading portfolio based on risk factors embedded in the

current portfolio and historical observations of daily changes in these

IN MILLIONS
Interest rate risk
Equity price risk
Foreign exchange risk

Diversification benefit

VALUE AT RISK—-HISTORICAL SIMULATION

risk factors. Our method uses four years of historical data weighted to
give greater impact to more recent time periods in simulating potential
changes in market risk factors. As there is no uniform industry method-
ology for estimating VaR, different assumptions and methodologies
could produce materially different results and therefore caution should
be utilized when comparing such risk measures across firms. We believe
our models and assumptions utilized in these calculations to be reason-
able and prudent.

We utilize a 95% one-day VaR. which corresponds to the loss in
portfolio value that, based on historically-observed market risk factor
movements, would have been exceeded with a frequency of 5%, or once
in every 20 days if the portfolio were held constant. We perform peri-
odic back-testing comparing actual daily trading revenues against his-
torical simulation VaR to ensure reasonableness of the VaR model.

The following table sets forth historical simulation VaR. at and for

the annual period ended November 30, 2004:

Year ended November 30, 2004

At November 30, 2004 Average ngh Low
R 523.2 - 7 525.8 $31.7 7 5219
11.0 11.2 17.0 6.;77
8.1 4.0 8.7 MA2-.>1 »
(17.7) - (11.7) B
T sae $293  s359  s28
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As with any predictive model, VaR. measures have inherent limitations
including: past changes in market risk factors may not be accurate pre-
dictors of future market movements; the historical market risk factor
data used forVaR estimation may provide only limited insight into losses
that could be incurred under market conditions that are unusual relative
to the historical period used in estimating the VaR; and VaR measure-
ments are based on current positions while future risk depends on
future positions. In addition, a one day historical simulation VaR does
not fully capture the market risk of positions that cannot be liquidated
or hedged within one day. We are aware of these limitations and there-
fore use VaR as only one measure of our assessment of risk. We also uti-
lize other risk analytics to complement VaR, including stress tests and
modeling of event and counterparty risks on a portfolio basis.
Distribution of Daily Net Revenues
Substantially all of the Company’s inventory positions are marked-to-
market daily with changes recorded in net revenues. The following chart
sets forth the frequency distribution for daily net revenues for our Capital
Markets and Investment Management business segments (excluding asset
management fees) for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.
As discussed throughout Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, we seek to reduce risk
through the diversification of our businesses and a focus on customer
flow activities. This diversification and focus, combined with our risk
management controls and processes, helps mitigate the net revenue

volatility inherent in our trading activities. Although historical perform-

IN MILLIONS
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In both 2003 and 2004, daily trading net revenues did not exceed losses
of $30 million on any single day.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles, many of which require the use of
estimates and assumptions. We believe the estimates used in preparing
our financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results
could differ from these estimates particulatly in light of the industry
in which we operate. The following is a summary of our critical
accounting policies and estimates. See Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for a full description of these and other

accounting policies.
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Fair Value
The determination of fair value is a critical accounting policy that is funda-
mental to our financial condition and results of operations. We record finan-
cial instruments classified as Securities and other inventory positions owned
and Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased at
market or fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal
transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. In all instances, we
believe we have established rigorous internal control processes to ensure we

use reasonable and prudent measurements of fair value on a consistent basis.




When evaluating the extent to which estimates may be required

in determining the fair values of assets and liabilities reflected in our

financial statements, we believe it is useful to analyze the balance sheet

as shown in the following table:

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30, 2004

ASSETS
Securities and other inventory positions owned
Securities receivéé ;s c;)lie;ter;]- -
éécurea—ﬁnancings - 7
Rnctc;e»i\bfables ar;n.i- (-)th‘e‘ri a;ssets
Identl:“ﬁable intangible ass;t; ;m-d gc-)oéiwil-l‘ o
Totalagsegs“ - A S
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased

Obligation to return securities received as collateral o
Secured financings

Payables and other accrued liabilities -
Total capital V

Total liabilities and equity

The majority of our assets and liabilities are recorded at amounts for
which significant management estimates are not used. The following bal-
ance sheet categories, comprising 58% of total assets and 72% of total lia-
bilities and equity, are valued either at historical cost or at contract value
(including accrued interest) which, by their nature, do not require the use
of significant estimates: Secured financings, Receivables and other assets,
Payables and other accrued liabilities and Total capital. Securities received
as collateral and Obligation to return securities received as collateral are

recorded at fair value, but due to their offsetting nature do not result in

SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET

$144,468 40%
- T 4,749 1%
AAAA " o 169,829 a8%

34,838 10%
S 3,284 1%
T $357,168 100%
T g g8t 27%
T 4,749 1%
131,735 3%
- 52,997 15%
) T 71,408 20%

$357,168 100%

fair value estimates affecting the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Securities and other inventory positions owned and Securities and other
inventory positions sold but not yet purchased (long and short inventory
positions, respectively), are recorded at market or fair value, the compo-
nents of which may require, to varying degrees, the use of estimates in
determining fair value.

When evaluating the extent to which management estimates may
be used in determining the fair value for long and short inventory, we

believe it is useful to consider separately derivatives and cash instruments.
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Derivatives and other contractual agreements The fair values of
derivative assets and liabilities at November 30, 2004 were $17.5 billion
and $15.2 billion, respectively (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). Included within these amounts were exchange-traded

derivative assets and liabilities of §3.4 billion and $3.6 billion, respec-

FAIR VALUE OF OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS BY MATURITY

tively, for which fair value is determined based on quoted market prices.
The fair values of our OTC derivative assets and liabilities at November
30,2004 were $14.1 billion and $11.6 billion, respectively.

The following table sets the fair value of OTC derivatives by con-

tract type and by remaining contractual maturity:

Cross
Maturity
Less and Cash
IN MILLIONS than 2t0 5 5to 10 Over 10 Collateral
NOVEMBER 30, 2004 1 Year Years Years Years Netting'® Total
ASSETS - I
Interest fate, Eurrenc;/ nand credit default swap; and options $ 2,008 $7,394 $ 8,457 $6,329 $(16,261) $ 7,927
Foreign exchange foﬁard contracts and options 10,939 436 257 23 (9,500) 2,155
Other fixed income sécurities contracts 1,608 19 5 1 - 1,633
Equity contracts 1,056 978 479 56 (230) 2,339
.—3‘15,611 $ 8,827 $9,198 $ 6,409 $(25,991) $14,054
LIABILITIES V V ) S
Interest rate, currency >and credit default swaps and options $ 2,123 $5,374 $ 6,221 $4,512 $(11,566) $ 6,664
Foreign exchange forv;rard contracts and options 11,632 593 103 6 (9,840) 2,494
Other fixed income sécurities contracts 242 36 - - (3) 275
Equity contracts 7 946 1,117 316 79 (292) 2,166
$10943  $7120  $6640  $4597  §(21,701)  $11,599

® Cross-maturity netting represents the netting of receivable balances with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity and product categories. Receivable and payable
balances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within the maturity category when appropriate. Cash collateral received or paid is netted on a

counterparty basis, provided legal right of offset exists.

The majority of our OTC derivatives are transacted in liquid trading
markets for which fair value is determined using pricing models with
readily observable market inputs. Examples of such derivatives include
interest rate swap contracts, TBAs, foreign exchange forward and option
contracts in G-7 currencies and equity swap and option contracts on
listed securities. However, the determination of fair value of certain less
liquid derivatives required the use of significant estimates. Such deriva-
tives include certain credit derivatives, equity option contracts with terms
greater than five years, and certain other complex derivatives we provide
to clients. We strive to limit the use of significant estimates by using con-
sistent pricing assumptions between reporting periods and using
observed market data for model inputs whenever possible. As the market
for complex products develops, we refine our pricing models based on
market experience to use the most current indicators of fair value.
Cash instruments The majority of our non-derivative long and
short inventory (i.e., cash instruments) is recorded at market value based
on listed market prices or using third-party broker quotes and therefore
does not incorporate significant estimates. Examples of inventory valued
in this manner include government securities, agency mortgage-backed

securities, listed equities, money market instruments, municipal securities
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and corporate bonds. However, in certain instances we may deem such
quotations to be unrealizable (e.g., when the instruments are thinly
traded or when we hold a substantial block of a particular security such
that the listed price is not deemed to be readily realizable). In such
instances, we determine fair value based on, among other factors, man-
agement’s best estimate giving appropriate consideration to reported
prices and the extent of public trading in similar securities, the discount
from the listed price associated with the cost at date of acquisition and !
the size of the position held in relation to the liquidity in the market.
When the size of our holding of a listed security is likely to impair our “
ability to realize the quoted market price, we record the position at a dis-

count to the quoted price reflecting our best estimate of fair value.

When quoted prices are not available, fair value is determined based ‘

on pricing models or other valuation techniques, including the use of
implied pricing from similar instruments. Pricing models typically are
used to derive fair value based on the net present value of estimated
future cash flows including adjustments, when appropriate, for liquidity,
credit and/or other factors. For the vast majority of instruments valued
through pricing models, significant estimates are not required because the

market inputs to such models are readily observable and liquid trading

i
|

|

|
|
|

|
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markets provide clear evidence to support the valuations derived from
sych pricing models. Examples of inventory valued using pricing models

ot other valuation techniques for which the use of management estimates

a

te necessary include certain mortgages and mortgage-backed positions,

real estate inventory, non-investment-grade retained interests, certain

d]erivative and other contractual agreements, certain high yield positions
and certain private equity and other principal investments.

Mortgages, mortgage-backed and real estate inventory positions
Mortgages and mortgage-backed positions include mortgage loans
(both residential and commercial) and non-agency mortgage-backed
securities. We are a market leader in mortgage-backed securities trading.
We originate residential and commercial mortgage loans as an extension
f our securitization activities. In 2004 we originated approximately
§65.1 billion of residential mortgage loans and we securitized approxi-
mately $120.5 billion of residential mortgage loans, including both orig-
inated loans and those we acquired in the secondary market. See Note
4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
bout our securitization activities. We record mortgage loans at fair
alue, with related mark-to-market gains and Josses recognized in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Management estimates are generally not required in determining
the fair value of residential mortgage loans because these positions are
ecuritized frequently. Certain commercial mortgage loans and invest-
ments, due to their less liquid nature, may require management estimates
n determining fair value. Fair value for these positions is generally based
opn analyses of both cash flow projections and underlying property val-
ues. We use independent appraisals to support our assessment of the
property in determining fair value for these positions. Fair value for
approximately $3.8 billion and $4.1 billion at November 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively, of our total mortgage loan inventory is determined
using the above valuation methodologies, which may involve the use of
significant estimates. Because a portion of these assets have been financed
on a non-recourse basis, our net investment position is limited to $2.9
billion and $4.1 billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
We invest in real estate through direct investments in equity and
debt. We record real estate held for sale at the lower of cost or fair value.
The assessment of fair value generally requires the use of management
estimates and generally is based on property appraisals provided by third
parties and also incorporates an analysis of the related property cash flow
projections. We had real estate investments of approximately $10.7 bil-
lion and $8.7 billion ac November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Because a significant portion of these assets has been financed on a non-
recourse basis, our net investment position was limited to $4.1 billion
and $2.9 billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

High yield We underwrite, invest and make markets in high yield
corporate debt securities, We also syndicate, trade and invest in loans to
below-investment-grade-rated companies. For purposes of this discus-
sion, high yield debt instruments are defined as securities of or loans to

companies rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recognized

credit rating agencies, as well as non-rated securities or loans that, in
management’s opinion, are non-investment grade. Non-investment
grade securities generally involve greater risks than investment grade
securities due to the issuer’s creditworthiness and the lower liquidity of
the market for such securities. In addition, these issuers generally have
relatively higher levels of indebtedness resulting in an increased sensitiv-
ity to adverse economic conditions. We recognize these risks and seek
to reduce market and credit risk through the diversification of our prod-
ucts and counterparties. High yield debt instruments are carried at fair
value, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions
in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Such instruments at
November 30, 2004 and 2003 included long positions with an aggre-
gate fair value of approximately $4.5 billion and $4.0 billion and short
positions with an aggregate fair value of approximately $0.6 billion and
$0.3 billion, respectively. At November 30, 2004, the largest industry and
geographic concentrations were 17% and 54%, respectively, categorized
within the broad manufacturing industrial classification and in the
United States, respectively. The majority of these positions are valued
using broker quotes or listed market prices. However, at November 30,
2004, approximately $650 million of these positions were valued using
other valuation techniques because there was little or no trading activ-
ity. In such instances, we use prudent judgment in determining fair
value, which may involve using analyses of credit spreads associated with
pricing of similar instruments, or other valuation techniques. We miti-
gate our aggregate and single-issuer net exposure through the use of
derivatives, non-recourse financing and other financial instruments.
Private equity and other principal investments Our Private
Equity business operates in five major asset classes: Merchant Banking,
Real Estate, Venture Capital, Fixed Income Related Investments and
Private Funds Investments. We have raised privately-placed funds in all
of these classes, for which we act as general partner and in which we
have general and in some cases limited partner interests. In addition, we
generally co-invest in the investments made by the funds or may make
other non-fund-related direct investments. We carry our private equity
investments, including our general and limited partnership interests, at
fair value. At November 30, 2004 and 2003, our private equity related
investments totaled $1.5 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively. At

November 30, 2004, the largest industry concentration was 25% and the

largest single-investment exposure was $101 million. In addition to our

private equity investments we held approximately $85 million in
energy-related principal investments ar November 30, 2004, compared
with $80 million at November 30, 2003.

The determination of fair value for these investments often
requires the use of estimates and assumptions because these investments
generally are less liquid and often contain trading restrictions. We esti-
mate that approximately $§189 million of these investments have readily
determinable fair values because they are publicly-traded securities with
limited remaining trading restrictions. For the remainder of these posi-

tions, fair value is based on our assessment of the underlying investments
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incorporating valuations that consider expected cash flows, earnings
multiples and/or comparisons to similar market transactions. Valuation
adjustments, which may involve the use of significant management esti-
mates, are an integral part of pricing these instruments, reflecting con-
sideration of credit quality, concentration risk, sale restrictions and other
liquidity factors. Additional information about our private equity and
other principal investment activities, including related commitments,
can be found in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Non-investment grade retained interests We held approximately
$0.9 billion and $1.0 billion of non-investment grade retained interests
at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Because these interests
primarily represent the junior interests in commercial and residential
mortgage securitizations for which there are not active trading markets,
estimates generally are required in determining fair value. We value
these instruments using prudent estimates of expected cash flows and
consider the valuation of similar transactions in the market. See Note
4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
about the effect of adverse changes in assumptions on the fair value of
these interests.

Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We acquired Neuberger in October 2003 for a net purchase price ini~
tially estimated to be approximately $2.8 billion, excluding net cash and
short-term investments acquired of approximately $276 million. The
cost was allocated to the underlying net assets based on preliminary esti-

mates of their fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the esti~

mated fair values of the net assets acquired (which included certain

intangible assets initially carried at $951 million in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition) was recorded as goodwill. During
2004 we finalized the purchase price valuation and allocation of our
acquisition of Neuberger based on an independent third-party study. As
a result, we reduced our initial estimate of the purchase price by approx~
imately $307 million related to certain securities we issued that were
restricted from resale for periods extending through 2011. The inital
allocation of the purchase price to identifiable tangible and intangible

assets acquired and liabilities assumed did not change.
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Determining the fair values and useful lives of certain assets
acquired and liabilities assumed associated with business acquisitions
intangible assets in particular—requires significant judgment. In addt—
tion, we are required to assess for impairment goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives at least annually using fair valye
measurement techniques. Periodically estimating the fair value of |a
reporting unit and intangible assets with indefinite lives involves signif-
icant judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates anld
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant
effect on whether or not an impairment charge is recognized and thie
magnitude of such a charge. We completed our last goodwill impair-
ment test as of August 31, 2004, and no impairment was identified. |
Real Estate Reconfiguration Charges ]
As a result of our decision to exit our downtown New York area facil"r
ities after the events of September 11, 2001 and our decision in 200%’2
to reconfigure certain of our global teal estate facilities, we recognize
real estate reconfiguration charges in 2004, 2003 and 2002. The recogy
nition of these charges required significant management estimateL
including estimates of the vacancy periods prior to subleasing, the
anticipated rates of subleases, and the amounts of incentives (e.g., fre¢
rent periods) that may be required to induce sub-lessees. See Note 19
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information
about the real estate reconfiguration charges.
Legal Reserves
In the normal course of business we have been named a defendant in
a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory proceedings. Such
proceedings include actions brought against us and others with respect
to transactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial advi
sor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in securi-
ties and commodities and actions brought on behalf of various classes
of claimants against many securities firms, including us. In addition, our
business activities are reviewed by various taxing authorities around the'
world with regard to corporate income tax rules and regulations. We
estimate and provide for potential losses that may arise out of legal, reg-

ulatory and tax proceedings to the extent such losses are probable and

can be estimated. We review outstanding claims with internal and

- . !
external counsel to assess probability and estimates of loss. We reassess|
the risk of loss as new information becomes available, and reserves are

adjusted, as appropriate.




ACCOUNTING AND REGULATORY
DEVELOPMENTS

Ith January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46. In December 2003, the FASB
bvised FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”). We have adopted FIN 46R for all vari-

alble interest entities in which we hold a variable interest. The effect of

by

ajdopting FIN 46R in fiscal 2004 was not material to our financial con-
dition or results of operations. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information about the effect of adopting FIN
4L6R on certain Delaware business trusts formed for the purpose of
Lssuing trust securities.

In May 2004 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No.
FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the

;\/Iedicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003”
[“FSP No. FAS 106-2"), which provides guidance on accounting for the
bffects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003. We adopted FSP No. FAS 106-2 in our
2004 fourth quarter. Adoption did not have a material effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

! In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS 123R. We must adopt
{SFAS 123R by our 2005 fourth quarter. SFAS 123R requires public
jcompanies to recognize expense in the income statement for the grant-
date fair value of awards of equity instruments to employees. Expense is
to be recognized over the period during which employees are required
to provide service. SFAS 123R also clarifies and expands the guidance
in SFAS 123 in several areas, including measuring fair value and
attributing compensation cost to reporting periods. For periods before
the required effective date, companies may elect to apply a modified
version of retrospective application under which financial statements for
prior periods are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma dis-

closures required for those periods by SFAS 123. Under the modified

prospective transition method we expect to apply, compensation cost is
recognized after the date of adoption for the portion of outstanding
awards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123 for which service has
not yet been rendered. We do not expect adoption of SFAS 123R will
have a negative effect on our results of operations and financial condi-
tion, and expect to adopt SFAS 123R in our 2005 fourth quarter.

In December 2004 the FASB issued an FSP regarding the
accounting implications of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the
“Act”) related to the one-time tax benefit for the repatriation of foreign
earnings. The FSP is effective for financial statements for periods ended

after October 22, 2004. The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S.

corporations to repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S.
by providing an 85 percent dividends received deduction for certain
dividends from controlled foreign corporations. The deduction is sub-
ject to a number of limitations and uncertainty remains about how to
interpret numerous provisions in the Act. We are reviewing the Act to
determine the implications of repatriating, out of our accumulated
non-U.S. retained earnings pool, a portion of such earnings that we
currently do not consider to be permanently reinvested in certain for-
eign subsidiaries. We expect the tax benefits associated with any
amount repatriated would not be material to our results of operations
or financial condition.

In June 2004 the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) approved a rule establishing a voluntary framework for com-
prehensive, group-wide risk management procedures and consolidated
supervision of certain financial services holding companies. The frame-
work is designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory burdens on
U.S. securities firms resulting from the European Union (the “EU”)
Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of
financial conglomerates active in the EU.The rule also would allow LBI
to use an alternative method, based on internal models, to calculate net
capital charges for market and derivative-related credit risk. Under this
rule, the SEC has the authority to regulate the holding company and
any unregulated affiliate of a registered broker-dealer, including subject-
ing the holding company to capital requirements generally consistent
with the International Convergence of Capital Measurement and
Capital Standards published by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision. We expect to apply to the SEC in early 2005 for permis-
sion to operate under the rule. We cannot predict the effect these
changes will have on our businesses; however, compliance with consol-
idated supervision and the imposition of revised capital standards could
affect our decisions with respect to raising and using capital.

EFFECTS OF INFLATION
Because our assets are, to a large extent, liquid in nature, they are not
significantly affected by inflation. However, the rate of inflation affects
such expenses as employee compensation, office space leasing costs and
communications charges, which may not be readily recoverable in the
prices of services we offer. To the extent inflation results in rising inter-
est rates and has other adverse effects on the securities markets, it may
adversely affect our consolidated financial condition and results of oper-

ations in certain businesses.

Lehman Brothers 2004
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

69




70

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Managerment’s Assessinent of Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, that Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of November 30, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). The Company’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and pro-
cedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’ assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of November 30, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2004,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated statement of financial condition of the Company as of November 30, 2004 and 2003 and the related
consolidated staterments of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

November 30, 2004 of the Company and our report dated February 14, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

St + LLP

New York, New York
February 14, 2005
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- © REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial condition of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and
Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of November 30, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income,

changes in stockholders” equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2004. These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statemnents are free of material misstatement. Our audits included examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-

porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant esti-
mates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and Subsidiaries at November 30, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three vears in the period ended November 30, 2004, in con-

formity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

St + LLP

New York, New York
February 14, 2005
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MANAGEMENT'S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPQRTING

The management of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control system is designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial report-
ing as of November 30, 2004. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment we
believe that, as of November 30, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
those criteria.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm that audited the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements has issued an attestation report on our assessment of the Company’s internal control over finan-

cial reporting. Their report appears on the preceding page.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

REVENVUES

Principal transactions

Inves;ment banking ' -

Commissions

Interest and dividends

Asset management and other
Total revenues

Interest expense

Net revenues

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

Compensation and benefits

Technology and communications

Brokerage and clearance fees

Occupancy
Professional fees
Business development
Other

Other real estate reconfiguration charge

September 11th related recoveries, net

Regulatory settlement

Total non-interest expenses

Income before taxes and dividends on trust preferred securities

Provision for income taxes

Dividends on trust preferred securities

Net income

Net income applicable to common stock

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic

Diluted

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

INCOME
2004 2003
$ 5,699 ' $ 4,—272
2,188 | %.1,722-
o 1,637 _1,210 .
7 11,032 9942
- 794 ”;41 |
21,250 7177,287
9,674 8640
11,576 8,6477
5,730 4,3i8
764 B 7’598 ‘
453 “ 567 -
421 _ 319 -
252 7 158 '
211 - 149
208 ‘ 125
19 B
8,058 6:11i
h 3,518 "2,536
1,125 V7v65
A 24 h 72
$ 2,369 $ 1,699 -
:~$—2_,297 B $ 1,649
$ 8.36 B .7$’6‘.7>17
$ 7.90 _3 6.35

6,155

2002

$ 1,951

1,731

1,286
11,728
85

16,781

10,626

$ 3.69

$ 3.47
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

IN MILLIONS

NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,440 $ 7,922

Cash and securities segregated and
on deposit for regulatory and other purposes 4,085 3,100
Securities and other inventory positions owned:

(includes $27,418 in 2004 and $32,273

in 2003 pledged as collateral) 144,488 133,634

Securities received as collateral 4,749 3,406

Collateralized agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 95,635 - 87,416
Securities borr-owed 74,294‘_‘< - 51,396
Receivables: B
7 Brokers, Aealer; and clearing organizations 3,400— ) 4,875
Customers ‘ _—1;,241 8,809
» Others 7 2,122 . 1,626
Proéerty, equipﬁént and leasehold improvements
(net of accuﬁulated depreciation and
amortiz;{tion ;>f$1,187 in 2004 and 392i in 2003) V 2,98—8_ 2,806
Other.assets . 3,562 3,510
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwil! (net of accumulated
amort‘iﬂzation of $212 in 2004 ar;d $166 in 2003) ‘ 3,284 3,561
Total assets ' 7”5357,16‘8_'— $312,061

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
{continued)

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Commercial paper and short-term debt $ 2,857—_~ $ 2331
Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purc-hassd 96,281~~ 72,476
Obligation to return securities received as collateral _'4,749 3,406
Collateralized financing:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase - 105,856 - 107,304

Securities loaned 14,158 7 13,988

Other secured borrowings 11,621 14,544
Payables: ‘

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations o 1,7(;5 3,067

Customers - 37,82-4-w 27,666
Accrued liabilities and other payables 10,611 9,266
Long-term debt: B

Senior notes 53,5f6“1 N 41,303

Subordinated indebtedness 2,925 2,226
Total liabilities ~~;;£248— i 297,577
Commitments and contingencies o
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption - 1,310
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock 1,345 1,045
Common stock, $0.10 par value; - )

Shares authorized: 600,000,000 in 2004 and 2003;

Shares issued: 297,796,197 in 2004 and 294,575,285 in 2003; -

Shares outstanding: 274,159,411 in 2004 and 266,679,056 in 2003 A 30 - 29
Additional paid-in capital‘ 5,865 o 6,164
Accumuiated other comprehensive income (net of tax) (E—— (16)
Retained earnings 9,240 o 7,129
Other stockholders’ equity, net o 741 N 1,031
Common stack in treasury, at cost: 23,636,786 shares in 2004 and o

27,896,229 shares in 2003 (2,282) (2,208)
Total stockholders’ equity MNJ.:L_th—Oﬁ o 13,174
Total liabilides and stockholders’ equity ~;3-57,16w8~—— $312,061

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30
PREFERRED STOCK
5:‘;4% Curgléla-t;\;e, Series C:
A iBeg;nnlng anci endi;ng‘l;aiirmcé
5.67% Cumulat’wc, Series D:
-Be—ginnir;g andr en&ing 7bralance
7.115% Fixed/Adlju%table Rate Curﬁulative, Series E: .
» B;é{nning and.end-ingA}V)alance ’ N
6.50% Cu;;lulativ'e:, Seriser: »
Eegilmihg bala;ace S
Shares issued.
Ending balance
Floating Rate (3% Minimum) Cumulative, Series G:
Beginning balance - B
She;;és iésued ' B o )
Ending balance.

Total preferred stock, ending balance

COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.10 PER SHARE
Beéiﬁﬁiné balan_ce - - A
7 Sha—rés i‘ssuéd in ;o;xnéction with Néuge;gér acquisit;on o N
Tssued " - .
Ending bala.nce »
ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL
Beginning Salance
7 RSiJs exéhangeci for Common St;ck 7
E%npjoéwe stocl;gased awards - N
Sﬁares iSSLled to IiSU.;l;rusrt
Ta;c Bz;neﬁt ferr-t;thc igsuance
. of: st;Ek-Al)as;a;i— ;\vards
"Shrz;resrl:ssubed in co;mection
- -with Neu/be;ge; a;:quisition
Nel;g‘e;gér final g;urch:;se pri;e valuat‘ic.)r; adjustment
Othernet -

Ending balance

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Beginning balance

Translation adjustment, net

Ending balance

W Net of income taxes of $(2) in 2004, $(1) in 2003 and $(1) in 2002,

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IN STOCKHOLDERS’

2004 2003
s 250 g 250
200 200
250 250
345 -
- 345
345 345
300 -
300 -
1,345 1,045
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1 1
30 29
6,164 3,628
135 (36)
132 107
(717) (459)
268 543
- 2371
(307) -
(10) 10
5,865 6,164
(16) (13)
@ B
s (19) $ (16)

EQUITY

2002

$ 250
200

250

3,562
63
53

(401)

347

3,628

(10)
©
s (3




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(continued)

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002

RETAINED EARNINGS

Beginning balance - $ 7,129 5,608 4,798
Net income . o 2,369 1,699 §75
Dividends declared: » 7 o

5.94% Cumulative, Sveries C Preferred Stock 7 A (15) 7 (15) (15)
5.67% Cumulative, Series I Preferred Stock B (11;—— ' (11 (11)
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E Preferred Stock - (18_)— - (18) (18)
6.50% Cumulative, Series F Preferred VStock 7 (23) o 6) -
Floating Rate &3% Minimum) Cumulative, Series G I;referred Stock V ” (5)*“ ~ -
Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock - ) ~ (25)
Common Stock 7 N 7 (186) (128) (96)
Ending balance . ‘-‘~972~40 o 7,129 5,608

COMMON STOCK ISSUABLE

Beginning balance 3,353 2822 2933
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock“ 7 {585) {425) (463)
Deferred stock awards grar;ted 1,182 N 957 407
Other, net ' R - (76) (0 (55)
Endiﬁg balance » o A-3jé74——m 3,353 2,822

COMMON STOCK HELD IN RSU TRUST

Beginning balance 7 (852) (754) (827)
Shares issued to RSU Trust 7 —*—(—B*{GT*~ (518) (297)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock 401 B 444 387
Other, net (26) 24) (17
Ending balance » >”~I;353 ) i (852) (754)

DEFERRED STOCK COMPENSATION

Beginning balance ‘ (1,470) (1,119) (1,360)
Deferred stock awards granted o (1,182) (999) (407)
Amortization of.det’erred compensation, net k - 773 625 570
Other, net 99 o 23 78
Ending balance 7 7 (1,78})i o (1,470) (1,119)

COMMON STOCK IN TREASURY, AT COST

Beginning balance (2,208) (1,955) (1,362)
Treasury stock purchased h (2,267) A (1,508) (1,510)
RSUs exchanged for Common Stock - o 49 - 18 -
Employee stock-based awards 551 260 219
Shares issued to RSU Trust ‘ 1,593 977 698
Ending balance ‘*'(—2':{8‘2‘)~/ (2,208) (1,955)
Total stockholders’ equity 7 "51.—4:92;F i $13,174 $ 8,942

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

IN MILLIONS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income $ 2,369 ] $ 1,699 $ 975

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by {used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 428 315 258
Deferred tax benefit ' (74) (166) (670)
Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards o 468 543 347
Amortization of deferred stock compensation ' - 800 625 570
September 11th related recoveries, net - - (108)
Other real estate reconfiguration charge T 77 128
Regulatory settlement o - . - 80
Other adjustments 85 (26) 92
Net change-in: rrrrrrrr
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes ——1585—)— (297) 486
Securities ar;d other inventory positions owned —E;QE’AE)__ (14,736) 1,968
‘ Reesale agreements, net of repurchase agreements ‘7“(97,74“67)Q 19,504 (18,442)
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned (22,728)  (25,048) " (6,907)
Other secured borrowings —_7(72923) 2,700 4,060
Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations —‘1T47~—5___ (1,100) (320)
Receivables from customers ‘ o (‘4 ,43&f— (530) 3,844
Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased 23,;171—~_ 5,326 17,444
Payables to Brokers, dealers and clearing organizarions o "~(H1,—362) 1,280 7 (1,018)
Payables to customers 7-i0,158_~— 10,189 3,646
Accrued liabilities and other payables —1,6957 - 1,736 277
Other ;)peméing assets and liabilities, net ——‘(370) - 346 (693)
Net cash ptovided by (used in) operating activities (10,9I0)-.* 2,437 6,017
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Derivative contracts with financing element 334 110 -
[ssuance ofpaynlénrs for commercial paper and short-term debt, net T 528 (38) (1,623)
Issuance of seniot notes 20,059——' 13,193 8,415
Principal paymen{s of senior notes (9,828)—7 (9,815) (9,014)
Issuance of subordinated indebtedness 426 A 190 -
Principal payments of subordinated indebtedness (992) (322) (715)
Issuance of prefeffed securities subject to mandatory redemption - 600 -
Issuance of common stock 108 37 61
Issuance of preferr-ed stock 7 300 345 7 -
Purchase of treasury stock » (2,26?‘_» (1,508) (1,510)
[ssuance of treasur&l stock 551 260 207
Dividends paid (258) 178 (165)
Net cash provided be {used in) financing activities th”8,9597 2,894 (4,344)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of [;roperty, equipment and leasehold improvements, net {401) (451) (656)
Proceeds from the sale of 3 World Financial Center, net - - 152
Business acquisitioﬁs, net of cash acquired i (130) (657) (31)
Net cash used in investing activities o (531) (1,108) (535)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents - __(2;4;85)'“” 4,223 1,138
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period ' 7,922—'— 3,699 2,561
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 737'75;4;46.-~A § 7,922 $ 3,699

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (IN MILLIONS):
Interest paid totaled $9,534, $8,654 and $10,686 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Income taxes paid totaled $638, $717 and $436 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc. (“Holdings™) and subsidiaries (collectively, the

11373 1373

“Company,” “Lehman Brothers,”“we,” “us” or “our”). We are one of the
leading global investment banks serving institutional, corporate, govern-
ment and high-net-worth individual clients and customers. Our world-
wide headquarters in New York and regional headquarters in London
and Tokyo are complemented by offices in additional locations in North
America, Europe, the Middle East, Latin America and the Asia Pacific
region. We are engaged primarily in providing financial services. The
principal U.S., European, and Asian subsidiaries of Holdings are Lehman
Brothers Inc. (“LBI™), a registered broker-dealer, Lehman Brothers
International (Burope), an authorized investment firm in the United
Kingdom and Lehman Brothers Japan, a registered securities company
in Japan, respectively. All material intercompany accounts and transac-
tions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conform-
ity with generally accepted accounting principles, which require man-
agement to make estimates and assumptons that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Management estimates are required in determining the valuation of
inventory positions, particularly over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives,
certain high yield positions, private equity and other principal invest-
ments, certain non-investment grade retained interests, certain com-
mercial mortgage loans and investments, and certain investments in real
estate. Additionally, significant management estimates are required in
assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the outcome of litigation,
determining the allocation of the cost of acquired businesses to identi-
fiable intangible assets and goodwill, and determining the components
of the September 11th related recoveries, net and the real estate recon-
figuration charges. Management believes the estimates used in prepar-
ing the financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results

could differ from these estimates.
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Certain prior period amounts reflect reclassifications to conform

to the current year’s presentation. '

Consolidation Accounting Policies

Operating Companies Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB™) Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities—an interpretation of ARB No. 51,” (“FIN 46”), which was
issued in January 2003 and revised in December 2003 (“FIN 46R™),
defines the criteria necessary to be considered an operating company
(i.e., a voting-interest entity) for which the consolidation accounting
guidance of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.
94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries,” (“SFAS 94”)
should be applied. As required by SFAS 94, we consolidate operating
companies in which we have a controlling financial interest. The usual
condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority
of the voting interest. FIN 46R defines operating companies as busi-
nesses that have sufficient legal equity to absorb the entities’ expected
losses (presumed to require minimum 10% equity) and, in each case, for
which the equity holders have substantive voting rights and participate
substantively in the gains and losses of such entities. Operating compa-
nies in which we are able to exercise significant influence but do not
control are accounted for under the equity method. Significant influ-
ence generally is deemed to exist when we own 20% to 50% of the vot-
ing equity of a corporation, or when we hold at least 3% of a limited
partnership interest.

Special Purpose Entities Special purpose entities (“SPEs”) are
corporations, trusts or partnerships that are established for a limited pur-
pose. SPEs by their nature generally do not provide equity owners with
significant voting powers because the SPE documents govern all mate-
rial decisions. There are two types of SPEs: qualifying special purpose
entities (“QSPEs”) and variable interest entities (“VIEs”).

A QSPE generally can be described as an entity whose permit-
ted activities are limited to passively holding financial assets and dis-
tributing cash flows to investors based on pre-set terms. Our primary
involvement with SPEs relates to securitization transactions in which
transferred assets, including mortgages, loans, receivables and other
assets, are sold to an SPE that qualifies as a QSPE under SFAS No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities,” (“SFAS 1407). Such transferred assets
are repackaged into securities (i.e., securitized). In accordance with
this guidance, we recognize transfers of financial assets as sales pro-
vided control has been relinquished. Control is deemed to be relin-
quished only when all of the following conditions have been met: (i)
the assets have been isolated from the transferor, even in bankruptcy
or other receivership (true sale opinions are required); (ii) the trans-

feree has the right to pledge or exchange the assets received and (iii)

the transferor has not maintained effective control over the transferred

assets (e.g., a unilateral ability to repurchase a unique or specific asset).
In accordance with SFAS 140 we do not consolidate QSPEs. Rather,

we recognize only our retained interests in the QSPEs, if any. We

Lehman Brothers 2004
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i
account for such retained interests at fair value with changes in falir
value reported in earnings. FIN 46R does not alter the accounting flr
involvement with QSPEs.

Certain SPEs do not meet the QSPE criteria because their per;
mitted activities are not sufficiently limited or because the assets are na
deemed qualifying financial instruments (e.g., real estate). Such SPE]S
are referred to as VIEs and we may use them to create securities with )
unique risk profile desired by investors and as a means of intermedia
ting financial risk. In the normal course of business, we may establis
VIEs, sell assets to VIEs, underwrite, distribute, and make a market
securities issued by VIEs, transact derivatives with VIEs, own securitie%
or residual interests in VIEs, and provide liquidity or other guarantee%
to VIEs. Under FIN 46R,, we are required to consolidate a VIE if we%
are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of such entity. The primary’v
beneficiary is the party that has either a majority of the expected ]ossesjJ
or a majority of the expected residual returns of such entity, as defmed{.‘
In 2004 we adopted FIN 46R for all VIEs in which we hold a Variablei
interest. The effect of adopting FIN 46R in fiscal 2004 was not mate |
rial to our financial condition or results of operations.

At November 30, 2004, we owned all the common equity o
three Delaware business trusts formed for the purpose of (a) issuing
trust securities representing ownership interests in the assets of thel
trust; (b) investing the gross proceeds of the trust securities in junior;
subordinated debentures of Holdings; and () engaging in activities|
necessary or incidental thereto. In connection with the adoption of]
FIN 46R., we were required to deconsolidate the trusts that issued the"‘
trust securities. Accordingly, at November 30, 2004, Subordinated“
indebtedness includes junior subordinated debentures issued to the

trusts that at November 30, 2003 and prior year ends were classified as

Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption. Dividends on
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption, which were pre- \

sented as Dividends on trust preferred securities in the Consolidated !
Statement of Income through February 29, 2004, are included in“
Interest expense subsequent to February 29, 2004. i

Revenue Recognition Policies i
Principal Transactions Financial instruments classified as Securities J

and other inventory positions owned and Securities and other inven- |

tory positions sold but not yet purchased (both of which are recorded |

on a trade-date basis) are valued at market or fair value, as appropriate,

with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in
the Consolidated Statement of Income. We follow the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™) Audit and

Accounting Guide, “Brokers and Dealers in Securities,” (the “Guide”™)
when determining market or fair value for financial instruments.

Market value generally is determined based on listed prices or broker

quotes. In certain instances, such price quotations may be deemed
unreliable when the instruments are thinly traded or when we hold a
substantial block of a particular security and the listed price is not

deemed to be readily realizable. In accordance with the Guide, in these
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ifstances we determine fair value based on management’s best estimate,
Biving appropriate consideration to reported prices and the extent of
Public trading in similar securities, the discount from the listed price
dssociated with the cost at the date of acquisition, and the size of the
I’;osition held in relation to the liquidity in the market, among other
f%ctors,When listed prices or broker quotes are not available, we deter-
thine fair value based on pricing models or other valuation techniques,
Ihcluding the use of implied pricing from similar instruments. We typ-
ieally use pricing models to derive fair value based on the net present
Value of estimated future cash flows including adjustments, when
dppropriate, for liquidity, credit and/or other factors.

Investment Banking Underwriting revenues, net of related
Yinderwriting expenses, and revenues for merger and acquisition advi-
Yory and related services are recognized when services for the transac~
%ions are completed. Direct costs associated with advisory services are
¥ecorded as non-personnel expenses, net of client reimbursements.
Commissions Commissions primarily include fees from execut-
ng and clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures mar-
kets worldwide. These fees are recognized on a trade-date basis.
Investment Advisory Fees Investment advisory fees are recorded
bs earned. Generally, high-net-worth and institutional clients are
kharged or billed quarterly based on the account’s net asset value at the
beginning of a quarter. Investment advisory and administrative fees

earned from our mutual fund business {the “Funds”) are charged

imonthly to the Funds based on average daily net assets under manage-
ment. In certain circumstances, we receive incentive fees when the
return on assets under management exceeds specified benchmarks.
Such incentive fees generally are based on investment performance
over a twelve-month period and are not subject to adjustment after the
measurement period ends. Accordingly, such incentive fees are recog-
nized when the measurement period ends in Asset management and
other in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Private Equity Incentive Fees We receive incentive fees when
the return on certain private equity funds’ investments exceeds speci-
fied threshold returns. Incentive fees typically are based on investment
periods in excess of one year, and future investment underperformance
could require amounts previously distributed to us to be returned to
the funds. Accordingly, incentive fees are recognized in income when
all material contingencies have been substantially resolved.

Interest Revenue/Expense We recognize contractual interest on
Securities and other inventory positions owned and Securities and

other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased on an accrual basis

as a component of Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense,
respectively. Interest flows on derivative transactions are included as
part of the mark-to-market valuation of these contracts in Principal
transactions and are not recognized as a component of interest revenue
or expense. We account for our secured financing activities and short-
and long-term borrowings on an accrual basis with related interest

recorded as interest revenue or interest expense, as applicable.

Securities and Other Inventory Positions
Financial instruments classified as Securities and other inventory positions
owned, including loans, and Securities and other inventory positions
sold but not yet purchased are carried at market or fair value, as appro-
priate, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions
in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Lending commitments also
are recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains or losses recognized in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. We
account for real estate positions held for sale at the lower of cost or fair
value with gains or losses recognized in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. At November 30, 2004 and 2003,
all firm-owned securities pledged to counterparties that have the right,
by contract or custom, to sell or repledge the securites are classified as
Securities and other inventory positions owned (pledged as collateral) as
required by SFAS 140.

Derivative Financial Instruments Derivatives are financial instru-
ments whose value is based on an underlying asset (e.g., Treasury bond),
index (e.g., S&P 500) or reference rate {e.g., LIBOR), and include
futures, forwards, swaps, option contracts, or other financial instruments
with similar characteristics. A derivative contract generally represents a
future commitment to exchange interest payment streams or currencies
based on the contract or notional amount or to purchase or sell other
financial instruments at specified terms on a specified date. OTC deriv-
ative products are privately-negotiated contractual agreements that can
be tailored to meet individual client needs and include forwards, swaps
and certain options including caps, collars and floors. Exchange-traded
derivative products are standardized contracts transacted through regu-
lated exchanges and include futures and certain option contracts listed
on an exchange.

Derivatives are recorded at market or fair value in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition on a net-by-counter-
party basis when a legal right of set-off exists and are netted across prod-
ucts when such provisions are stated in the master netting agreement.
Cash collateral received is netted on a counterparty basis, provided legal
right of offset exists. Derivatives often are referred to as off-balance-
sheet instruments because neither their notional amounts nor the
underlying instruments are reflected as assets or liabilides of the
Company. Instead, the market or fair values related to the derivative
transactions are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition as assets or habilities in Derivatives and other contractual
agreements, as applicable. Margin on futures contracts is included in
receivables and payables from/to brokers, dealers and clearing organiza-
tions, as applicable. Changes in fair values of derivatives are recorded in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income. Market
or fair value generally is determined either by quoted market prices (for
exchange-traded futures and options) or pricing models (for swaps, for-
wards and options). Pricing models use a series of market inputs to
determine the present value of future cash flows with adjustments, as

required, for credit risk and liquidity, risk. Credit-related valuation
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adjustments incorporate historical experience and estimates of expected
losses. Additional valuation adjustments may be recorded, as deemed
appropriate, for new or complex products or for positions with signifi-
cant concentrations. These adjustments are integral components of the
mark-to-market process.

We follow Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 02-03,
“Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading
Purposes and Contracts Involved In Energy Trading and Risk Management
Activities” (“EITF 02-03”) when marking to market our derivative
contracts. Under EITF 02-03, recognition of a trading profit at incep-
tion of a derivative transaction is prohibited unless the fair value of that
derivative is obtained from a quoted market price, supported by com-
parison to other observable market transactions, or based on a valua-
tion technique incorporating observable market data. Subsequent to
the transaction date, we recognize such valuation adjustments in the
period in which the valuation of such instrument becomes observable.

As an end user, we primarily use derivatives to modify the inter-
est rate characteristics of our long-term debt and secured financing
activities. We also use equity derivatives to hedge our exposure to
equity price risk embedded in certain of our debt obligations and for-
eign exchange forwards to manage the currency exposure related to
our net investment in non-U.S.-dollar functional currency operations
(collectively, “End~User Derivative Activities”). The accounting for
End-User Derivative Activities is dependent on the nature of the hedg-
ing relationship. In certain hedging relationships both the derivative
and the hedged item are marked to market through earnings (“fair
value hedge”). In many instances, the hedge relationship is fully-effec-
tive and the mark to market on the derivative and the hedged item off-
set. Certain derivatives embedded in long-term debt are bifurcated
from the debt and marked to market through earnings.

We use fair value hedges primarily to convert a substantial por-
tion of our fixed-rate debt and certain long-term secured financing
activities to floating interest rates. Any hedge ineffectiveness in these
relationships is recorded in Interest expense in the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Gains or losses from revaluing foreign exchange
contracts associated with hedging our net investments in non-U.S.-
dollar

Accumulated other comprehensive income in Stockholders’ equity.

functional currency operations are reported within
Unrealized receivables/payables resulting from the mark to market of
end-user derivatives are included in Securities and other inventory
positions owned or Securities and other inventory positions sold but
not yet purchased.

Private Equity Investments We carry our private equity invest-
ments, including our partnership interests, at fair value based on our
assessment of each underlying investment. The carrying basis of these
investments generally is not increased until an observable market event
(e.g., a financing or an initial public offering) occurs to justify an

increase in the carrying basis.
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Securities Received as Collateral and Obligation
to Return Securities Received as Collateral
When we act as the lender in a securities lending agreement and w¢
receive securities that can be pledged or sold as collateral, we recogniz®
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition an asset, repré‘
senting the securities received (Securities received as collateral) and ia
liability, representing the obligation to return those securitié‘S
(Obligation to return securities received as collateral). |
Secured Financing Activities
Repurchase and Resale Agreements Securities purchased under agreef
ments to tesell and Securities sold under agreements to repurchase;
which are treated as financing transactions for financial reporting pur{
poses, are collateralized primarily by government and governmenft
agency securities and are carried net by counterparty, when permittedp
at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold of
repurchased plus accrued interest. It is our policy to take possession of
securities purchased under agreements to resell. We monitor the marke;
value of the underlying positions on a daily basis compared with ths
related receivable or payable balances, including accrued interest. W
require counterparties to deposit additional collateral or return collat
eral pledged, as necessary, to ensure the market value of the underlying
collateral remains sufficient. Securities and other inventory positions
owned that are financed under repurchase agreements are carried at
market value, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal
transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
We use interest rate swaps as an end user to modify the interest ratel
exposure associated with certain fixed-rate resale and repurchase agree-
ments. We adjust the carrying value of these secured financing transac-
tions that have been designated as the hedged item.
Securities Borrowed and Loaned Securities borrowed and securi-
ties loaned are carried at the amount of cash collateral advanced or
received plus accrued interest. It is our policy to value the securities bor-
rowed and loaned on a daily basis and to obtain additional cash as nec-
essary to ensure such transactions are adequately collateralized.
Other Secured Borrowings Other secured borrowings principally
reflects non-recourse financing, and is recorded at contractual amounts
plus accrued interest.
Long-Lived Assets
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at his-
torical cost, net of accumulated depreciationand amortization.
Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method over the esti-

mated useful lives of the assets. Buildings are depreciated up to a max-

imum of 40 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
lesser of their useful lives or the terms of the underlying leases, ranging
up to 30 years. Equipment, furniture and fixtures are depreciated over
periods of up to 15 years. Internal use software that qualifies for capi-
talization under AICPA Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” is



cag)italjzed and subsequently amortized over the estimated useful life of
thj‘e software, generally three years, with 2 maximum of seven years. We
re\:view long-lived assets for impairment periodically and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts of
th:e assets may be impaired. If the expected future undiscounted cash
ﬂ?ws are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss
Would be recognized to the extent the carrying value of such asse
edceeded its fair value,

! Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Iéentiﬁable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their
eg‘;’pected useful lives. Identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives
aé\d goodwill are not amortized. Instead, these assets are evaluated at
1d:ast annually for impairment. Goodwill is reduced upon the recogni-
ti{on of certain acquired net operating loss carryforward benefits.

H Equity-Based Compensation
S{FAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS
123”) established financial accounting and reporting standards for
equity-based employee and non-employee compensation. SFAS 123
péermits companies to account for equity-based employee compensation
u:sing the intrinsic-value method prescribed by Accounting Principles

oard (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” (“APB 25"), or using the fair-value method prescribed by

;FAS 123. Through November 30, 2003, we followed APB 25 and its
I

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Net income, as reported
Add: stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of related tax effect
Deduct: stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under the fair-value-based method
for all awards, net of related tax effect
Pro forma net income
Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported
Basic, pro forma
Diluted, as reported

Diluted, pro forma

!

related interpretations to account for equity-based employee compen-
sation. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for stock
option awards because the exercise price equaled or exceeded the mar-
ket value of our common stock on the grant date. Compensation
expense for restricted stock units with future service requirements was
recognized over the relevant service periods.

Beginning in 2004, we adopted the fair-value method of account-
ing for equity-based employee awards using the prospective transition
method permiwed by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148"). Under this
method of transition, compensation expense is recognized based on the
fair value of stock options and restricted stock units granted for 2004
and future years over the related service period. Stock options granted
for the years ended November 30, 2003 and before continue to be
accounted for under APB 25.The adoption of SFAS 123 did not have
a material effect on our results of operations or financial condition. See
Accounting Developments below for a discussion of SFAS No. 123
(revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which the
FASB issued in December 2004.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earn-
ings per share for the year ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002. if
the fair-value-based retroactive method prescribed by SFAS 123 had
been applied to all awards granted prior to fiscal year 2004.

EQUITY BASED COMPENSATION-PRO FORMA
NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE

2004 2003 2002
$2,369 $1,699 § 975
464 362 330
(623) (534) (475)
$2,210 §1,527 § 830
$ 8.36 $ 6.71 $ 3.69

$ 7.78 $ 6.01 § 3.10
$ 7.90 $ 6.35 § 3.47

$ 7.42 § 5.77 § 295
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We used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to quantify the pro
forma effects on net income and earnings per share of the fair value of

the stock options granted and outstanding during 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Based on the results of the model, the weighted-average fair values of |

i
the stock options granted were $19.26, $22.02 and $19.07 for 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The weighted-average assumptions used for

2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows: ‘/
t
1

WEIGHTED AVERAGE BLACK-SCHOLES ASSUMPTIONS i

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility 7
Dividends per share
Expected er

The decline in the weighted-average fair value price of stock options
granted in 2004 compared with 2003 resulted from declines in the
weighted average expected life of options awarded in 2004 and
expected volatility. The weighted average expected life of options
awarded in 2004 declined due to a lower number of 10-year options
awarded relative to 5-year options. The expected volatility declined due
to lower volatility in our stock over the historical and future periods we
use to estimate volatility.
Earnings per Common Share
We compute earnings per common share (“EPS™) in accordance with
SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.” Basic EPS is computed by dividing
income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS
reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities. See Notes 13
and 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional informa-
tion about earnings per share.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” (“SFAS 109”). We recognize the current
and deferred tax consequences of all transactions that have been recog-
nized in the financial statements using the provisions of the enacted tax
laws. Deferred tax assets are recognized for temporary differences that
will result in deductible amounts in future years and for tax loss carry~
forwards. We record a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets
to an amount that more likely than not will be realized. Deferred tax
liabilides are recognized for temporary differences that will result in tax-
able income in future years.
Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments not held for resale
with maturities of three months or less when we acquire them.
Foreign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-U.S.-dollar func-
tional currencies are translated at exchange rates ac the Consolidated

Statement of Financial Condition date. Revenues and expenses are
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2004 2003 2002 |

3.04% 3.10% 3.26%

28.09% 35.00% 35.00%

$0.64 $0.48 5036 |

- 3.7 years 4.6 years 7 5.3 years -

i

translated at average exchange rates during the period. The gains ér
losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statemenits
into U.S. dollars, net of hedging gains or losses and taxes, are includejjd
in Accumulated other comprehensive income, a component éf
Stockholders” equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currenc?’
transactions are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Accounting Developments ‘
In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46. In December 2003, the FASB
revised FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”). We have adopted FIN 46R for all Vari!-
able interest entities in which we hold a variable interest. The effect i3
adopting FIN 46R in fiscal 2004 was not material to our financial con
dition or results of operations. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financi g
Statements for additional information about the effect of adopting FI
46R on certain Delaware business trusts formed for the purpose of issut
ing trust securities.

In May 2004 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No
FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to th
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003’
(“FSP No. FAS 106-2"), which provides guidance on accounting for thd
effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003. We adopted FSP No. FAS 106-2 in our
2004 fourth quarter. Adoption did not have a material effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS 123R. We must adop
SEAS 123R by our 2005 fourth quarter. SFAS 123R requires public
companies to recognize expense in the income statement for the grant-
date fair value of awards of equity instruments to employees. Expense is
to be recognized over the period during which employees are required
to provide service. SFAS 123R also clarifies and expands the guidance
in SFAS 123 in several areas, including measuring fair value and
attributing compensation cost to reporting periods. For periods before
the required effective date, companies may elect to apply a modified
version of retrospective application under which financial statements for

prior periods are adjusted on a basis consistent with the pro forma dis-




cl Psures required for those periods by SFAS 123. Under the modified
prospective transition method we expect to apply, compensation cost is
recognized after the date of adoption for the portion of outstanding
av"vards granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123 for which service has
nbt yet been rendered. We do not expect adoption of SFAS 123R will
have a negative effect on our results of operations and financial condi-
ti;)n, and expect to adopt SFAS 123R in our 2005 fourth quarter.

In December 2004 the FASB issued an FSP regarding the account-
ing implications of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”)
related to the one-time tax benefic for the repatriation of foreign earn-

ings. The FSP is effective for financial statements for periods ended after

October 22,2004. The Act creates a temporary incentive for U.S. corpo-
rations to repatriate accumulated income earned outside the U.S. by pro-
viding an 85 percent dividends received deduction for certain dividends
from controlled foreign corporations. The deduction is subject to a num-
ber of limitations and uncertainty remains about how to interpret
numerous provisions in the Act. We are reviewing the Act to determine
the implications of repatriating, out of our accumulated non-U.S.
retained earnings pool, a portion of such earnings that we currently do
not consider to be permanently reinvested in certain foreign subsidiaries.
We expect the tax benefits associated with any amount repatriated would

not be material to our results of operations or financial condition.

!

] , SECURITIES AND OTHER

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Mortgages, mortgage-backed and real estate inventory positions
Government and agencies

Derivatives and other contractual agreements

Corporate debt and other
Corporate equities

Certificates of deposit and other money market instruments

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, Securities and other inventory posi-
tions owned included approximately $10.7 billion and $8.7 billion,

respectively, of real estate held for sale. Our net investment position

NOTE 2 SECURITIES AND OTHER

INVENTORY POSITIONS

Securites and other inventory positions owned and Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased were comprised of the following:

INVENTORY POSITIONS

Sold But Not

Qwned Yet Purchased
2004 2003 2004 2003
§ 43,831 § 38,957 s 246 § 101
29,829 31,666 46,697 44150
17,459 15766 15242 11,440
T 24948 20,069 10,988 5,791
26,772 2889 23,019 10935
1,629 4287 89 59
'$144,468  $133,634 s 96,281 §72,476

after giving effect to non-recourse financing was $4.1 billion and $2.9
billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In the normal course of business, we enter into derivative transactions
both in a trading capacity and as an end-user. Our derivative activities
(both trading and end-user) are recorded at fair value in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. Acting in a trading
capacity, we enter into derivative transactions to satisfy the needs of our
clients and to manage our own exposure to market and credit risks
resulting from our trading activities (collectively, “Trading-Related
Derivative Activities”). As an end-user, we primarily enter into interest
rate swap and option contracts to adjust the interest rate nature of our
funding sources from fixed to floating rates and to change the index on

which floating interest rates are based (e.g., Prime to LIBOR)).

NOTE 3 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

Derivatives are subject to various risks similar to other financial
instruments, including market, credit and operational risk. In addition, we
may be exposed to legal risks related to derivative activities, including the
possibility a transaction may be unenforceable under applicable law.
The risks of derivatives should not be viewed in isolation, but rather
should be considered on an aggregate basis along with our other trad-
ing-related activities. We manage the risks associated with derivatives
on an aggregate basis along with the risks associated with proprietary
trading and market-making activities in cash instruments, as part of our

firmwide risk managemenc policies.
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We record derivative contracts at fair value with realized and unre-
alized gains and losses recognized in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Unrealized gains and losses on
derivative contracts are recorded on a net basis in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial ICondition for those transactions with counter-
parties executed under a legally enforceable master netting agreement
and are netted across products when such provisions are stated in the
master netting agreement. We offer equity, fixed income and foreign
exchange derivative products to customers. Because of the integrated
nature of the market for such products, each product area trades cash

instruments as well as derivative products.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND
OTHER CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and optlons
(including caps, coHars and floors)
Foreign exchange forward contracts and optlons
Other fixed income securities contracts (including TBAs and forwards)

Equity contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and options)

 Amounts do not include receivables or payables related to exchange-traded futures contracts.

The primary difference in risks between OTC and exchange-traded

gains, net of collateral, from various counterparties for the duration of

the contract. With respect to OTC contracts, we view our net credit

contracts is credit risk. OTC contracts contain credit risk for unrealized |
|
|
i
i

exposure to be $11.3 billion and $9.5 billion at November 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively, representing the fair value of OTC contracts in an

|
unrealized gain position, after consideration of collateral. Counterparties |
|

to our OTC derivative products primarily are U.S. and foreign banks,

NET CREDIT

COUNTERPARTY S&P/Maody’s
RISK RATING Equivalent
1AAA AAA/Aaa
1AA ‘ AA/Aa

iA “ A/A
{BBB BBB/Baa
1BB BB/Ba

iB or lower v B/B1 or lower
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The following table presents the fair value of derivatives at Novemkier
30,2004 and 2003. Assets included in the table represent unrealized gairl‘xs,
net of unrealized losses for situations in which we have a master nettiﬁg
agreement. Similarly, Habilities represent net amounts owed to counterpal—
ties. The fair value of assets/liabilities related to derivative contracts ‘i‘at
November 30, 2004 and 2003 represents our net receivable/payable for
derivative financial instruments before consideration of securities co]laterj].
Included within the $17.5 billion fair value of assets at November 30, 200k
was $3.4 billion related to exchange-traded option and warrant contrac
Included within the $15.8 billion fair value of assets at November 30, 200

was $2.2 billion related to exchange-traded option and warrant contrac

#® P

S DEUUSUIU - SU =2

2004 20030
Assets VLIabiIitIes Assets Liabilities
$7,927  § 6,664 $ 7,602 § 5,614
2,155 2,494 1,807 1,082
1,633 275 1,264 750
5,744 5,809 5,093 3,004
© $17,459 '$15,242 $15,766 $11,440

securities firms, corporations, governments and their agencies, finance

companies, insurance companies, investment companies and pension‘
funds. Collateral held related to OTC contracts generally includes U.S. ‘
government and federal agency securities.

Presented below is an analysis of net credit exposure at November |
30, 2004 for OTC contracts based on actual ratings made by external |
rating agencies or by equivalent ratings established and used by our |

Credit Risk Management Department.

EXPOSURE
Less Greater
than 1-5 5-10 than Total
1 Year Years Years 10Years 2004 2003
6% 3% 3% 3% 15% 15%
16 6 7 § a1 30
11 6 4 10 _3f 34
3 3 2 4 12 18
1 1 1 1 —‘;— 2
1 - - - - 1— 1
8% 19% 7% 26%  100%  100%




We also are subject to credit risk related to exchange-traded deriv-
ative contracts. Exchange-traded contracts, including futures and
ceftain options, are transacted directly on exchanges. To protect
" agpinst the potential for a default, all exchange clearinghouses
indpose net capital requirements for their membership. Additionally,
exchange clearinghouses require counterparties to futures contracts
tof post margin upon the origination of the concracts and for any
changes in the market value of the contracts on a daily basis (cer-
tain foreign exchanges provide for settlement within three days).
Therefore, the potential for credit losses from exchange-traded
products is limited.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Al substantial portion of our securities transactions are collateralized and

aqe executed with, and on behalf of, commercial banks and other insti-

tional investors, including other brokers and dealers. Our exposure to

o
—

We are a market leader in mortgage- and asset-backed securitiza-

=

ons and other structured financing arrangements. In connection
with these activities, we use SPEs primarily for (but not limited to)
the securitization of commercial and residential mortgages, home
gquity loans, government and corporate bonds, and lease and trade
eceivables. The majority of our involvement with SPEs relates to
securitization transactions meeting the SFAS 140 definition of a
(JSPE. Based on the guidance in SFAS 140, we do not consolidate

uch QSPEs. We derecognize financial assets transferred in securiti-
rations, provided we have relinquished control over such assets. We
may retain an interest in the financial assets we securitize (“retained
nterests”), which may include assets in the form of residual interests
n the SPEs established to facilitate the securitization. Retained
interests are included in Securities and other inventory positions
owned (primarily Mortgages and mortgage-backed) in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. For further infor-
mation regarding the accounting for securitization transactions, refer
to Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—

Consolidation Accounting Policies.

NOTE 4 SECURITIZATIONS AND OTHER

credit risk associated with the non-performance of these customers and
counterparties in fulfilling their contractual obligations pursuant to
securities transactions can be directly affected by volatile or illiquid
trading markets, which may impair the ability of customers and coun-
terparties to satisfy their obligations to us.

Securities and other inventory positions owned include U.S.
government and agency securities and securities issued by non-U.S.
governments, which in the aggregate, represented 8% of total assets at
November 30, 2004. In addition, collateral held for resale agreements
represented approximately 27% of total assets at November 30, 2004,
and primarily consisted of securities issued by the U.S. government,
federal agencies or non-U.S. governments. Qur most significant
industry concentration is financial institutions, which includes other
brokers and dealers, commercial banks and institutional clients. This

concentration arises in the normal course of business.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

During 2004 and 2003, we securitized approximately $139.4 bil-
lion -and $146.1 billion of financial assets, including $120.5 billion and
$125.7 billion of residential mortgages, $8.3 billion and $9.7 billion of
commercial mortgages and $10.6 billion and $10.7 billion of municipal
and other-asset-backed financial instruments, respectively. We originate
residential and commercial loans as an extension of our securitization
activities. In this regard we originated approximately $63.1 billion of res-
idential mortgage loans in 2004. At November 30, 2004 and 2003, we
had approximately $0.9 and $1.0 billion, respectively, of non-investment
grade retained interests from our securitization activites (primarily jun-
ior security interests in securitizations). We record inventory positions
held prior to securitization, including residential and commercial loans,
at fair value, as well as any retained interests post-securitization. Mark-to-
market gains or losses are recorded in Principal transactions in the
Consolidated Statement of Income. Fair value is determined based on
listed market prices, if available. When market prices are not available, fair
value is determined based on valuation pricing models that take into
account relevant factors such as discount, credit and prepayment assump-

tions, and also considers comparisons to similar market transactdons.
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The table below presents the financial assets securitized together
with cash flows received from securitization trusts for the years ended
November 30,2004 and 2003 and the fair value of retained interests, the

key economic assumptions used in measuring the fair value of retained

interests and the sensitivity of the fair value of the retained interests| to
' !
immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in the valuation assumptigns

at November 30, 2004 and 2003.

SECURITIZATION ACTIVITY

|
!
Municipal \

2004 2003
Municipal
and and
Other Other

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Residential Commercial Asset- Residential Commercial Asset-
NOVEMBER 30 Mortgages  Mortgages Backed Mortgages Mortgages Backed
Financial assets securitized S - V

(year ended November 30) $120,491 $8,349 510,568 $125,671 $9,655 $10,738
Retined interests ' s 464 Y s 302 § 57 s 28 8 239
Weighted-average lifc-a “(yea‘rs) - 5 1 7 4 1 7
Annual prepayment rate (CPR)™ 8-90 0 0-12 5-90 0-15 0-12
Credit loss sssumption 0.5-9% 0-1.2% 1-4% 0.5-7% 2-27% 3-12%
Weighted-average disc;)unt rate 24% 15% 3% 21% 17% 3%
Prepayment speed: »

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 4 s - $ - $ 2 $ - $ -

Effect of 20% adverse change $ 11 - $ - $ 5 $ - $ -
Assumed credit 1osses;

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 13 - $ 7 8 21 $ 6 $ 9

Effect of 20% adverse change 28 s 4 s 14§ 40 $ 6 s 18
Discount rate:

Effect of 10% adverse change $ 16 $ 2 $ 26 $ 25 5 - $ 23

Effect of 20% adverse change‘ ' 28 $ 3 $ 52 $ 49 5 - $ 45
Cash flows received frc;m securitization t.rusts 7 o

(year ended Noveml;er 30) o
Purchases of delinqucn“t loans $ - - - $ 155 $ - $ -
Cash flows received on retained interests ‘ $ 172 8 $ 165 $ 214 $ 11 § 11t
M Constant prepayment rate.

The sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with caution with SPEs that do not meet the QSPE criteria due to their permitted

because the stresses are performed without considering the effect of
hedges, which serve to reduce our actual risk. In addition, these results
are calculated by stressing a particular economic assumption independ-
ent of changes in any other assumption (as required by U.S. GAAP); in
reality, changes in one factor often result in changes in another factor
(for example, changes in discount rates will often affect expected pre-
payment speeds). Further, changes in the fair value based on a 10% or
20% variation in an assumption should not be extrapolated because the
relationship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value
may not be linear.

Non-QSPE activities Substantially all of our securitization activ-
ities are transacted through QSPEs, including residential and commer-

cial mortgage securitizations. However, we also are actively involved
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activities not being sufficiently limited or because the assets are noti
deemed qualifying financial instruments (e.g,, real estate). Our involve- |
ment with such SPEs includes collateralized debt obligations !
(“CDOs”), credit-linked notes and other structured financing transac-
tions designed to meet customers’ investing or financing needs.

A CDO transaction involves the purchase by an SPE of a diversi-
fied portfolio of securities and/or loans that are then managed by an
independent asset manager. Interests in the SPE (debt and equity) are
sold to third party investors. Our primary role is limited to acting as

structuring and placement agent, warehouse provider, underwriter and

market maker in the related CDO securities. In a typical CDQ, at the

direction of a third party asset manager, we temporarily will warehouse

securities or loans on our balance sheet pending the sale to the SPE 1



orjce the permanent financing is completed in the capital markets. At
November 30, 2004, we owned approximately $114 million of equity
sefurities in CDOs. Because our investments do not represent a major-
ity of any CDO equity class, we are not deemed the primary benefici-
afy of the CDOs and therefore we do not consolidate such SPEs.

We are a dealer in credit default swaps and, as such, we make a
market in buying and selling credit protection on single issuers as well
af on portfolios of credit exposures. One of the mechanisms we use to
n,il.itigate credit risk is to enter into default swaps with SPEs, in which

ve purchase default protection. In these transactions, the SPE issues
d([redit-linked notes to investors and uses the proceeds to invest in high
éuality collateral. We pay a premium to the SPE for assuming credit risk
dnder the default swap. Third-party investors in these SPEs are subject
t;o default risk associated with the referenced obligations under the
%lefault swap as well as the credit risk of the assets held by the SPE. Our
gllaxjmu111 loss associated with our involvement with such credit-linked
hote transactions is the fair value of our credit default swaps with such
SPEs, which amount to $110 million and $229 million at November
!;BO, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In addition, our default swaps are
Secured by the value of the underlying investment-grade collateral held
by the SPEs which was $4.4 billion and $6.6 billion at November 30,

2004 and 2003, respectively. Because the results of our expected loss
calculations generally demonstrate the investors in the SPE bear a
majority of the entity’s expected losses (because the investors assume
defaulr risk associated with both the reference portfolio and the SPE’s
assets), we generally are not deemed to be the primary beneficiary of
these transactions and therefore do not consolidate such SPEs.
However, in certain credit default transactions, generally when we par-
ticipate in the fixed interest rate risk associated with the underlying
collateral through an interest rate swap, we are deemed to be the pri-
mary beneficiary of such transaction and therefore have consolidated
the SPEs. At November 30, 2004 we consolidated approximately $0.7
biflion of such credit default transactions.

We also invest in real estate directly, through controlled subsidiaries
and through variable interest entities. We consolidate our investments in
variable interest entities when we are deemed to be the primary bene-
ficiary. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a dis-
cussion of our real estate related investments.

In addition, we enter into other transactions with SPEs designed
to meet customers’ investment and/or funding needs. See Note 11 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about

these transactions and SPE-related commitments.

We enter into secured borrowing and lending transactions to finance
inventory positions, obtain securities for settlement and meet customers’
needs. We receive collateral in connection with resale agreements, secu~
rities borrowed transactions, borrow/pledge transactions, customer mar-
gin loans and certain other loans. We generally are permitted to sell or
repledge these securities held as collateral and use the securities to
secure repurchase agreements, enter into securities lending transactions
or deliver to counterparties to cover short positions. We carry secured
financing agreements on a net basis when permitted under the provi-
sions of FASB Interpretation No. 41, “Offsetting of Amounts Related to
Certain Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements” (“FIN 417).

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, the fair value of securities received
as collateral and securities and other inventory positions owned that have
not been sold, repledged or otherwise encumbered totaled approximately
£90 billion and $67 billion, respectively. At November 30,2004 and 2003,
the gross fair value of securities received as collateral that we were per-
mitted to sell or repledge was approximately $524 billion and $413 bil-
lion, respectively. Of this collateral, approximately $487 billion and $385

NOTE 5 SECURITIES PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, has been sold or
repledged, generally as collateral under repurchase agreements or to cover
Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased.
Included in the §487 billion and $385 billion at November 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively, were pledged securities, primarily fixed income, having
a market value of approximately $91 billion and $56 billion, respectively,
as collateral for securities borrowed having a market value of approxi-
mately $90 billion and $35 billion, respectively.

We also pledge our own assets, primarily to collateralize certain
financing arrangements. These pledged securities, where the counter-
party has the right, by contract or custom, to rehypothecate the finan-
cial instruments are classified as Securities and other inventory positions
owned, pledged as collateral, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition as required by SFAS 140.

The carrying value of Securities and other inventory positions
owned that have been pledged or otherwise encumbered to counterpar-
ties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge
was approximately $47 billion at both November 30, 2004 and 2003.
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NOTE 6 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In October 2003, we acquired Neuberger Berman Inc. and its sub-
sidiaries (“Neuberger”) by means of a merger into a wholly-owned sub-
sidiary of Holdings. The results of Neuberger’s operations are included in
the Consolidated Financial Statements since that date. Neuberger is an
investment advisory company that engages in wealth management serv-
ices including private asset management, tax and financial planning, and
personal and institutional trust services, mutual funds, insttutional man-
agement and alternative investments, and professional securities services.

We purchased Neuberger for a net purchase price of approximately
$2.5 billion, including cash consideration and incidental costs of $682 mil-

lion, equity consideration of $2.1 billion (including 32.3 million shares of

common stock, 0.3 million shares of restricted common stock and 3.5 mil-
lion vested stock options) and excluding net cash and short-term invest-

ments acquired of $276 million. We also issued approximately 0.5 million

IN MILLIONS

OCTOBER 31, 2003 Assets
Cash, receivables and ﬁ.nancial instruments $2,717
Fixed and other assets 212
Amortizable intangib]e’ assets 431
Indefinite-life intangible assets 520
Gooduwil ' 1,945

$5,825

The $431 million of acquired amortizable intangible assets are being amor-
tized over a weighted-average useful life of approximately 16 vears. The
amortizable intangible assets include computer software with an initial cost
of $29 million (five-year weighted-average useful life) and customer lists
with an initial cost of $402 million (17 year weighted-average useful life).
Indefinite-life intangible assets consist of the Neuberger Berman trade name
and mutual fund customer-related intangibles. The $1.9 billion of goodwill
was assigned to the Investment Management business segment.

During 2003, we also acquired two originators and servicers of resi-
dential loans, a diversified private equity fund investment manager, and a
fixed income asset management business for an aggregate total cost of $172
million, which was paid in cash and notes. Goodwill recognized in those
' transactions totaled $113 million and is expected to be deductible for tax
purposes. Goodwill assigned to the Capital Markets and Investment Man-
agement business segments totaled $19 million and $94 million, respectively.

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED
INCOME

STATEMENT OF

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Net revenues

Net income

Basic earnings per share

Diluted éafniﬁgs per share
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shares of restricted common stock valued at $42 million, which is subject| to
future service requirements and is being amortized over the applicable setv-
ice periods. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statermnents for addi-
tional information about our incentive plans. The value of freely-tradable
common shares issued used to record the transaction was determined based
on the average closing market price of our common shares from October
27,2003 through October 31, 2003. Certain common shares issued subje“ct
to sale restrictions extending through 2011 were valued at a weighted aver-
age discount to market value of approximately 25%, based on an indepenc}l-
ent third-party valuation. The vested stock options issued were valued using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and had a weighted-average life of
approximately seven years and a weighted-average exercise price of 360.1(}‘

The following table summarizes the fair values of the Neuberger asse%s

acquired and liabilities assumed at October 31,2003, the date of acquisitioni.

FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS ACQUIRED
AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED

?
|
|

Liabilities
Liabilities and financial instruments $2,469 ‘
Deferred tax liability 420 l
Long-term debt 181
Total liabilities assumed 3,070
Gross purchase price 2,755
$5,825

During 2004, we acquired three mortgage originaton platforms for an
aggregate cost of $184 million. Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill
recognized in these transactions totaled $27 million and $34 million, respec-
tvely, and are expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill was
assigned to the Capital Markets business segment. These acquisitions com-
pleted early in 2004 have been included in substantially all of our 2004
results and were not material to our 2003 results.

The following table sets forth unaudited pro forma combined
operating results for the years ended November 30, 2003 and 2002 as if
the 2003 acquisitions discussed above had been completed at the begin-
ning of 2003 and 2002. These pro forma amounts do not consider any
anticipated revenue or expense saving synergies. In addition, the
Neuberger acquisition occurred at October 31, 2003 when Neuberger
assets under management totaled approximately $68 billion while assets

under management at the beginning of 2003 totaled 856 billion.

INFORMATION
2003 2002

$9,383 $6,981

1,722 1,014

6.24 3.64

5.93 3.44



NOTE 7 IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

ggregate amortization expense for the years ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $47 million, $11 million, and $5 million, respectively.

stimated amortization expense for each of the years ending November 30, 2005 through 2009 is approximately $40 million.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer lists

i Other

Intangible assets not subject to amortization:
Mutual fund customer-related intangibles

Trade name

IN MILLIONS

Balance (net) at November 30, 2002

Goodwill acquired

Balance (net) at November 30, 2003

Goodwill acquired

Goodwill disposed

Reecognition of acquired tax benefit

Neuberger final purchase price valuation adjustment

Balance (net) at November 30, 2004

During 2004 we finalized the purchase price valuation and alloca-
tion of our October 31, 2003 acquisition of Neuberger, based on an
independent third-party study. As a result, we reduced the valuation

of the purchase price by approximately $307 million related to cer-

2004 2003
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
$490 $ 47 $448 $ 11
96 34 100 23
$586 $ 81 $548 $ 34
$395 $395
125 ' 125
$520 8520

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003, are as follows:

GOODWILL

Capital Investment

Markets Management Total

$ 135 § 25 § 160
19 2,348 2,367
154 2,373 2,527
34 41 75
@3 - 3)
(13) - (13)
- (307) (307

$ 152 $2,107 $2,259

tain securities we issued that were restricted from resale for periods
extending through 2011. The initial allocation of the purchase price
to identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities

assumed did not change.
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NOTE 8 SHORT-TE

We obtain short-term financing on both a secured and unsecured basis. \
Secured financing is obtained through the use of repurchase agree-
ments and securities loaned agreements, which are primarily collater- [

[

alized by government, government agency and equity securities. The

{
RM FINANCINGS

i
unsecured financing is generally obtained through short-term debt avxd
' I

the issuance of commercial paper.

Short-term financings consists of the following:

SHORT-TERM FINANCINGS

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Commercial paper

Other short-term debt

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, the weighted-average interest rates for short-term financings, including commercial paper, were 2.0% and 1.2%, respectively,

2004 2003
51,6%0 $1,559
1,87 72
2887 s 1

NOTE 9 LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following:

LONG-TERM DEBT

IN MILLIONS U.S. Dollar Non-U.S. Dollar Total
NOVEMBER 30 Fixed Rate  Floating Rate Fixed Rate  Floating Rate 2004 2003
SENIOR NOTES ‘ "
Maturing in fiscal 2004 $ - $ - $ - $ ~ —Sﬁ - § 7,418
Maturing in fiscal 2005 1,869 3,367 342 1,444 7,022 738
Maturing in fiscal 2006 3,164 5,565 993 2,574 12,296 6584
Maturing in fiscal 2007 1,489 2,025 1,853 1,371 6,738 4655
Maturing in fiscal 2008 3,536 676 121 1,494 ‘ 5,827 5,550
Maturing in fiscal 2009 1627 1,096 440 2,676 " 5839 1913
December 1,2009 and thereafter 6,690 1,969 3,132 4,048 15,839 7840

Senior Notes ‘ 18,375 14,698 6,381 13,607 53,561 41,303
SUBORDINATED INDEBTEDNESS
Maturing in fiscal 2004 - - - - - 226
Maturing in fiscal 2005 9% - 3 - 99 105
Maturing in fiscal 2006 323 - - - T 323 331
Maturing in fiscal 2007 321 - 11 - ) 332 344
Maturing in fiscal 2008 637 86 - - - 723 772
Maturing in fiscal 2009 . - - - - - -
December 1, 2009 and thereafter 1.332 116 - - ﬂl,448 448

Subordinated Indebtedness 2,709 202 14 - T 2825 222

' $21,084 $14,900 36,895 $13,607 © $56,486 843,529

At November 30, 2004, $52 million of outstanding long-term debt is
repayable at par value prior to maturity at the option of the holder. |
These obligations are reflected in the above table as maturing at their |

put dates, which range from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2007, rather than at
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their contractual maturities, which range from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2021.
In addition, $5.7 billion of long-term debt is redeemable prior to matu-
rity at our option under various terms and conditions. These obligations

are reflected in the above table at their contractual maturity dates.

|
|




/
l
{
/
-
’

N4
Eictendible debt structures totaling approximately $4.0 billion are shown
it the above table at their earliest maturity dates in fiscal 2006 and 2007.
'ilch debt is automatically extended unless debt holders instruct us to
redeem their debt at least one year prior to the earliest maturity date.
At November 30, 2004, our U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar debt
portfolios included approximately $6.0 billion and $7.7 billion, respec-
tively, of debt for which the interest rates and/or redemption values are
linked to the performance of various indices, including industry baskets
f stocks, commodities or events. Generally, such notes are issued as
floating rate notes or the interest rates on such index notes are effec-
tively converted to floating rates based primarily on LIBOR through
he use of interest rate, currency and equity swaps.

End-User Derivative Activities

We use a variety of derivative products including interest rate, currency

| . . . -
and equity swaps as an end user to modify the interest rate characteristics

 EFFECTIVE WEIGHTED-AVERAGE

of our long-term debt portfolio. We use interest rate swaps to convert a
substantial portion of our fixed rate debt to floating interest rates to more
closely match the terms of assets being funded and to minimize interest
rate risk. In addition, we use cross-currency swaps to hedge our exposure
to foreign currency risk arising from our non-U.S. dollar debt obligations,
after consideration of non-U.S. dollar assets that are funded with long-
term debt obligations in the same currency. In certain instances, we may
use two or more derivative contracts to manage the interest rate nature
and/or currency exposure of an individual long-term debt issuance.

At November 30, 2004 and 2003, the notional amounts of inter-
est rate, currency and equity swaps related to long-term debt obliga-
tions were approximately $68.2 billion and $57.6 billion, respectively.
In addition, end-user derivative activities resulted in the following
changes to the mix of fixed and floating rate debt and effective

weighted-average interest rates:

| INTEREST RATES OF LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-Term Debt

Weighted-Average®

Before After Contractual Effective Rate
End-User End-User Interest After End-User
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS _Activities Activities Rate Activities
NOVEMBER 30, 2004 S - 7 -
U.S. dollar obligations:
Fixed rate $21,084 $ 712
Floating rate 14,900 41,095 -
Total US. dollar obligations 35,984 41,807 T w288
Non-U.S. dollar obligations -—.2-6,-53-2_-." ‘—h*-14,6:19 R S -
$56,486 $56,486  4.01%  2.59%
NOVEMBER 30, 2003
U.S. dollar obligations:
Fixed rate $19,052 $ 305
Floating rate 7 9,‘;347- 7 34,-600
Total U.S. dollar obligations 28,986 34,905 4.73% 1.71%
Non-U.S. dollar obligations 14,543 8,624
‘ $43,529 $43,529 4.20% 1.86%

- Weighted-average interest rates were calculated using non-U.S.-dollar interest rates, when applicable.

In March 2002, we issued 8575 million of floating rate convertible notes.
The notes had a variable interest rate of three-month LIBOR minus 90
basis points per annum (subject to adjustment in certain events). We
redeemed all the notes for cash in April 2004. As a result of the Neuberger
merger, on October 31,2003 we assumed all obligations under an aggre-
gate of $166 million of zero~coupon convertible notes due May 4, 2021.
We redeemed substantially all the notes for cash in May 2004.
Credit Facilities
We maintain a revolving credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with

a syndicate of banks under which the banks have committed to provide up

to §1.5 billion through April 2007. The Credit Agreement contains
covenants that require, among other things, that we maintain a specified
level of tangible net worth. We also maintain a $1.0 billion multi-currency
unsecured committed revolving credit facilicy with a syndicate of banks for
Lehman Brothers Bankhaus AG (LBBAG) (the “Facility”). The Facility has
a term of three and a half years expiring on April 26, 2008. There were no
borrowings outstanding under either the Credit Agreement or the Facility
at November 30,2004, although drawings have been made under both and
repaid from time to time during the year. We have maintained compliance

with the material covenants under these credit agreements at all dmes.
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Junior Subordinated Debentures
At November 30, 2004, we owned all the common equity of three
Delaware business trusts that had issued an aggregate liquidation value
of $1.0 billion of preferred securities. The trusts were formed for the
purpose of (a) issuing trust securities representing ownership interests
in the assets of the trust; {b) investing the gross proceeds of the trust
securities in junior subordinated debentures of Holdings; and (c)
engaging in activities necessary or incidental thereto. The preferred
securities are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings, based
on its combined obligations under a guarantee, a trust agreement and

a junior subordinated debt indenture.

JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust [
Lehman Brothers Holciings Capital Trust II
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust I
Lehman Brothers Holéings Capital Trust IV
Lehman Brothers Ho]&ings Capital Trust V

The following table surnmarizes the financial structure of trusts with outstanding securities at November 30, 2004: i

TRUSTS WITH OUTSTANDING SECURITIES

NOVEMBER 30

TRUST SECURITIES
[ssuance date

Preferred securities issued

Liquidation preference per security

Holdings
Capital Trust I

We adopted FIN 46R effective February 29, 2004, which requirgd
us to deconsolidate the trusts that issued the preferred securitigs.
Accordingly, at November 30, 2004, Subordinated indebtednefss
includes junior subordinated debentures issued to the trusts that ht
November 30,2003 and prior year ends was classified as Preferred secy-
rities subject to mandatory redemption. Dividends on Preferred securi-
ties subject to mandatory redemption, which were presented 2s
Dividends on trust preferred securities in the Consolidated Statement
of Income through February 29, 2004, are included in Interest expensie

subsequent to February 29, 2004.

Junior subordinated debentures are comprised of the following issues:

)
;
|
i

2004 2003
s - § 325
- 385 i
300 30
“7_;66‘_. 300
400 -
SI,‘D.(R) o $1,310
Holdings Holdings

Capital Trust I(/ Capital Trust V

Liquidation value (in millions)
Coupon rate
Mandatory redemption date

Redeemable by issuer on or after

JUNIOR SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES
Principal amount outstanding (in millions)
Coupon rate 7 -

Maturity date

Redeemable by issuer on or after
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March 15, 2052
March 15, 2008

$300

6.38%

March 15, 2052
March 15, 2008

October 31, 2052
October 31, 2008

$300

6.38%

October 31, 2052
October 31, 2008

March 2003 October 2003 April 2004
12,000,000 Series K 12,000,000 Series L 16,000,000 Series M
$25 $25 $25

$300 $300 $400

6.38% 6.38% 6.00%

April 22,2053

April 22,2009

$400

6.00%

April 22,2053
April 22,2009




All financial instruments classified as Securities and other inventory
bositions owned, Securities received as collateral, Securities and other
nventory positions sold but not yet purchased, and Obligation to return
ecurities received as collateral are carried at fair value (see Note 1).
Assets and liabilities carried at contractual amounts that approxi-
mate market or fair value include Cash and cash equivalents, Cash and
securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes,
receivables, certain other assets, Commercial paper and short-term debt
and payables. The market values of such items are not materially sensi-
tive to shifts in market interest rates because of the limited term to
maturity of these instruments and their variable interest rates.
Long-term debt is carried at historical amounts, unless designated as
the hedged item in a fair value hedge.We carry such hedged debt on a mod-
ified mark-to-market basis, which amount could differ from fair value as a

result of changes in our credit worthiness. The following table presents the

fair value of long-term debt. The fair value of long-term debt was estimated

|

"our current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

using either quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analyses based on

We carry secured financing activities, including Securities pur-

chased under agreements to resell, Securities borrowed, Securities

NOTE 10 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS

sold under agreements to repurchase, Securities loaned and Other
secured borrowings, at their original contract amounts plus accrued
interest. Because the majority of such financing activities are short-
term in nature, carrying values approximate fair value. At November
30,2004 and 2003 we had $301.6 billion and $274.6 billion, respec-
tively, of such secured financing activities. As with long-term debt,
secured financing activities expose us to interest rate risk.

At November 30, 2004 and 2003 we used derivative financial
instruments with an aggregate notional amount of $7.3 billion and
$8.1 billion, respectively, to modify the interest rate characteristics
of certain of our secured financing activities. The total notional
amount of these agreements had a weighted-average maturity of
3.0 years and 4.5 years at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respec-
tively. At November 30, 2004 and 2003 the carrying values of these
secured financing activities, which are designated as the hedged
instrument in fair value hedges, approximated their fair values.
Additionally, we had approximately $31 million at both November
30, 2004 and 2003 of unrecognized losses related to approximately
$398 million and $1.1 billion, respectively, of long-term fixed rate

repurchase agreements.

FAIR VALUE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Carrying value of long-term debt
Fair value of long-term debt

Unrecognized net loss on long-term debt

2004 2003
$56,486 $43,529
56,927— 43,961

s e s @)

NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business, we enter into various commitments
and guarantees, including lending commitments to high grade and high
yield borrowers, private equity investment commitments, liquidity com-
mitments and other guarantees. In all instances, we mark to market these
commitments and guarantees with changes in fair value recognized in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Lending-Related Commitments

Through our high grade and high yield sales, trading and underwrit-
ing activities, we make commitments to extend credit in loan syndi-
cation transactions. In addition, through our mortgage banking
platforms we make commitments to extend mortgage loans. We use

various hedging and funding strategies to actively manage our market,

credit and liquidity exposures on these commitments. We do not
believe total commitments necessarily are indicative of actual risk or
funding requirements because the commitments may not be drawn
or fully used and such amounts are reported before consideration of
hedges. These commitments and any related drawdowns of these
facilities typically have fixed maturity dates and are contingent on
certain representations, warranties and contractual conditions appli-
cable to the borrower. We define high yield (non-investment grade)
exposures as securities of or loans to companies rated BB+ or lower
or equivalent ratings by recognized credit rating agencies, as well as
non-rated securities or loans that, in management’s opinion, are non-

investment grade.
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The following table summmarizes lending-related commitments at November 30, 2004:

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

Total

IN MILLIONS Contractuat
NOVEMBER 30, 2004 Amount
High grade™ $ 10,677
High yield® 4,438
Mortgage commitmerits 12,835
Investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 1,475
Non-investment grade contingent acquisition facilities 4,244
Secured lending transactions, including

forward starting resafe and repurchase agreements 105,879

W We view our net credit exposure for high grade commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $4.1 billion.
@ We view our net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $3.5 billion.

High grade and high yield We had commitments to investment grade
borrowers of $10.7 billion ($4.1 billion after consideration of credit risk
hedges) and $8.1 billion ($3.0 billion after consideration of credit risk
hedges) at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We had commit-
ments to non-investment grade borrowers of $4.4 billion ($3.5 billion
after consideration of credit risk hedges) and $2.9 billion ($2.6 billion
after consideration of credit risk hedges) at Novemnber 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Mortgage commitments At November 30, 2004 and 2003 we had
outstanding mortgage commitments of approximately $12.8 billion
and $5.9 billion, respectively, including $10.9 billion and $5.0 billion of
residential mortgages and $1.9 billion and §0.9 billion of commercial
mortgages. These commitments require us to originate mortgage loans
at the option of a borrower generally within 90 days at fixed interest
rates. We sell mortgage loans, once originated, primarily through secu-
ritization. During 2004 we originated ourselves or sourced through
our origination channels approximately $65.1 billion of residential
mortgage loans. We substantially mitigate interest rate risk on these loan
commitments consistent with our global risk management policies. See
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional infor-
mation about our securitization activities.

Contingent acquisition facilities We provided contingent com-
mitments to investment-grade counterparties related to acquisition
financing of approximately $1.5 billion at November 30, 2004. No
such commitments were outstanding at November 30, 2003. In addi-
tion, we provided contingent commitments to non-investment-grade

counterparties related to acquisition financing of approximately $4.2
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|
i

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

2007- 2009- 2011

2005 2006 2008 2010 and Later

$ 4180 0§ 928  § 2,417 $ 3143 % -
933 361 1,103 746 1,295
12,593 32 202 3 5
1,475 - - - -
4244 - - - -
102,187 1,554 832 220 1,086

'

i
{
!
{
|
[
|
\
i
v

billion and $2.5 billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.?;
Our expectation is, and our past practice has been, to distribute.‘v
through loan syndications to investors substantially all the credit risk'
associated with these loans, if closed, consistent with our credit facil-
itation framework. We do not believe these commitments are neces-
sarily indicative of our actual risk because the borrower may not
complete a contemplated acquisition or, if the borrower completes
the acquisition, often will raise funds in the capital markets instead of
drawing on our commitment. Additionally, the borrower’s ability to
draw generally is subject to there being no material adverse change in ‘
either market conditions or the borrower’s financial condition, |
among other factors. These commitments also generally contain cer-
tain flexible pricing features to adjust for changing market conditions “
prior to closing. {
Secured lending transactions In connection with our financing “

activities, we had outstanding commitments under certain collateralized |

lending arrangements of approximately $5.3 billion and $5.0 billion at

November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These commitments require
borrowers to provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreements,

when amounts are drawn under the lending facilities. Advances made

under these lending arrangements typically are at variable interest rates
and generally provide for over-collateralization. In addition, at
November 30, 2004, we had commitments to enter into forward start-
ing, secured resale and repurchase agreements, primarily secured by gov-
ernment and government agency collateral, of $55.0 billion and $45.6
billion, respectively, compared with $65.2 billion and $30.0 billion,
respectively, at November 30, 2003.




' meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee was approximately $471 bil-

Other Commitments and Guarantees

The following table summarizes other commitments and guarantees at

OTHER COMMITMENTS

Notional/
IN MILLIONS Maximum
NOVEMBER 30. 2004 Payout
Derivative contracts $470,641
Municipal-securities-related commitments 7,179
Other commitments with special purpose entities 5,261
Standby letters of credit 1,703
Private equity and other principal investment commitments 695

Derivative contracts In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45,
{“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
neluding Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 457}, we
isclose certain derivative contracts meeting the FIN 45 definition of a
arantee. Under this guidance, derivative contracts are considered to be
arantees if such contract requires us to make payments to a counter-
party based on changes in an underlying instrument or index (e.g.,secu- |
rity prices, interest rates, and currency rates) and include written credit
default swaps, written put options, written foreign exchange options
and written interest rate caps and floors. Derivative contracts are not
considered guarantees if such contracts are cash settled and we have no
basis to determine whether it is probable the derivative counterparty
held the related underlying instrument at the inception of the contract.
Accordingly, if these conditions are met, we have not included such
derivatives in our guarantee disclosures. At November 30, 2004 and

2003, the maximum payout value of derivative contracts deemed to |

lon and $322 billion, respectively. For purposes of determining maxi-
mum payout, notional values are used; however, we believe the fair value
of these contracts is a more relevant measure of these obligations
because we believe the notional amounts greatly overstate our expected
payout. At November 30, 2004 and 2003, the fair value of such deriva-
tive contracts approximated $9.0 billion and $8.9 billion, respectively. In
addition, all amounts included above are before consideration of hedg-
ing transactions. We substantially mitigate our risk on these contracts
through hedges, such as other derivative contracts and/or cash instru-
ments. We manage risk associated with derivative guarantees consistent
with our global risk management policies. We record derivative con-

tracts, including those considered to be guarantees, at fair value with

related gains and losses recognized in Principal transactions in the

Consolidated Statement of Income. i

November 30, 2004:

AND GUARANTEES

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

2007- 2009- 2011
2005 2006 2008 2010 and Later

$ 71,629 $65219 $85,240 $63,087 $185,466

4,679 3 24 47 2,426
2,404 278 738 701 1,140
1,703 - - - -

206 190 256 43 -

Municipal-securities-related commitments At November 30,
2004 and 2003, we had liquidity commitments to QSPEs of approxi-
mately $7.2 billion and $5.1 billion, respectively, related to trust certifi-
cates issued to investors backed by investment grade municipal
securities. We believe our liquidity commitments to these trusts involve
a low level of risk because our obligations generally expire within one
year, are supported by investment grade securities and generally cease if
the underlying assets are downgraded below investment grade or
default. In certain instances, we also provide credit default protection to
investors in such QSPEs, which approximated $0.4 billion and §1.7 bil-
lion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other commitments with SPEs In addition to the municipal-
securities-related commitments, we made certain liquidity commit-
ments and guarantees associated with other VIEs. We provided liquidity
of approximately $1.0 billion and $0.7 billion at November 30, 2004
and 2003, respectively, to commercial paper conduits in support of cer-
tain clients’ secured financing transactions. Our maximum loss associ-
ated with such commitments i1s $1.0 billion and $0.7 billion at
November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. However, we believe our
actual risk to be limited because our liquidity commitments are sup-
ported by overcollateralization with investment grade collateral.

In addition, we provide certain limited downside protection guar-
antees to investors in VIEs. In such instances, we provide investors a
guaranteed return of their inidal principal investment. Qur maximum
loss under such commitments was approximately $2.9 billion and $1.8
billion at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We believe our
actual exposure to be significantly less than the maximum exposure
because our obligations are collateralized by the VIEs’ assets and contain
significant constraints under which such downside protection will be
available (e.g., the VIE is required to liquidate assets in the event certain

loss levels are triggered).
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We also provided a $1.4 billion guarantee of collateral in a multi-
seller conduit backed by short-term commercial paper assets. This com-
mitment is intended to provide us with access to contingent liquidity of
$1.4 billion in the event we have greater than anticipated draws under
our lending commitments.

Standby letters of credit At November 30, 2004 and 2003, we
were contingently liable for $1.7 billion and $0.9 billion, respectively, of
letters of credit primarily used to provide collateral for securities and
commodities borrowed and to satisfy margin deposits at option and
commodity exchanges.

Private equity and other principal investments At November 30,
2004 and 2003, we had private equity commitments of approximately
$675 million and $382 million, respectively. In addition, we were com-
mitted to invest up to $20 million and $170 million in energy-related
principal investments at November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other In the nornial course of business, we provide guarantees to
securities clearinghouses and exchanges. These guarantees generally are
required under the standard membership agreements, such that mem-
bers are required to guarantee the performance of other members. To
mitigate these performance risks, the exchanges and clearinghouses
often require members to post collateral. Qur obligations under such
guarantees could exceed the collateral amounts posted; however, the
potential for us to be required to make payments under such guarantees
is deemed remote. In connection with certain asset sales and securitiza-
tion transactions, we often make representations and warranties about
the assets conforming to specified guidelines. If it is later determined the
underlying assets fail to conform to the specified guidelines, we may
have an obligation to repurchase the assets or indemnify the purchaser
against any losses. To mitigate these risks, to the extent the assets being
securitized may have been originated by third parties, we seek to obtain
appropriate representations and warranties from these third parties on
acquisition of such assets.

Securities and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased
represent our obligations to purchase the securities at prevailing market
prices. Therefore, the future satisfaction of such obligations may be for an
amount greater or less than the amount recorded. The ultimate gain or
loss is dependent on the price at which the underlying financial instru-
ment is purchased to settle our obligation under the sale commitment.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to credit and
market risk as a result of executing, financing and settling various cus-
tomer security and commodity transactions. These risks arise from the
potential that customers or counterparties may fail to satisfy their

obligations and the collateral obtained is insufficient. In such instances,
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we may be required to purchase or sell financial instruments at unfé-
vorable market prices. We seek to control these risks by obtaining mar}-
gin balances and other collateral in accordance with regulatory and
internal guidelines.

Certain of our subsidiaries, as general partners, are contingentli
liable for the obligations of certain public and private limited partner
ships. In our opinion, contingent liabilities, if any, for the obligations of
such partnerships will not, in the aggregate, have a material adversq
effect on our consolidated financial condition or results of operations.

Litigation

In the normal course of business we have been named a defendant in

a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory proceedings. Suc

proceedings include actions brought against us and others with respec
to transactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial advi—)
sor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in sccuri—l
ties and commodities and actions brought on behalf of various classes|
of claimants against many securites firms, including us. Although there|
can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome, we generally have
denied, or believe we have a meritorious defense and will deny, liabil-
ity in all significant cases pending against us, and we intend to defend
vigorously each such case. Based on information currently available and‘
established reserves, we believe the eventual outcome of the actions|
against us will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial condition or cash flows, but may be material
to our operating results for any particular period, depending on thel
level of income for such period.

During 2004, we entered into a settlement with our insurance car-
riers relating to certain legal proceedings noticed to the carriers and ini-
tially occurring prior to January 2003. Under the terms of the
settlement, the insurance carriers will pay us $280 million. The proceeds

of the settlement will be used in resolving these legal proceedings as and

if they occur. Also during 2004, we entered into a Memorandum of |

Understanding to settle the In re Enron Corporation Securities Litigation

i

class action lawsuit. This $223 million settlement is subject to final court
approval. The settlement with our insurance carriers and the settlement
under the Memorandum of Understanding did not result in a net gain
or loss in our Consolidated Statement of Income.
Lease Commitments

We lease office space and equipment throughout the world. Total rent
expense for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $135 million, $136 million and
$148 million, respectively. Certain leases on office space contain escala-
tion clauses providing for additional payments based on maintenance,

utility and tax increases.




Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable

operating leases (net of subleases of $102 million) and future com-

mitments under a capital lease that expires in September 2033 are

as follows:

MINIMUM FUTURE RENTAL COMMITMENTS
UNDER OPERATING AND CAPITAL LEASE AGREEMENTS

IN MILLIONS

Fiscal 2005

Fiscal 2006

Fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2008

Fiscal 2009

December 1, 2009 and thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: Amount representing interest

Present value of future minimum capital lease payments

—

cluded in the previous table are operating lease commitments of

approximately $173 million associated with properties that have

o
Bls=}

een or will be vacated resulting primarily from the consolidation of

Holdings is authorized to issue 2 total of 38,000,000 shares of preferred
stock. At November 30, 2004, Holdings had 848,000 shares issued and
putstanding under various series as described below. All preferred stock
has a dividend preference over Holdings’ common stock in the paying
of dividends and a preference in the liquidation of assets.

Series C

On May 11, 1998, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depositary Shares, each
epresenting 1/10th of a share of 5.94% Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series C (“Series C Preferred Stock”), $1.00 par value. The shares of

Series C Preferred Stock have a redemption price of $500 per share,

together with accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any
or all of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock beginning
on May 31, 2008.The $250 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2004 is classified in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as a component of Preferred stock.
Series D

On July 21, 1998, Holdings issued 4,000,000 Depositary Shares, each
representing 1/100th of a share of 5.67% Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series D (“Series D Preferred Stock™), $1.00 par value. The shares of
Series D Preferred Stock have a redemption price of $5,000 per share,
together with accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any
or all of the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock beginning
on August 31, 2008. The $200 million redemption value of the shares

Operating Capital
Leases Lease
$ 178 $§ 54
175 60
165 60
158 65‘
152 89
912 2,572

$ 1,740 2,900
(1,715)

$1,185

certain foreign offices. See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information about the real estate reconfig-

uration charges.

NOTE 12 PREFERRED STOCK

outstanding at November 30, 2004 is classified in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as a component of Preferred stock.
Series E
On March 28, 2000, Holdings issued 5,000,000 Depositary Shares, each
representing 1/100th of a share of Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series E (“Series E Preferred Stock™), $1.00 par value.
The initial cumulative dividend rate on the Series E Preferred Stock is
7.115% per annum through May 31, 2005; thereafter the rate will be the
higher of either the three-month U.S. Treasury Bill rate, the 10-year
Treasury constant maturity rate or the 30-year U.S. Treasury ‘constant
maturity rate, in each case plus 1.15%, but in any event not less than
7.615% nor greater than 13.615%. The shares of Series E Preferred
Stock have a redemption price of $5,000 per share, together with
accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of the
outstanding shares of Series E Preferred Stock beginning on May 31,
2005. The $250 million redemption value of the shares outstanding at
November 30, 2004 is classified in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition as a component of Preferred stock.
Series F

On August 20, 2003, Holdings issued 13,800,000 Depositary Shares,
each representing 1/100th of a share of 6.50% Cumulative Preferred
Stock, Series F (“Series F Preferred Stock™), $1.00 par value. The shares
of Series F Preferred Stock have a redemption price of $2,500 per share,
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together with accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any
or all of the outstanding shares of Series F Preferred Stock beginning on
August 31, 2008. The $345 million redemption value of the shares out-
standing at November 30, 2004 is classified in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as a component of Preferred stock.
Series G
On January 30, 2004 and August 16, 2004 Holdings issued 5,200,000
and 6,800,000, respectively, Depositary Shares, each representing
1/100th of a share of Holdings’ Floating Rate Cumulative Preferred
Stock, Series G (“Series G Preferred Stock”), $1.00 par value, for a total
of $130 million and $170 million, respectively. Dividends on the Series
G Preferred Stock are payable at a floating rate per annum of one-
month LIBOR plus 0.75%, with a floor of 3.0% per annum. The Series
G Preferred Stock has a redemption price of $2,500 per share, together
with accrued and unpaid dividends. Holdings may redeem any or all of
the outstanding shares of Series G Preferred Stock beginning on
February 15, 2009. The $300 million redemption value of the shares
outstanding at November 30, 2004 is classified in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition as a component of Preferred stock.
The Series C, D, E, F and G Preferred Stock have no voting rights
except as provided below or as otherwise from time to time required by

law. If dividends payable on any of the Series C, D, E, F or G Preferred

Stock or on any other equally-ranked series of preferred stock have rﬁot
been paid for six or more quarters, whether or not consecutive, the
authorized number of directors of the Company will automatically be
increased by two. The holders of the Series C, D, E, F or G Preferred
Stock will have the right, with holders of any other equally-ranked
series of preferred stock that have similar voting rights and on which
dividends likewise have not been paid, voting together as a class, to elect
two directors to fill such newly-created directorships until the dividen&s
in arrears are paid. '
Redeemable Voting

In 1994, Holdings issued the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock to
American Express and Nippon Life for $1,000. The holders of tl’fF
Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock were entitled to receive annual div}l—
idends through May 31, 2002, in an amount equal to 50% of the
amount, if any, by which our net income for each year exceeded $40¢
million, up to a maximum of $50 million per year ($25 million on h
pro-rated basis, for the last dividend period, which ran from Decembe{f
1, 2001 to May 31, 2002). For the year ended November 30, 2002, ouL‘
net income resulted in the recognition of dividends of $25 million o

the Redeemable Voting Preferred Stock. On the final dividend payment
date, July 15, 2002, Holdings redeemed all of the Redeemable Votiné
Preferred Stock, for a total of §1,000. 1

|

NOTE 13 COM

Dividends declared per common share were $0.64, $0.48 and $0.36 in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During the years ended November
30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we repurchased or acquired shares of our
common stock at an aggregate cost of approximately $2.3 billion, $1.5

billion, and $1.5 billion, respectively. These shares were acquired in the

COMMON

NOVEMBER 30

Shares outstanding, beginning of period

Exercise of stock opti(;ns and other share issuances

Shares issued to the RSU Trust ‘

Shares issued in connection with the Neuberger acquisition
Treasury stock purchasés

Shares outstanding, end of period

In 1997, we established an irrevocable grantor trust (the “RSU Trust”) to
provide common stock voting rights to employees who hold outstand-
ing restricted stock units ("RSUs”) and to encourage employees to think
and act like owners. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we transferred 18.0 million,
14.0 million and 9.3 million treasury shares, respectively, into the RSU
Trust. At November 30, 2004, approximately 38.9 million shares were
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MON STOCK

open market and from employees who tendered mature shares to pa
for the exercise cost of stock options or for statutory tax withholding
obligations on RSU issuances or option exercises.

Changes in the number of shares of common stock outstanding

are as follows:

STOCK
2004 2003 2002
75&,6797:656 ) 231,131,043 237,534,091
18,474,422 11,538,125 10,455,954
18,000,000 14000000 9,300,000
- 33130804 -

(28,994,067)  (23,120,916)

274,159,411 266,679,056

(26,159,002)
231,131,043

held in the RSU Trust with a total value of approximately $1.4 billion.

These shares are valued at weighted-average grant prices. Shares trans- |

ferred to the RSU Trust do not affect the total number of shares used in

I

|
|

the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per cormmon share because

we include amortized RSUs in the calculations. Accordingly, the RSU \
1
Trust has no effect on total equity, net income or earnings per share. |

:‘
|
\
t
!

!



NOTE 14 CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

\l} operate globally through a network of subsidiaries, with several sub-
jedt to regulatory requirements. In the United States, LBI and Neuberger
Berman, LLC (“NBLLC"), as registered broker-dealers, are subject to the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 15¢3-1, the Net
Cppital Rule, which requires these companies to maintain net capital of
not less than the greater of 2% of aggregate debit items arising from cus-
tomer transactions, as defined, or 4% of funds required to be segregated
f%r customers’ regulated commodity accounts, as defined. At November
30,2004, LBI and NBLLC had regulatory net capital, as defined, of $2.4
b%dlion and $196 million, respectively, which exceeded the minimum
rf%quirement by $2.2 billion and $178 million, respectively.
I Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“LBIE”), a United
ingdom registered broker-dealer and subsidiary of Holdings, is subject
tp the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”)
df the United Kingdom. Financial resources, as defined, must exceed the
q’otal financial resources requirement of the FSA. At November 30,
2004, LBIE’ financial resources of approximately $4.7 billion exceeded
t‘]he minimum requirement by approximately $1.3 billion. Lehman
: rothers Japan Inc’s Tokyo branch, a regulated broker-dealer, is subject
to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency and, at

INovember 30, 2004, had net capital of approximately $708 million,

NOTE 15 EARNINGS
Earnings per common share was calculated as follows:
EARNINGS PER

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

NUMERATOR:

Net income

Preferred stock dividends

DENOMINATOR:

Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options
Restricted stock units

Dilutive potential common shares

Denominator for diluted earnings per share—weighted-average
common and dilutive potential common shares®

Basic earnings per share

p— ——

Diluted earnings per share

™ Anti-dilutive options and restricted stock units excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings per share

which was approximately $261 million in excess of the specified levels
required. Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB (the “Bank”), our thrift subsidiary,
is regulated by the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS"). The Bank
exceeds all regulatory capital requirements and is considered well capi-
talized by the OTS. Certain other non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to
various securities, commodities and banking regulations and capital ade-
“ quacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange
! authorities of the countries in which they operate. At November 30,
| 2004, these other subsidiaries were in compliance with their applicable
] local capital adequacy requirements. In addition, our “AAA” rated deriv-
atives subsidiaries, Lehman Brothers Financial Products Inc. (“LBFP”)
‘ and Lehman Brothers Derivative Products Inc. (“LBDP”), have estab-
o lished certain capital and operating restrictions that are reviewed by var-
J ious rating agencies. At November 30, 2004, LBFP and LBDP each had
| capital that exceeded the requirements of the rating agencies.
1 The regulatory rules referred to above, and certain covenants con-
| tained in various debt agreements, may restrict Holdings’ ability to with-
draw capital from its regulated subsidiaries, which in turn could limit its
1 ability to pay dividends to shareholders. At November 30, 2004, approx-
i imately $6.0 billion of net assets of subsidiaries were restricted as to the
|

payment of dividends to Holdings.

Numerator for basic earnings per share-——net income applicable to common stock

Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted-average common shares

PER COMMON SHARE

COMMON SHARE

2004 2003 2002
 $2,369 $1.699 g 975
72 50 69
$2,297 $1,649 § 906
2747 2457 245.4
138 122 12.4
2.2 20 34

16.0 142 15.8
2007 2509 261.2

$ 8.36 $ 671 $ 3.69

$ 7.90 $ 6.35 § 3.47
2.0 8.0 10.0
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NOTE 16

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allowed employees to
purchase Common Stock at a 15% discount from market value, with a
maximum of $25,000 in annual aggregate purchases by any one indi-
vidual. The number of shares of Common Stock authorized for pur-
chase by eligible employees was 12.0 million. At November 30, 2004
and 2003, 6.3 million shares and 6.1 million shares, respectively, of
Common Stock had cumulatively been purchased by eligible employ-
ees through the ESPP.'On June 30, 2004, the ESPP expired following
the completion of its 10-year term as approved by shareholders.
1994 Management Ownership Plan
The Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994 Management Ownership
Plan (the “1994 Plan”) provides for the issuance of RSUs, performance
stock units (“PSUs”), stock options and other equity awards for a period
of up to ten vears to eligible employees. A total of 33.3 million shares of
Common Stock may be granted under the 1994 Plan. At November 30,
2004, RSU, PSU and stock option awards with respect to 33.1 million
shares of Common Stock have been made under the 1994 Plan, of
which 3.1 million are outstanding and 30.0 million have been con-
verted to freely transferable Common Stock. On May 31, 2004 the 1994
Plan expired followingithe completion of its 10-year term.
1996 Management Ownership Plan
The 1996 Management Ownership Plan (the “1996 Plan”), under
which awards similar to those of the 1994 Plan may be granted, provides
for up to 42.0 million shares of Common Stock to be subject to awards.
At November 30, 2004, RSU, PSU and stock option awards with
respect to 38.2 million shares of Common Stock have been made under
the 1996 Plan of which 14.9 million are outstanding and 23.3 million
have been converted to freely transferable Common Stock.
Employee Incentive Plan
The Employee Incentive Plan (“EIP”) has provisions similar to the 1994
Plan and the 1996 Plan, and authorization from the Board of Directors
to issue up to 246.0 million shares of Common Stock that may be sub-
ject to awards. At November 30, 2004 awards with respect to 220.2 mil-
lion shares of Common Stock have been made under the EIP of which
115.3 million are outstanding and 104.9 million have been converted to
freely transferable Common Stock. .
1999 Long Term Incentive Plan
The 1999 Neuberger Berman Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“LTIP”) provides for the grant of restricted stock, restricted units,
incentive stock, incentive units, deferred shares, supplemental units
and stock options. The total number of shares of Common Stock that
may be issued under the LTIP may not exceed 7.7 million. At
November 30, 2004, awards with respect to approximately 6.7 million
shares of Common Stock have been made under the LTIP, of which

approximately 5.2 million restricted shares, RSUs and stock options
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are outstanding and 1.5 million have been converted to freely trans}rr_
able Common Stock.
1999 Directors Stock Incentive Plan

The 1999 Neuberger Berman Inc. Directors Stock Incentive Plan (the
“DSIP”) provided for the grant of stock options or restricted stock fto
non-employee members of Neubergers board of directors. Non-
employee directors could elect to exchange a portion of their anm.%al
cash retainer paid by Neuberger for services rendered as a director fPr
restricted stock. At November 30, 2004, awards with respect to approk-
imately 62,000 shares have been made under the DSIP of \vhiéh
approximately 52,000 stock option awards are outstanding and appro;;-
imately 10,000 have been converted to freely transferable Commq:‘n
Stock. We do not intend to grant additional awards from the DSIP.

Wealth Accumulation Plan “

The Neuberger Berman Inc. Wealth Accumulation Plan (the “WAP’_}’)
provides that on an annual basis, employees who receive commissiods
and other direct pay and those eligible for a bonus may elect to defer'*"a
|
portion of their compensation. In each case, up to 20% of total coni-
pensation may be deferred with a maximum deferral of up to $500,00q,
provided that employees who receive an annual bonus may, in any event,
defer no more than the full amount of the bonus. Amounts deferred b\‘/
employees are used to acquire, on a pretax basis, the Common Stock 't
a 25% discount from market value. Any stock so acquired is restricted
with respect to transfer or sale and vests three years after the grant date
Certain benefits of ownefship, including the payment of any dividen
declared during the restricted period, belong to the employees. A
November 30, 2004, awards with respect to approximately 155,00
shares of Common Stock have been made under the WAP of whic
approximately 74,000 shares are outstanding and approximately 81,00
have been converted to freely transferable Common Stock. We do not
intend to allow further deferrals under the WAP and the WAP will ter-
minate on the last day on which any restricted stock outstanding under
the WAP becomes vested.
Restricted Stock Units
Eligible employees receive RSUs, in lieu of cash, as a portion of their
total compensation. There is no further cost to employees associated with
the RSU awards. We measure compensation cost for RSUs based on the!
market value of our Common Stock at the grant date for awards granted
prior to 2004 and based on the market value of our Common Stock at
the grant date less a discount for sale restriction subsequent to the vest- ;

ing date for awards granted in 2004. We amortize this amount to expense

over the applicable service periods. RSU awards made to employees have |
various vesting provisions and generally convert to unrestricted freelyz
transferable Common Stock five years from the grant date. We accrue a
dividend equivalent on each RSU outstanding (in the form of additional |
RSUs), based on dividends declared on our Common Stock. ‘\



,

The following table summarizes RSUs outstanding under stock-based incentive plans:

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

RSUs outstanding, net of shares held in RSU trust

about the Neuberger acquisition.

i
i
|
|
e have repurchased approximately 40 million shares to offset the future

Fe,hvery requirements associated with the above RSUs. These shares either
were transferred to the RSU Trust or are held as Treasury stock. Of the
RSUs outstanding at November 30, 2004, approximately 39.9 million
‘Jwere amortized and included in basic and diluted earnings per share,
approximately 9.7 million will be amortized during 2005, and the
iremainder will be amortized subsequent to November 30, 2005. See Note
}13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
. Included in the previous table are PSUs we awarded to certain
senior officers. The number of PSUs that may be earned is depend-

ent on achieving certain performance levels within predetermined

Balance, November 30, 2004

I

l

|

’ STOCK OPTION ACTIVITY
|

|

J'

|

|

2004 2003 2002

Balance, beginning of year 64,343,313 69,338,068 76,457,071
Granted 14,809,012 14,796,720 9,178,667
Canceled (1,276,002) (1,447,319) (1,750,479)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions 7 (13,723;;50)_ (18,344,208) (14,547,191)
Balance, end of year 64,242,393 64,343,313 69,338,068
Shares held in RSU Trust (58,861,068) (33,408,893) (36,641,395)

25,381,325 30,034,420 32,696,673

@ Includes approximately 1.7 miifion RSUS granted in 2003 related to our acquisition of Neuberger. See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information

performance periods. During the performance period, these PSUs are
accounted for as variable awards. At the end of a performance period,
any PSUs earned will convert one-for-one to RSUs that then vest in
three or more years. At November 30, 2004, approximately 11.2 million
PSUs had been awarded, of which 6.4 million remained outstanding,
subject to vesting and transfer restrictions. The compensation cost for
the RSUs payable in satisfaction of PSUs is accrued over the combined
performance and vesting periods.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the vyears

ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

Weighted-Average Expiration
Options Exercise Price Dates
Balance, November 30, 2001 68,394,214 $37.53 1/02-11/11
Granted 26,211,500 $54.94
Exercised (9,652,041) 825.02
| Canceled (1,413,181) §43.20
‘ Balance, November 30, 2002 83,540,492 $44.21 11/03-11/12
i Granted® 15,536,462 $66.98
Exercised™ (10,595,469) $28.08
‘ Canceled" (1,734,835) $46.63
I Balance, November 30, 2003 86,746,650 $50.21 12/03-11/13
{ Granted 5,423,596 $30.74
! Exercised (17,167,352) $36.36
i Canceled (1,459,299) $56.48
f 73,543,595 855.57 12/04-11/14

 includes approximately 4.3 million stock options granted, 0.3 million stock options exercised, and 0.1 million stock options canceled in 2003 related to our acquisition of Neuberger.
See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about the Neuberger acquisition.
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The exercise price for all stock options awarded has been equal to

the market price of Common Stock on the day of grant. The table

below provides further details related to stock options outstanding‘ at

i November 30, 2004.

STOCK OPTIONS

Options Qutstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted- Weighted- 1
Weighted- Average Weighted- Average

Average Remaining Average Remaining \

RANGE OF Number Exercise Contractual Number Exercise Contractual
EXERCISE PRICES Qutstanding Price Life (in years) Exercisable Price Life (in years) |
$20.00-$29.99 2,845,822 $21.25 3.55 2,845,822 $21.25 3.55 1
.- [ |
$30.00-839.99 7,518,750 $33.95 2.30 5,643,750 $34.72 2.81 |
$40.00-849.99 11,588,963 $47.79 5.63 4,958,395 $47.65 4.75 .
$50.00-859.99 25,667,146 $53.83 6.46 15,610,023 $54.08 6.50 i
$60.00-869.99 9,320,831 $63.54 5.36 3,570,042 $63.80 5.82 \
[ —_— f
$70.00-879.99 12,748,059 $71.59 6.98 1,398,461 $72.97 6.06 )
$80.00-$89.99 3,853,578 $85.73 6.31 329,982 $85.15 6.17 i
$90.00-$99.99 446 $90.58 5.33 446 $90.58 5.33 ‘

73,543,595 $55.57 5.73 34,356,921 $49.33 5.49

Restricted Stock
In connection with the 2003 Neuberger acquisition, we issued approx~
imately 806,000 shares of restricted Common Stock to replace out-
standing shares of Neuberger restricted Common Stock awarded under
the LTIP and the WAP Approximately 315,000 shares of our restricted
Common Stock with an approximate value of $20 million were vested
and included in the acquisition price and approximately 491,000 shares

of our restricted Common Stock with an approximate value of $42

million were subject to future service and are being amortized over th!
applicable service periods. At November 30, 2004, approximatelyi
248,000 shares subject to future service with an approximate value of
$21 million remain to be amortized. In addition, during 2004, we|
awarded approximately 224,000 shares of our restricted Common Stock!
under the LTIP. ‘\

i

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for thel
year ended November 30, 2004:

RESTRICTED STOCK

Balance, beginning of year

Granted - -

Carncreledr o

Exchanged for stock wi;hout restrictions

Balance, end of year

2004 j
805,587
223,889
 (27,325)
(231,305)
770,846

Total compensation cost recognized during 2004, 2003 and 2002 for stock-based awards was approximately $800 million, $625 million and ‘\‘

$570 million, respectively.
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, NOTE 17 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Ve provide both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined ben- | care and life insurance, to eligible employees. We use a November 30
\

Fit pension plans for the majority of our employees worldwide. In addi- measurement date for the majority of our plans. The following tables

on, we provide certain other postretirement benefits, primarily health ‘ summarize these plans:

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

Pension Benefits

IN MILLIONS us. Non-U.S. Postretirement Benefits
NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
CHANGE !N BENEFIT OBLIGATION - -

Benefit obligation at beginning of year A_s_'8—17977 - $669 a $278 §248 $ 17 $ 68
Service cost o 33 20 ‘ —_Ti 7 2 2
Interest cost 50 . 44 o 16 15 ‘ 4 5
Plan amendment o Ai-i.v 5 - . N - -
Actuarial loss (gain) —WA59— 104 51 (13) (9) 8
Benefits paid *<(_2.5‘)‘_ (23) _(AG)_—— o) » (5) (6)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes - - 32— 26 - - -
Benefit obligation at end of year 4 9477 819 —~-~5—_-,~7—-— 278 —.—“G:;. - 77

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 7 825 7 629 294 238 - -
Actual return on plan assets, net of expenses a —7é‘“ 70 24 31 - -
Employer contribution 15 150 13 4 - -
Benefits paid ) i&S)— (24) o (é)_- (5 - 7 -
Foreign currency exchange rate changes - - ) 32 7 26 - -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 887 825 - 3;; B 294 T -
Funded {underfunded) status '(6.0—) 6 ‘—_m)._ 16 "-_(.639“)“ 77)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (gain) N 473 - 450 —*—E—Zﬁ N 98 ‘ V (3) 5
Unrecognized prior service cost (benefit) - 2; ; 20 1 7 2 ‘ (3) (3)
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $442 . $476 *—5153 - $116 - 5(75;-< $(75)
Accumulated benefit obligation—funded plans $848 $745 N S360ﬁ 8269 - -
Accumulated benefit obligation-U.S. unfunded plan - 757‘7‘7-» 370 - - - -

M We have an unfunded supplementa! retirement plan for which a liability is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition,

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AT NOVEMBER 30
Discount rate 5.90% 6.15% 5.21% 5.57% 5.90% 6.15%

Rate of compensation increase 4.90% 4.90% 4.28% 4.31% - -
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COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC COST ‘l

Pension Benefits

IN MILLIONS U.S. Pensions Non-U.S, Postretirement Benefits
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Service cost $34 821 $17 $6 $7 $7 $2 $2 $1
Interest cost o 56 o 44 42 7"15_ k 15 12 N _"4_77 5 4
Expected return on plaﬁ assets (69) (52) (58) » ‘(225 - 21) (14) o - -
Amortization of net actuarial loss (gain) 7 I—i;h 7 27 12 7 "—_7 ' - 6 o 1 (1)
Amortization of prior service cost : .';h 7 2 1 o 1 7 2 1 _—7(717)77—- - -
Net periodic cost | $49 7 $42 $14 $8 $3 $12 $ 5 $6 $ 4
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE NET PERIODIC COST FOR THE YEARS ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Discount rate 6.15% 6.75% 7.25% 5;2 1% 5.57% 5.60% 6.15% 6.75% 7.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.56‘7: 8.50% 9.00% 6.54% 7.31% 8.71% R - -
Rate of compensation increase 490% “ 4.90% 5.00% 4.&8% 4.31% 3.82% o - -

Return on Plan AAssets
U.S. and non-U.S. plans Establishing the expected rate of return on
pension assets requires judgment. We consider the following factors in
determining this assumption:

O The types of investment classes in which pension plan assets
are invested and the expected compounded return we can rea-
sonably expect the portfolio to earn over appropriate time
periods. The expected return reflects forward-looking eco-
nomic assumptions.

I The investment returns we can reasonably expect our active invest-
ment management program to achieve in excess of the returns
expected if investents were made strictly in indexed funds.

O Investment related expenses.

We review the expected long-term rate of return annually and
revise it as appropriate. Also, we periodically commission detailed
asset/liability studies to be performed by third-party professional invest-
ment advisors and actuaries. These studies project stated future returns on
plan assets. The studies petformed in the past support the reasonableness
of our assumptions based on the targeted allocation investment classes
and market conditions at the time the assumptions were established.

Plan Assets
Pension plan assets are invested with the objective of meeting current and
future benefit payment needs, while minimizing future contributions.

U.S. plan Plan assets are invested with several investment man-
agers. Assets are diversified among U.S. and international equity securi-
ties, U.S. fixed income securities, real estate and cash. The plan employs
a mix of active and passive investment management programs. The
strategic target of plan asset allocation is approximately 65% equities and
35% U.S. fixed income. The investment sub-committee of our pension

committee reviews the asset allocation quarterly and, with the approval
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of the pension committee, determines when and how to rebalance the
portfolio. The cash position at November 30,2003 was higher than nor-
mal due to a significant contribution near year end that subsequently
was invested in both equity and fixed income securities in December
2003.The plan does not have a dedicated allocation to Lehman Brothers
common stock, although the plan may hold a minimal investment in
Lehman Brothers comumon stock as a result of investment decisions
made by various investment managers.

Non-U.S. plans Non-US. pension plan assets are invested with
several investment managers across a range of different asset classes. The
strategic target of plan asset allocation is approximately 75% equities,
20% fixed income and 5% real estate.

Weighted-average plan asset allocations were as follows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2004 2003
Equity securities 64% 53% 74% 74%
Fixed income securities —A72777~“ 23 . 21 ; 21
Reeal estate 2 ; 2 ““5"" 5
Cash *7_» 22 *_: - -
100%  100%  100%  100%

Expected Contributions for the
Fiscal Year Ending November 30, 2005
We expect to contribute approximately §6.5 million to our non-U.S.
pension plans in the fiscal year ending November 30, 2005. We do not
expect it to be necessary to contribute to our US. pension plans in the
fiscal year ending November 30, 2005.




Estimated Future Benefit Payments

)
|
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

IN MILLIONS
Fiscal 2005

Fiscal 2006

Fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2008
Fiscal 2009
Fiscal 20102014

sumed health care cost trend rates were as follows:

NOVEMBER 30

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year

e S

Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

cost trend rates would have the following effects:

IN MILLIONS

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate)

Pension
us. Non-U.S.
$ 26 $ 4
29 4
31 4
34 5
36 5
$218 $ 35
Post Retirement Benefits
2004
a “10'7'/0
T
*”;0710 ’

Effect on total service and interest cost components in 2004

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation at November 30, 2004

1 Percentage

Point Increase Point Decrease

g~
$1
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Postretirement
$ 5
5
4
4
4
$ 23

2003
11%
5%

2010

Assumed health care cost trend rates affect the amount reported for postretirement benefits. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care

1 Percentage

s_
$(1)
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NOTE 18

We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return reflecting the income of Holdings and its subsidiaries. The provision for income taxes consi

of the following:

PROVISION FOR

IN MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Current:
Federal
State

Foreign

Deferred:
Federal
State

Foreign

Provision for income taxes

Income before taxes included $733 million, $652 million and $406 mil-

lion that also was subject to income taxes of foreign jurisdictions for

2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

RECONCILIATION OF PROVISION FOR

TO FEDERAL

[N MILLIONS
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Federal income taxes at statutory rate
State and local taxes

Tax-exempt income

Foreign operations

Other, net

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes resulted in effective tax rates of 32.0%,
30.2% and 26.3% for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increases in
the effective tax rates in 2004 compared with 2003 and 2003 compared
with 2002 were primarily due to a higher level of pre-tax income,
which reduced the effect of permanent differences.

Income tax benefits of approximately $468 million, $543 million
and $347 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were allocated to
Additional paid-in capital related to various employee compensation

plans. In addition, we recorded $2 million, $1 million, and §1 million of
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INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAXES

2004 2003 2002

$ 471§ 410 § 371
143 53 208
585 368 459
1,199 931 1,038
3 64 (462)

39 (44) (166)

(116) (186) (42)
(74) (166) (670)

T s1,125 $ 765 $ 368

|
I
statutory federal income tax rate for the reasons shown below:

|

INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAXES AT STATUTORY RATE

2004 2003 2002
$1,231 § 888 § 490
119 71 27
(135) (122) (180)
(66) @) 53
(24 (63) @2)
$1,125 $ 765 $ 368

| income tax benefits from the translation of foreign currencies, which
|

\

the years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the
| Consolidated Financial Statements. These temporary differences will
result in future income or deductions for income tax purposes and are
measured using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when such

items are expected to reverse.

was recorded directly in Accumulated other comprehensive income, for

l

i

The income tax provision differs from that computed by using thej"




At November 30,2004 and 2003 deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IN MILLIONS
NOVEMBER 30

Deferred tax assets:
Liabilities and other accruals not currently deductible
Deferred compensation
Unrealized trading activity
Foreign tax credits including carryforwards
Foreign operations {net of associated tax credits)
Net operating loss carryforwards
Other
Total deferred tax assets

Less: valuation allowance

S

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Excess tax over financial depreciation, net
Acquired intangibles
Pension and retirement costs
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax assets

The net deferred tax assets are included in Other assets in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition.

We permanently reinvested earnings in certain foreign sub-
sidiaries. At November 30, 2004, §580 million of accumulated earnings
were permanently reinvested. At current tax rates, additional federal
income taxes (net of available tax credits) of $212 million would
become payable if such income were to be repatriated. The American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”) includes certain incentives with
respect to the repatriation of foreign earnings. We are reviewing the Act
to determine the implications of repatriating, out of our accumulated
non-U.S. earnings pool, a portion of such earnings that we do not con-
sider to be permanently reinvested in certain foreign subsidiaries. We
expect the tax benefits associated with any amount repatriated would

not be material to our results of operations or financial condition.

2004 2003

s 567 s 838
T 1,032
© as 463
i 321 A 212
—‘—;9_* (16)
R 83
a4t 204
2,768 2,821
(5} (25)

2,763 2,796
(s (18
a0 (420)
(163;5— (172)
54 (16)
o “(Gis) ‘ (626)
§2,087 82,170

The foreign tax credit carryforwards include $104 million that
will expire in 2013; the limitation period has not begun for the remain-
ing balance. At November 30, 2004, we had approximately $106 mil-
lion of federal NOL carryforwards that are subject to separate company
limitations. Substantially all of these net operating loss carryforwards
begin to expire in 2023.

The $20 million reduction in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance
reflects the recognition of temporary differences associated with our 1988
acquisition of E.E Hutton Group, Inc., which reduced goodwill, as well as
the recognition of U.S. tax credits recorded as a reduction of tax expense. At
November 30, 2004, the remaining $5 million deferred tax asset valuation
allowance relates to federal net operating loss carryforwards of acquired enti-
tes that are subject to separate company limitadons. If future circumstances

permit the recognition of the acquired tax benefit, goodwill will be reduced.
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NOTE 19 SEPTEMBER 11th AND REAL ESTATE RECONFIGURATION COSTS

As a result of the September 11th, 2001 terrorist attack, our leased facil-
ities in the World Trade Center (“WTC”) were destroyed, and our
leased and owned facilities in the World Financial Center (“WFC”)
complex (including the 3 WFC building owned jointly with American
Express) were significantly damaged. We had insurance in place to cover
the losses resulting from the terrorist attack, including a policy covering
damage to the core and shell of the 3 WFC building and a separate pol-
icy covering the property damage at the WTC and WFC facilities, losses
resulting from business interruption and extra expenses associated with
relocation to, and occupancy of, the temporary facilities.

During 2002, we settled our insurance claim for $700 million, the
policy limit, with our insurance carriers. The net gain of $108 million
($60 million after tax) included insurance recoveries of approximately
$340 million, costs associated with exiting certain New York area facil-
ities of $189 million, and $43 million of other costs resulting from the
events of September 11th (primarily technology restoration and other
costs associated with unusable facilities). Insurance recoveries represent
the settlement of $700 million offset by insurance recoveries previously
recognized of approximately $360 million during 2001.

During 2002, we recorded a $128 million pre-tax charge ($82 million

after tax) for costs associated with reconfiguring certain global real estate

SEPTEMB

facilities used to conduct business activities. The charge resulted from man-
agement’s analysis of global real estate needs and subsequent decisions madg
by management to no longer use certain facilides in Europe, Asia and th%:
U.S. Approximately $115 million of the charge related to estimated subleasé;
losses associated with our decision to exit our primary London office facill\-
ities at Broadgate and move our European headquarters to a new facility jusi
outside the city of London. The remaining portion of the charge related to
our decision to consolidate certain branch locations. These charges were recl1
ognized in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition fo}(
Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (imludi
ing Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” During 2003, we recorded a $77'\)
million pre-tax real estate charge ($45 million after tax). This charge repre~(,
sented an adjustment of the 2002 real estate charges and reflected a contin—j
ued softening in the London and New York metropolitan area sublease]
markets since 2002. During 2004 we exited virtually all of our rernaining;‘\
leased space at our downtown New York City Jocation, which clarified the-};
loss on the location and resulted in a $19 million charge in 2004. ‘

During the years ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002,

changes in the liability, which is included in Accrued liabilities and other

i
s
i

payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition, relatedl

to these charges were as follows:

h AND REAL ESTATE “ l

ER 11t
RECONFIGURATION COSTS

September 11th

Beginning Charge Before Real Estate Ending
IN MILLIONS Balance Insurance Recoveries®  Reconfiguration Used® Batance
Year ended November 30, 2002 $ 64 $232 $128 $(78) $346
Year ended November 370, 2003 346 - 77 27) 396
Year ended November 30, 2004 396 - 19 (269) 146

4 We recognized insurance recoveries of $340 million in 2002,
@ Net of interest accretions of $11 million and $17 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively,

NOTE 20 REGULATORY SETTLEMENT

In the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded a pre-tax charge of $80
million ($56 million after-tax) associated with an agreement with
various Federal and State regulatory authorities to settle inquiries
related to alleged conflicts of interest involving equity research

analysts. The agreement included certain organizational structural
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reforms, including providing independent research to clients in the
future, as well as the payment of $80 million, including $50 mil-
lion in retrospective relief, $5 million for investor education and
$25 million (over the course of five years) to purchase independ-

ent research.




r NOTE 21 BUSINESS SEGMENTS

{
We operate in three business segments: Investment Barking, Capital

Markets and Investment Management.
The Investment Banking business segment is made up of Advisory

Services and Global Finance activities that serve our corporate and gov-

D

rmment clients. The segment is organized into global industry groups—

Gommunications, Consumer/Retailing, Financial Institutions, Financial

%2}

ponsors, Healthcare, Industrial, Media, Natural Resources, Power, Real

state and Technology—that include bankers who deliver industry
owledge and expertise to meet clients’ objectives. Specialized product
oups within Advisory Services, including M&A and restructuring, and
ithin Global Finance, including Equity Capital Markets, Debt Capital
arkets, Leveraged Finance, Private Placements, Derivatives and Product
IDevelopment, are partnered with relatonship managers in the global
i]ndustry groups to provide comprehensive financial solutions for clients.
The Capital Markets business segment includes institutional cus-
jomer flow activities, prime brokerage, research, and secondary-trading
:%md financing activities in fixed income and equity products. These prod-
11,1cts include a wide range of cash, derivative, secured financing and struc-
tured instruments and investments. We are a leading global market-maker
in numerous equity and fixed income products including U.S., European
and Asian equities, government and agency securities, money market
products, corporate high grade, high yield and emerging market securi-
ties, mortgage- and asset-backed securities, preferred stock, municipal

securites, bank loans, foreign exchange, financing and derivative prod-

ucts. We are one of the largest investment banks in terms of U.S. and pan-
European listed equities trading volume, and we maintain a major
presence in OTC U.S. stocks, major Asian large capitalization stocks, war-
rants, convertible debentures and preferred issues. In addition, the secured

financing business manages our equity and fixed income matched book

'

actividies, supplies secured financing to insdtutional clients and cus-
tomers, and provides secured funding for our inventory of equity and
fixed income products. The Capital Markets segment also includes pro-
prietary activities including investments in real estate and private equity.

The Investment Management business segment (formerly Client

Services) consists of the Private Investment Management and Asset
Management business lines. Private Investment Management generates
customer-flow transactional revenues from high-net-worth clients and
Asset Management generates primarily fee-based revenues from cus-
tomized investment management services for high-net-worth clients, as
well as asset management fees from mutual fund and other institutional
investors. Asset Management also generates management and incentive
fees from our role as general partner for private equity and other alter-
native investment partnerships.

Our business segment information for the years ended November

30,2004,2003 and 2002 is prepared using the following methodologies:

O Revenues and expenses directly associated with each business
segment are included in determining income before taxes.

0O Revenues and expenses not directly associated with specific
business segments are allocated based on the most relevant
measures applicable, including each segment’s revenues, head-
count and other factors.

O Net revenues include allocations of interest revenue and inter-
est expense to securities and other positions in relation to the
cash generated by, or funding requirements of, the underlying
positions.

O Business segment assets include an allocation of indirect cor-
porate assets that have been fully allocated to our segments,

generally based on each segment’s respective headcount figures.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

IN MILLIONS

AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2004
Gross revenues

Interest expense

Net revenues

Depreciation and amo;'tization expense

Other expenses

Income before taxes“";’

Segment assets (billions)

AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2003
Gross revenues

Interest expense

Net revenues

Depreciation and amortization expense

Other expenses ‘

Income before taxes®®

Segment assets (billions)

AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2002
Gross revenues

Interest expense

Net revenues

Depreciation and amortization expense

Other expenses

[ncome before taxes®

Segment assets (billions)

o Before dividends on preferred securities.
@ Excludes the real estate reconfiguration charge of $19 million.

@ Excludes the real estate reconfiguration charge of $77 million.
@)

Net Revenues by Geographic Region
Net revenues are recorded in the geographic region of the location of
the senior coverage banker or investment advisor in the case of
Investment Banking or the Asset Management component of
Investment Management, respectively, or where the position was risk
managed within Capital Markets or the Private Investment
Management component of Investment Management. In addition, cer-
tain revenues associated with domestic products and services that result
from relationships with international clients and customers have been
reclassified as international revenues using an allocation consistent with

our internal reporting.
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Investment Capital Investment
Banking Markets Management Total
| 52,188 $17,336  $1,726  $21,250
- 9,642 32 9,674
o 5:1;8 o —.7‘,69; N '17,76.974” o 4171;,5.'»16-
a1 302 85 428
1,560 4,866 i 17,7178‘5— o 7,611
s 587 $2526  § 424§ 3,537
s 11 $3458  § 103  § 357.2
$ 1,722 $ 14,628 § 937 $ 17,287
- 8,610 30 8,640
1,722 6,018 907 8,647
55 219 41 315
1,266 3,792 661 5,719
$ 401 $ 2,007 $ 205 § 2613
5 14 $ 3017 $ 9.0 $ 3121
§ 1,731 $ 14,225 $ 825 $ 16,781
~ 10,605 21 10,626
1,731 3,620 804 6,155
45 188 25 258
1,276 2,534 588 4,398
$ 410 $ 898 $ 191 $ 1,499
$ 16 $ 2537 $§ 50 $ 2603

NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION

IN MILLIONS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30

Europe
Asia Pacific and other
Total international

Us.

Excludes the real estate reconfiguration charge of $128 million, September 11th related recoveries net gain of $108 million and regulatory settiement charge of $80 million.

2004 2003
§ 2,104 § 1864
1,247 87
3,351 2,739
8,225 5908
$11,576  § 8,647

2002

§ 1,674
612
2,286
3,869

$ 6,155

——— e r——————
——

e




} NOTE 22 QUARTERLY

]

J. . . .
}The following table presents unaudited quarterly results of operations
fifr 2004 and 2003. Certain amounts reflect reclassifications to conform
tu the current period’s presentation. These quarterly results reflect all

normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of management,

INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

‘ necessary for a fair presentation of the results. Revenues and net

income can vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to the nature

| ) .
) of our business activities.

i
I
5 -QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
|
' IN MiLLIONS,
/ EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2004 2003
( QUARTER ENDED Nov. 30 Aug. 31” May 317 Feb. 29 Nov.30  Aug.31 May31 Feb. 28
Total revenues $5,846 $5,051 $6,228 $5,125 $4,254 84,463  $4,470  $4,100
? Interest expense 2,963 2,428_ o 2,302 1,981 1,956 2,116 2,179 2,389
Net revenues 2,883 2,623 2,926 3,144 2298 2347 2291 1711
Non-interest expenses: o T -
Compensation and benefits - i,ZBi h 1,306 1,;57 1,566 1,103 1,174 1,168 873
Non-personnel expenses ) 603 594 - 5v85_ o 527 473 424 418 401
Other real estate reconfiguration charge ) - - i o 19 - - 77 -
Total non-interest expenses o ";,—064‘~~vrﬁi,;66 S 2,042 o 72,.17.15‘\” 1,576 1,598 1,663 1,274
[ncome before taxes and dividends - » T
on trust preferred securities 879 723 7 684_ h 1,(67 722 749 628 437
Provision for income taxes 294 "—'218 __;7; ) 335 - 220 250 173 122
[ Dividends on trust preferred securities - - ) - B —2; ) 21 19 18 14
Net income 585§ 505  $ 609  § 670 481 5 480 5 437 5 301
Net income applicable to common stock $ 566 $ 487 $ 592 § 653 $ 464 % 469 8§ 426§ 290
Earnings per common share
Basic C$207 s179  $214  §237 $182 $192 $17 §120
Diluted __S 1.56 o 73717\”_5‘240‘1- ‘ $ 2.2-17\ $ 171 $ 1.81 $ 1.67 $ 1.15
Weighted-average shares o
Basic 27~3>.-2"ﬂ 272.8 ‘”57‘6.8*7 275.—5— 254.7 243.8 2423 241.8
Diluted 2885 2850 2942 2947 2712 2595 2558 2530
Dividends per common share $ 0.16 $ 0.16 $ 0.16 $ 0.16 $012 §$012 §$012 $012
Book value per common share )
(at period end) $49.32  $48.40  $47.05  $45.45 §44.17  $3795  $3677  $35.03

to February 29, 2004,

™ We adopted FIN 46R effective February 28, 2004, which required us to deconsolidate the trusts that issued the preferred securities, Accordingly, at and subsequent to February 29,
1 2004, Preferred securities subject to mandatery redemption were reclassified to Subordinated indebtedness. Dividends on Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption, which
i were presented as Dividends on trust preferred securities in the Consolidated Statement of income through February 29, 2004, are included in interest expense in periods subsequent
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~
The following table summarizes certain consolidated financial information included in the audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER COMMON SHARE
AND SELECTED DATA AND FINANCIAL RATIOS.
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME o o
Revenues: 7 .
Principal transactions $ 5,699 $ 4272w $ 1951 $ 2,779 $ 3713
Investment banking C 2,188 1,7220 1,7310 1,9250 2,178
Commissions 1,537 1,210 1,286 1,091 944
Interest and dividends 11,032 9,942 11,728 16,470 19,440
Asser management and other 794 141@ 85m 127% 172%
Total revenues © 7 21,250 17,287 16,781 22,392 26,447
Interest expense 9,674 8,640 10,626 15,656 18,740
Net revenues 1,576 8,647 6,155 6,736 7,707
Non-interest expenses: B T
Compensation and benefits 5,730 4,318 3,139 3,437 3,931
Non-personnel expenses 72.,7369~ - 1,716 1,517 1,424 1,197
Other real estate reconfiguration charge T T 77 128 - -
September 11¢h related (recoveries)/expenses, net T ‘_‘: - (108) 127 -
Regulatory settlement - - 80 - -
Total non-interest expenses 3,058 6,111 4,756 4,988 5,128
Income before taxes and dividends on trust preferred securities ) -‘_.5,5;]?8‘ 2,536 1,399 1,748 2,579
Provision for income taxes B 1,125 765 368 437 748
Dividends on trust preferred securities” T T2 72 56 56 56
Net income $ 2,368 8 1,699 $ 975 $ 1,255 $ 1,775
Net income applicable to common stock _Sk },297 o $ 1,649 3 506 $ 1,161 3 1,679
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION (at November 30)
Total assets $357,168 $312,061 $260,336 $247,816 $224,720
Net assets® 7175221 163,182 140,488 141,354 123,246
Long-term debt® " 56,486 43,529 38,678 38,301 35,233
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption T 1,310 710 710 860
Total stockholders’ equity ) 14,020 13,174 8,942 8,459 7,781
Total capital®® 71,406- 58,013 48,330 47,470 43,874
PER COMMON SHARE DATA
Net income (basic) $ 671 $  3.69 $ 477 $  6.89
Net income (diluted) $ 635 $ 347 $ 438 § 638
Weighted average common shares (basic) (in millions) 2457 245.4 2431 2438
Weighted average common shares (diluted) (in millions) 259.9 261.2 265.3 264.2
Dividends declared per common share $ 048 $ 036 § 028 $ 0.22
Book value per common share (at November 30)® $ 4417 § 3415 $ 3181 $ 2878
SELECTED DATA (AT NOVEMBER 30)
Gross leverage® 23.7x 29.1x 29.3x 28.9x
Net leverage® 15.3x 14.9x 15.7x 14.6x
Employees 16,188 12,343 13,090 11,326
Assets under management (in billions)™ $ 1201 $ 8.6 8 117 $ 4.5
FINANCIAL RATIOS (%)
Compensation and benefits/net revenues o 49,5 49.9 51.0 51.0 51.0
Pretax margin T T304 29.3 227 26.0 335
Effective tax rate 320 302 26.3 25.0 29.0
Return on average common stockholders’ equity™® 179 18.2 11.2 159 26.6
Reeturn on average tangible common stockholders’ equity ¢ 24.7 19.2 11.5 16.3 27.2

(1) Retlassified to conform to the 2004 presentation,

(2) We adopted FIN 46R effective February 29, 2004, which required us to
deconsofidate the trusts that issued the preferred securities. Accordingly, at
and subsequent to February 29, 2004, Prefermed securities subject to
mandatory redemption were reclassified to Subordinated indebtedness,
Dividends on Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption, which
were preserted as Dividends on tnust preferred securities in the
Cansalidated Statement of (ncome through February 25, 2004, are
included in nterest expense in periods subsequent to February 29, 2004,

{3) Net assets represents total essets excluding cash and securities
segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes, securities
received as collateral, securities purchased under agreements to resell,
securities borrowed and identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, We
belleve net assets is & mors useful measure than total assets to
fnvestors when comparing companies in the securities industry because
It excludes certain assets consigered to have a low risk profile and
identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. Net assets gs presented is
not necessarity comparablé to similany-titled measures provided by other
campanies because of differant methods of calcutation,

(4) Long-term debt Includes senior notes and subordinated indebtedness,
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{5) Total capita! includes long-term debt {including junior subardinated
debentures) and tota! stockholders’ equity and, at November 30, 2003
and prior year ends, Preferred securities subject to mandatory
redemption. We believe tatal capital is useful to investars 8s a measure
of our financia! strength.

(6) The book value per common share calculation includes amortized
restricted stock units granted under stock award programs, which have
been included in total stackholders' equity.

{7) Gross leverage ratio is defined as total assets divided by total
steckhalders' equity.

(8) Net leverage ratio is defined as net assets (total assets excluding cash
and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purpeses,
securities recelved as collateral, securities purchased ynder agreements to
resell, securities bomowed and identifiable intangible assets and goodwill)
divided by tangible equity capital (stockholders' equity plus junior
subordinated debentures less Identifiable imtangjble assets and goodwill).
See Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Uquidity, Funding and Capital Resources~Batance
Sheet and Financial Leverage for the calculations of net assets and tangble
equity capital. We believe net assets s a more useful measure than total

assets to investors when comparing companies in the securities industry
because it excludes certain assets considered to have a low risk profile and
identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, We befieve tanglble equity capital
1o be a more representative measure of aur equity for purpeses of
calculating net leverage because the junior subordinated debentures are
subordinated and have a maturity at issuance of 49 yesrs and we can defer
interest payments for up to 20 cansecutive quarters if the junior
subardinated debentures are nat in default. In addition, a leading rating
‘agency views these securities as equity capital for purposes of calcuiating
net leverage. Further, we do not view the amount of equity used to support
identifiable intangible assets and goodwiil s available to suppert cur
remaining net assets. Accordingly, we believe net leverage, based an net
assets divided by tangible equity capital, both as defined above, to be &
more meaningful measure of leverage to evaluate companies in the
sequrities industry. These definitions of net assets, tangble equity capital and
net leverage are used by many of our creditors and a leading rating agency.
These measures are nt necessarily comparable to simitarty-titled measures
provided by other companies because of different methods of calculation.
{9} Assets under management at November 30, 2003 have been
restated to include $3.9 billion of discretionary brokerage cash
management assets.

(10) Average common stockhalders' equity in 2003 was appropriately
weighted for the effect of the equity issued in connection with the
Neuberger acquisition on October 31, 2003, Retum on average common
stockholders’ equity is computed by dividing net income applicable to
common stock for the perivd by average common stockhotders' equity.
Average comron stockhaiders' equity for the years ended November
2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was §12.8 blition, $9.1 bittion, $8.1
biftion, 7.3 billlon and $6.3 billion, respectively.

(11} Average tangible common stockholders’ equity in 2003 was
appropriately weighted for the effect of the equity issued in connection
with the Neuberger acquisition on Octaber 31, 2003, Retum on average
tangible common steckholders’ equity is computed by dividing net
income applicable to common stock for the period by average tangibte
common stockholders' equity. Tangible common stockholders” equlty
equals total common stockholders' equity less identifiable intangible
assets and goodwill. Average Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill
for the years ended November 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was
$3.5 biltion, $471 million, $191 miilion, $174 miliian, and $142 miliien,
respectively. Management believes tangible common stockholders’ equity
Is a meaningful measure because it reflects the common stockhalders'
equity deployed in qur businesses,
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! OTHER STOCKHOLDER

Common Stock

I/ ICKER SYMBOL: LEH The common stock of Lehman Brothers
oldings Inc., par value $0.10 per share, is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange and on the Pacific Exchange. As of January 31, 2005, there
Were 276,202,636 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding
d approximately 22,300 holders of record. On January 31, 2005, the
Igst reported sales price of Lehman Brothers’ common stock was $91.19.
Lehman Brothers Holdings currently is authorized to issue up to
00,000,000 shares of common stock. Each holder of common stock is
ntitled to one vote per share for the election of directors and all other
atters to be voted on by stockholders. Holders of common stock may
ot cumnulate their votes in the election of directors. They are entided
o share equally in the dividends that may be declared by the Board of
irectors, after payment of dividends on preferred stock. Upon volun-
ry or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company, holders of common stock will share ratably in the assets
‘femaining after payments to creditors and provision for the preference
pf any preferred stock. There are no preemptive or other subscription
Fights, “poison pills,” conversion rights or redemption or scheduled

gnstallment payment provisions relating to common stock.

Preferred Stock

h_ehman Brothers Holdings currently is authorized to issue up to
138,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $1.00 per share. Lehman
Brothers’ Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of classes or
series of preferred stock from time to time, each with the voting rights,
preferences and other special rights and qualifications, limitations or
restrictions specified by the Board. A series of preferred stock may rank
as senior, equal or subordinate to another series of preferred stock. Each
series of preferred stock will rank prior to the common stock as to div-
idends and distributions of assets.

As of January 31, 2005, Lehman Brothers has issued and out-
standing 848,000 shares of preferred stock in five series (each repre-
sented by depositary shares) with differing rights and privileges. The
outstanding preferred stock does not have voting rights, except in cer-
tain very limited circumstances involving the Company’s failure to pay
dividends thereon and certain matters affecting the specific rights of
the preferred stockholders.

Annual Meeting

Lehman Brothers’ annual meeting of stockholders will be held on
Tuesday, April 5, 2005 at 10:30 a.m. at its global headquarters at 745
Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 10019 in the Allan S. Kaplan
Auditorium on the Concourse Level.

Dividends

Effective January 2005, Lehman Brothers’ Board of Directors increased
the fiscal 2005 dividend rate to $0.80 per comumon share from an annual
dividend rate of $0.64 per share in fiscal 2004. Dividends on the
Company’s common stock are generally payable, following declaration
by the Board of Directors, in February, May, August and November.
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INFORMATION

Registrar and Transfer Agent for Common Stock
Questions regarding dividends, transfer requirements, lost certificates,
changes of address, direct deposit of dividends, the Direct Purchase and

I Dividend Reinvestment Plan, or other inquiries should be directed to:

The Bank of New York
Shareholders Services Department
PO. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, New York 10286-1258

Telephone: (800) 824-5707 (U.S.)
(610) 382-7833 (non-U.S.)
E-mail: shareowner-sves@bankofny.com

Web site: htp://www.stockbny.com

Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Lehman Brothers’ Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan
provides both existing stockholders and first-time investors with an
alternative means of purchasing the Company’s stock. The plan has no
minimum stock ownership requirements for eligibility and enrollment.
Plan participants may reinvest all or a portion of cash dividends and/or
make optional cash purchases up to a maximum of $175,000 per year
without incurring comumissions or service charges. Additional informa-
tion and enrollment forms can be obtained from the Company’s
Transfer Agent listed above.

Annual Report and Form 10K
Lehman Brothers will make available upon request, without charge,
copies of this Annual Report and the 2004 Annual Report on Form
10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comumission. Requests
may be directed to:

Jeffrey A. Welikson, Corporate Secretary
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

399 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10022
Telephone: (212) 526-0858

Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP
5 Times Square
New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 773-3000

Web Site Address
http://wwwlehman.com

Investor Relations

(212) 526-3267

Media Relations
(212) 526-4382

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

THREE MONTHS

ENDED 2004 Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31  Feb. 29
High $85.50 $79.04 $89.72 $88.22
Low §7332 86725 S6950 87050
THREE MONTHS

ENDED 2003 Nov. 30 Aug. 31 May 31  Feb. 28
High $74.95 $76.25 $73.17 $62.15
Low $65.62 $60.02 $50.60 $50.15

Lehman Brothers 2004
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE )

Lehman Brothers continues to be committed to industry best practices
with respect to corporate governance. The corporate governance docu-
ments that have been adopted by the Firm reflect the listing standards
adopted by the NewYork Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
other recent legal and regulatory changes.

The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of ten mem-
bers. The Board of Directors has determined that, with the exception of
Messrs. Fuld and Kaufinan, all of the Company’s directors are inde-
pendent, and the Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance, and
Compensation and Benefits Committees are composed exclusively of
independent directors. The Audit Committee includes a financial expert
as defined in the SEC’s rules.

The Board of Directors holds regularly scheduled executive ses-
sions in which non-management directors meet independently of man-
agement. The Board and the Audit, Nominating and Corporate
Governance, and Compensation and Benefits Committees each con-
duct a self-evaluation at least annually.

The current committees of the Board of Directors and their
members are set forth on page 117. During fiscal 2004, the Board of
Directors held 8 meetings, the Audit Committee held 7 meetings, the
Compensation and Benefits Committee held 8 meetings, the Finance
Committee held 2 meetings and the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee held 5 meetings. Overall director attendance
at Board and committee meetings averaged 99.3%.

The Firm has established an orientation program for new directors
to familiarize them with the Firm's operations, strategic plans, Code of
Ethics, management and independent registered public accounting firm.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines also contem-
plate continuing director education arranged by the Firm. Directors
receive presentations from senior management on different aspects of
the Company’s business and from Finance, Legal, Compliance, Internal
Audit, Risk Management and other disciplines at Board meetings
throughout the year.

Descriptions of the director nomination process, the compensation
received by directors for their service and certain transactions and agree-
ments between the Company and its directors may be found in the
Company’s 2005 Proxy Statement.

The Board of Directors recognizes that legal requirements and
governance practices will continue to evolve, and the Board will con-
tinue to reevaluate its practices in light of these changes.

Corporate Governance Documents and Web Site
The following documents can be found on the Corporate Governance page
of the Company’s Web site at www.lehman.com/shareholder/corpgov:

Corporate Governance Guidelines

O Code of Ethics

O Audit Committee Charter

O Compensation and Benefits Committee Charter

O Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter

Communicating with the Board of Directors
Information on how to contact the non-management members of the
Board of Directors, and how to contact the Audit Committee regarding
complaints about accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters, can be found on the Corporate Governance page of the
Company’s Web site at www.lehman.com/shareholder/corpgov.

Lehman Brothers 2004
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Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. is incorporated under the laws of t el
State of Delaware. Copies of its certificate of incorporation and by-laws
are filed with the SEC as exhibits to the Company’s 2004 Annual Reporf
on Form 10-K. See “Available Information” in the Form 10-K. Aln
L

amendment to the certificate of incorporation requires a majority vote ¢

=3

stockholders, voting together as a single class, unless the amendmery
would affect certain rights of preferred stockholders, in which case thie
consent of two-thirds of such preferred stockholders is required. The by}
laws may be amended or repealed or new by-laws may be adopted by [a
majority vote of stockholders or by a majority of the entire Board af
Directors then in office, provided that notice thereof is contained in the

notice of the meeting of stockholders or of the Board, as the case may bd

Board of Directors and Committees
The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of ten directors!
The number of directors is established from time to time by the Boarg
of Directors, although there must be at least six and not more tharh
twenty-four directors. In addition, under certain circumstances involvt
ing Lehman Brothers’ failure to pay dividends on preferred stock, prey
ferred stockholders may be entitled to elect additional directors.

Directors (other than any that may be elected by preferred stock
holders as described above) are elected by a plurality of the votes cast
There are three classes of directors, divided as evenly as possible, and
each class serves for a three-year term, with the term of one class off
directors expiring each year. A director may be removed only for cause|
by a majority vote of stockholders.

Vacancies in the Board of Directors and newly created director-
ships resulting from an increase in the size of the Board may be filled byl
a majority of the remaining directors, although less than a quorum, or'
by a sole remaining director, and the directors so elected will hold office
until the next annual election for the relevant class. No decrease in the
number of directors constituting the Board will shorten the term of any
incumbent director.

A majority of the entire Board, or of any committee, is necessary
to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the vote of a
majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is
present constitutes the act of the Board or committee. Actions may be
taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or of the com-
mittee consent in writing.

CEO and CFO Certifications
The Company has filed with the SEC as exhibits to its 2004 Annual
Report on Form 10-K the certifications of the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer required under Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)
regarding the Company’s financial statements, disclosure controls and pro-
cedures and other matters. In addition, following its 2004 annual meeting
of stockholders, the Company submitted to the NYSE the annual certi-
fication of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer required under
Section 303A.12(a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, that he was
not aware of any violation by the Company of the NYSE% corporate
governance listing standards.










